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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act.

Yes © No x
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
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The aggregate market value of the registrant's common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30,
2014 (the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter) was approximately
$465.2 million, based upon the closing sale price of such stock on the New York Stock Exchange. For purposes of this
disclosure, shares of

common stock held or controlled by executive officers and directors of the registrant and by persons who hold more
than 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock have been treated as shares held by affiliates. However, such
treatment should not be construed as an admission that any such person is an “affiliate” of the registrant. The registrant
has no non-voting

common equity.

As of February 27, 2015 the number of outstanding shares of the registrant’s common stock, par value $0.00001 per
share, was 61,544,312.
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As noted herein, the information called for by Part III is incorporated by reference to specified portions of the
Registrant's definitive proxy statement to be filed in conjunction with the Registrant's 2015 Annual Meeting of
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward looking statements made pursuant to the provisions of

Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward looking statements are based on management's
current expectations and beliefs, including estimates and projections about our industry. The following discussion and
analysis contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “potentially,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “could,” “would,” “prc
“expect,” and similar expressions that convey uncertainty of future events or outcomes are intended to identify
forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

our ability to maintain an adequate rate of revenue growth;

our business plan and our ability to effectively manage our growth;

costs associated with defending intellectual property infringement and other claims;

our ability to attract and retain end-customers;

our ability to further penetrate our existing customer base;

our ability to displace existing products in established markets;

our ability to expand our leadership position in next-generation application delivery and server load balancing
solutions;

our ability to timely and effectively scale and adapt our existing technology;

our ability to innovate new products and bring them to market in a timely manner;

our ability to expand internationally;

the effects of increased competition in our market and our ability to compete effectively;

the effects of seasonal trends on our results of operations;

our expectations concerning relationships with third parties;

the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel;

our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance our brand and intellectual property; and

future acquisitions of or investments in complementary companies, products, services or technologies.

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including those
described in Item 1A Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate in a
very competitive and rapidly changing environment, and new risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our
management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any
factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the forward-looking
events and circumstances discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ
materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

29 ¢ LR INT3

The forward-looking statements in this report speak only as of the time they are made and do not necessarily reflect
our outlook at any other point in time. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future event, or for any other reason. However, readers should carefully
review the risk factors set forth in other reports or documents we file from time to time with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

As used herein, “A10 Networks,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” and similar terms include A10 Networks, Inc. and its
subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.
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PART L.

BUSINESS
Overview

We are a leading provider of advanced application networking technologies. Our solutions enable enterprises, service
providers, Web giants and government organizations to accelerate, secure and optimize the performance of their data
center applications and networks. Our products are built on our Advanced Core Operating System, or ACOS which is
designed to enable our products to deliver substantially greater performance and security relative to prior generation
application networking products. Our software based ACOS architecture also provides the flexibility that enables us to
expand our business to offer additional products to solve a growing array of networking and security challenges
arising from increased Internet cloud and mobile computing.

We currently offer three software based advanced application networking solutions. These are Application Delivery
Controllers, or ADCs, to optimize data center performance; Carrier Grade Networking products, or CGN, to provide
address and protocol translation services for service provider networks; and a Distributed Denial of Service Threat
Protection System, or TPS, for network-wide security protection. We deliver these solutions both on optimized
hardware appliances and as virtual appliances across our Thunder Series and AX Series product families.

Our ACOS platform architecture is optimized for modern 64-bit computer processors, or CPUs, which increasingly
have multiple parallel processing cores that operate within a single CPU for higher efficiency and performance
scalability. In order to maximize the capabilities of these increasingly dense multi-core CPUs, ACOS implements a
proprietary shared memory architecture that provides all cores with simultaneous access to common memory. This
shared memory architecture enables our products to utilize these multi-core CPUs efficiently and scale performance
with increasing CPU cores. As a result, we believe our ACOS application networking platform enables us to provide
our end-customers with products that can deliver superior price performance benefits over products that lack these
capabilities. ACOS’ high performance design enables our products to address a wide range of today’s
performance-driven networking challenges. For example, we have expanded our products’ capabilities to defend
against the rising volume of large scale, sophisticated cyber security threats, such as Distributed Denial of Service, or
DDoS, and other increasingly sophisticated high volume network attacks. The flexible software design of ACOS
enables our end-customers to deploy our products across a number of new models for Information Technology ("IT")
operations, such as managed hosting of their network by a third party provider and Internet cloud-based applications
and networks.

We sell our products globally to service providers and enterprises that depend on data center applications and
networks to generate revenue and manage operations efficiently. Our high-touch sales force engages directly or
through indirect distribution channels with our end-customers. We believe that a high-touch, customer-focused selling
process is important before, during and after the sale of our products to maximize our sales success. Product
fulfillment is generally done through our original equipment manufacturers or distribution channel partners.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, our total revenue was $120.1 million, $141.7 million and
$179.5 million, representing a compound annual growth rate of approximately 22% from 2012 to 2014. Our total
revenue grew 18% from 2012 to 2013 and 27% from 2013 to 2014. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and
2014, our gross margin was 80%, 76% and 76%. We generated a net loss of $90.2 million, $27.1 million and $34.7
million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014. Our net loss in 2012 and 2013 was affected by the
settlement of, and legal expenses related to, our litigation with Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.

Trends Driving Continued Evolution of Application Networking
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Commercial damage and customer dissatisfaction from poor website, data center application and network performance
can have a lasting negative impact well beyond the expenses related directly to the downtime. To optimize data center
application and network performance and avoid unforeseen downtime, organizations deploy application networking
technology to ensure the performance and security of data center resources. These organizations must simultaneously
address significant networking industry trends such as:

* Increased Adoption of Cloud Computing Applications. As organizations move their business critical applications to
the cloud, they need application networking solutions optimized for cloud computing that can scale with the
performance demands and security expectations of this growth.
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* Increased Network Complexity Due to Virtualization and Software Defined Networking Adoption. Application
networking technologies need to adapt to software-oriented data center architectures, including virtualization and
Software Defined Networking, or SDN.

* Rapid Growth of Internet-Connected Devices and the Exhaustion of the Existing [P Address Space. The rapid growth
of mobile and other Internet-connected devices has overwhelmed the current Internet Protocol addressing scheme,
IPv4. To support this rapid growth of Internet-connected devices, application networking technology will play an
increasingly significant role in managing two Internet connection standards simultaneously, extending the viability of
IPv4 and enabling end-customers to move to the IPv6 standard.

* Increasing Risk from Cyber Security Threats. Cybercriminals, foreign military intelligence organizations and amateur
hackers are targeting the data centers of organizations of every type. Authentication, application security and
encryption are necessary but insufficient defenses against increasingly sophisticated attacks. In one particular cyber
threat, a DDoS attack, the perpetrator attempts to render the target network unavailable for its intended purpose by
orchestrating coordinated attacks from massive worldwide networks of compromised computers, called botnets.

DDoS attacks have become more frequent and sophisticated and can easily overwhelm an inadequately protected
target network. As these and other types of attacks have become more frequent and sophisticated, organizations
increasingly rely on application networking technologies for defense.

* Exponential Growth in Data Center Speeds. Organizations are enhancing the performance of their networks by
increasing the data traffic speeds of their data center networks from the 1 and 10 Gigabit Ethernet rates in use over the
last ten years to 40 Gigabit Ethernet currently and are now evolving to 100 Gigabit Ethernet. Organizations require
high performance application networking technology to ensure data center application and network performance and
security are maintained despite rapidly escalating data rates.

Need for Next-Generation High Performance Application Networking

In order to address these increasingly complex network challenges, a new generation of application-aware networking
solutions is needed in order to look deeply into application content, modify content for performance optimization or
security purposes, and forward the traffic at rapidly escalating network data rates. Next-generation application
networking solutions require:

* Ability to Scale with High Speed Network Traffic. As the number of Internet-connected devices continues to increase
rapidly and the speed of network traffic continues to accelerate, architectural limitations in first-generation application
networking approaches prevent them from responding effectively due to their inability to scale performance
effectively with newer multi-core processor architectures. Next-generation application networking technologies must
be able to analyze application data intelligently as they move through faster networks to take full advantage of the
increasing computing power of modern multi-core processors.

* Platform to Provide Broad Application Extensibility. First-generation approaches to application networking use rigid
system architectures that have been unable to respond effectively to the escalating security threats and the rapidly
changing requirements of modern applications and cloud computing. Next-generation application networking
technology must be flexible and agile to address the increasing array of networking and application challenges.

* Sophisticated Security Functionality. Next-generation application networking technology should be capable of
detecting and mitigating the effects of large-scale, sophisticated cyber security threats such as DDoS and other attacks
at the application level of the network. In order to defend against the rising volume of these sophisticated
cyber-attacks, which circumvent conventional network based security solutions, application networking solutions
must have exceptional application content, inspection capabilities and processing speeds.
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* Ability to Accommodate a Variety of IT Delivery Models. Enterprises are increasingly handling their information
technology needs in a variety of ways, including operating their own conventional dedicated data centers, and
outsourcing to managed IT hosting providers of cloud-based applications to multiple clients often known as
Infrastructure-as-a-Service. Some application networking vendors offer products for only a subset of these IT delivery
models, or provide inconsistent features and management across these products, which is unacceptable to customers
using multiple IT delivery models. Organizations need consistent application networking features and functionality
regardless of which IT model, or combination of models they use, and regardless of whether their networks are in
virtual or physical forms.
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* Predictable Operational Performance. As data center traffic grows, first-generation approaches have limitations that
can cause unpredictable performance that cannot consistently meet expected service levels. Next-generation
application networking needs to deliver appropriate levels of service at ever-increasing data traffic rates.

Technology
Our Advanced Core Operating System Platform

ACOS Scalable Symmetrical Multi Processing Platform. ACOS is a scalable, flexible and agile software based
platform for next-generation application networking. Our proprietary ACOS 64-bit shared memory architecture is
critical for current and future performance and scalability requirements. Because ACOS is software based, we can use
merchant silicon and industry standard x86 processors to increase our product development velocity, decrease our
product development costs, and expand into new product markets. All of our products are built on our ACOS platform
and leverage its performance optimization and security services.

ACOS is a symmetric multiprocessing operating system that was built from the ground up to leverage industry trends
toward higher density, multi-core processor architectures.

* High Performance and Intelligent Network I/O Processing. In order to maximize the efficiency of high density,
multi-core processors, we have developed a high performance intelligent network I/O technology that can balance
application traffic flows equitably across processor cores. Our Flexible Traffic Accelerator logic can be implemented
either as software running within a standard x86 processor or a Field Programmable Gate Array, or FPGA,
semiconductor. Our Flexible Traffic Accelerator also performs certain hardware-based security checks for each packet
and can discard suspicious traffic before it can impact system performance.

* Scalable and Efficient Memory Usage. To improve the performance of our multi-core processor architecture, we have
developed a shared memory technology to allow all processors to share common memory and the state of the system
simultaneously. As a result, we avoid the overhead associated with Inter-Processor Communication architectures
deployed in first-generation approaches. We optimize memory to be visible to all cores simultaneously, while
minimizing communication overhead and contention among processors for allocated memory space. Since all
processors share a common memory pool, we can dynamically allocate memory space based upon the application
processing requirements without constraints. Because configurations, policies and network databases are efficiently
stored within a shared memory architecture, we can achieve greater performance and scalability from memory and
processor resources.

* Optimized Application Networking. Once data has been processed and placed into a shared memory, then a processor
can begin to apply ACOS common services and function-specific logic. To ensure that every processor can be utilized
to perform every function, and thereby achieve greater system utilization, we have designed ACOS to use all

processor cores symmetrically for all functions and services. The ACOS common services perform a set of key

5
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operational functions, including configuration management, network 1/O, aFleX scripting, Virtual Chassis System, or
aVCSs, aXAPI for management integration, Application Delivery Partitions, or ADP, virtualization to enable
multi-tenancy, and common resource management such as buffer, system memory, timer management and other
internal system management tasks. ACOS features a modular software design, which improves reliability by ensuring
that modifications made to one module will not have unwanted side-effects on other system functions.

Other ACOS Technologies. ACOS incorporates a number of other technologies to provide a rich environment for
developing Layer 4-7 application networking solutions, including:

* aFleX Scripting. aFleX scripting technology is based on industry-standard Tool Command Language and enables
end-customers to write custom scripts to augment the application processing.

* ADP. ADP enables multi-tenancy in the ACOS common services so that multiple departments of an organization or
multiple end-customers can share a physical/virtual appliance.

* aVCS. aVCS enables multiple physical/virtual appliances to be managed as a single chassis.

* aXAPI aXAPI is an industry standard RESTful program interface to enable management integration for achieving
automated management.

Our Products

We offer our end-customers a portfolio of software based solutions that are built upon ACOS. Our premium Thunder
Series product family, launched in the second quarter of 2013, has three solutions to address end-customer needs,
including ADC to optimize data center performance, CGN to provide network address and protocol translation
services for service provider networks, and TPS for network-wide security protection. Our AX Series is our original
product family that was launched in 2007 and includes ADC and CGN solutions.

Application Networking Solutions

We currently offer three software based solutions that are built on top of our software based ACOS application
networking platform and are delivered primarily on our optimized hardware appliances:

Application Delivery Controller. Our ADC solution provides advanced server load balancing, including global server
load balancing, high availability, aFleX scripting, aVCS, ADP virtualization delivery for multi-tenancy, Secure
Sockets Layer, or SSL, acceleration, SSL intercept, caching and compression, web application firewall, domain name
server application firewall and others. ADC solutions are typically deployed in front of a server farm within a data
center, including web, application and database servers.

Carrier Grade Network Address Translation. Our CGN solution extends the life of increasingly scarce IPv4 address
blocks and their associated infrastructure, and provides migration solutions to the IPv6 addressing standard. Our CGN
solution is typically deployed in service provider networks to provide standards-compliant address and protocol
translation services between varying types of IP addresses.

Threat Protection System. Our TPS solution provides high volume, large scale detection and mitigation services to
ensure that networks and server resources remain available even throughout a massive DDoS attack. TPS solutions are
typically deployed at the perimeter of customer networks to protect their internal network resources from large-scale,
volumetric cyber attacks, protocol attacks and resource attacks from distributed networks of compromised machines,
or botnets.
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With the release of our ACOS 4.0 software version we now have the ability to operate ADC and CGN solutions on the
same platform, resulting in operational benefits for us and our customers. Our ACOS 4.0 release represents the most
significant enhancement to our operating system since the introduction of the 64-bit ACOS release in 2009. The
ACOS 4.0 enhanced feature set includes programmability, policy engine and telemetry support for our A10 Harmony
architecture, an architecture that lays the foundation of a rapid services integration platform for enterprise, cloud, and
service provider networks. An example is our Thunder Series integration and certification with Cisco Application
Centric Architecture (ACI) for agile deployment and management of our advanced L4-7 services.

12



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

Product Families

We deliver these solutions as both physical and virtual appliances across our Thunder Series and AX Series product
families.

Thunder Series. Our ADC, CGN and TPS solutions are available on our Thunder Series product family, including a
range of physical appliances with throughput ranges from 5 gigabits per second, or Gbps, to 155 Gbps and a variety of
other security and performance options available, as listed in the table below. Our vThunder virtual appliances operate
on all major hypervisor platforms, including VMware, Microsoft, Citrix Xen and Linux KVM. Our vThunder virtual
appliance is also available from cloud IaaS providers, including Amazon Web Services (AWS), and service providers
offering our Pay-as-you-Go Licensing model.

AX Series. Our ADC and CGN solutions are available on our AX Series product family, including a range of physical
appliances with throughput ranges from 7.5 Gbps to 115 Gbps and a variety of other security and performance options
available.

Centralized Management Solution

Our aGalaxy multi-device network management solution enables a network administrator to manage multiple A10
devices. While full control of our appliances can be achieved effectively out-of-the-box, the benefit of central and
automated management increases as more appliances are added. The user interface provides a quick, at-a-glance view
of status using a standard web browser. aGalaxy is designed to provide lower operational costs, as staff are freed up
from repetitive tasks, while also increasing precision and accuracy with centralized and automated tasks, reducing the
potential for human error.

Support and Services

One of our founding principles is to provide superior customer and technical support. Our global support team is part
of our engineering organization and is trained across all products and solutions. Our support team takes complete
ownership of customer issues from the beginning to the end to achieve rapid response and a high quality resolution.
We believe that our ability to provide consistent, high-quality customer service and technical support is a key factor in
attracting and retaining end-customers of all sizes. Accordingly, we offer a broad range of support services that
include installation, phone support, repair and replacement, software updates, online tools, consulting and training
services.

All customers receive warranty support for 90 days and greater than 95% of our end-customers purchase one of our
maintenance products which entitles them to the support provided by our global support team. We offer a variety of
support offerings, primarily two maintenance product options — Basic Support and Gold Support. The average
maintenance contract term is 18 months. We invoice our channel partners or end-customers directly for maintenance
contracts, in advance, at the time of hardware purchase. We generally provide discounts to our end-customers when
they commit to longer term contracts. All our maintenance contracts are non-cancellable and are renewed through the
same channel as originally purchased. Updates of our software are provided to all end-customers with a current
maintenance contract on a when-and-if-available basis. Additionally, we provide on-site technical support as part of
certain maintenance contracts. We maintain technical support centers in the United States, Japan, China and the
Netherlands.

We have a professional services team able to provide a full range of fee-based consulting services, including pre-sale

network assessment, comprehensive network analysis and capacity planning, post-sale migration and implementation
services, on-site installation and on-going support.
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Customers

We target organizations globally that depend on data center applications and networks to generate revenue and
manage operations efficiently. Our end-customers operate in a variety of industries including telecommunications,
technology, industrial, retail, financial and education. Since inception, our customer base has grown rapidly. As of
December 31, 2014, we had sold our products to more than 3,900 customers across 71 countries. Our end-customers
include three of the top four United States wireless carriers, seven of the top ten United States cable providers, and the
top three wireless carriers in Japan, in addition to other global enterprises, Web giants and governmental
organizations. Our business is geographically diversified with 48% of our total revenue from the United States, 26%
from Japan and 26% from other geographic regions for the year ended December 31, 2014. During the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, purchases from our ten largest end-customers accounted for approximately 49%,
43% and 37% of our total revenue.
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Two end-customers, NTT DoCoMo, Inc., a Japanese wireless provider, and Microsoft Corp., an enterprise customer,
both purchasing through resellers, accounted for 13% and 10% of net revenue in the year ended December 31, 2013;
no other end-customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue during the periods presented.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had product backlog of approximately $4.0 million and $12.0 million.
Backlog represents orders confirmed with a purchase order for products to be shipped generally within 90 days to
customers with approved credit status. Orders are subject to cancellation, rescheduling by customers and product
specification changes by customers. Although we believe that the backlog orders are firm, purchase orders may be
canceled by the customer prior to shipment without significant penalty. For this reason, we believe that our product
backlog at any given date is not a reliable indicator of future revenues.

Sales and Marketing

Sales. We sell our products globally to service providers and enterprises that depend on networks and data centers to
generate revenue and manage operations efficiently. Our high-touch sales force engages directly or through indirect
distribution channels with service providers and enterprises. Depending on size, geography, and complexity, some
end-customer sales are originated and completed by our OEM and distribution channel partners with little or no direct
engagement with our sales personnel. We fulfill nearly all orders globally through our distribution channel partners,
which include distributors, value added resellers and system integrators.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, 85% of our revenue was generated through our distribution channel partners.
In 2014, one distribution channel partner, Itochu Techno Solutions Corporation accounted for 13% of our total
revenue. In 2013, two distribution channel partners, NEC Corporation and Adaptive Integration, accounted for 15%
and 10% of our total revenue. In 2012, revenues from NEC Corporation accounted for 34% of our total revenue. We
also work closely with OEM partners. We believe that our high-touch sales organization is unique given our deep
focus on technology competence and partnership with our end-customers’ network engineers and architects. We
believe this sales approach allows us to leverage the benefits of the channel, such as expanding our market coverage,
as well as maintain face-to-face relationships with our end-customers.

Our sales team is comprised of inside sales and field sales personnel who are organized by geography and maintain
sales presence in 30 countries, including in the following countries and regions: United States, Western Europe, the
Middle East, Japan, China, Taiwan, South Korea and Latin America. Our sales organization also includes sales
engineers with deep technical domain expertise who are responsible for pre-sales technical support, solutions
engineering for our end-customers, proof of concept work and technical training for our distribution channel partners.
Our sales team is also comprised of a channel sales organization that is expanding our market reach through partners.
We expect to continue to grow our sales headcount, including in geographies where we currently do not have a sales
presence.

Marketing. Our marketing strategy is focused on building our brand and driving end-customer demand for our
application networking products and services through channel marketing, direct marketing and corporate
communications campaigns. Marketing activities include product and solution launches, demand generation,
advertising, Website development, trade shows and conferences. We are also actively engaged in driving global
thought leadership through industry analyst engagement, media outreach, blogs and social media, and speaking
events.

Manufacturing
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We outsource the manufacturing of our hardware products to original design manufacturers. This approach allows us
to benefit from the scale and experience of our manufacturing partners to reduce our costs, overhead and inventory
while allowing us to adjust more quickly to changing end-customer demand. Our manufacturers are Lanner
Electronics Inc., or Lanner, and AEWIN Technologies Co., Ltd., or AEWIN. These companies manufacture and
assemble our hardware products using design specifications, quality assurance programs and standards that we
establish. Our manufacturers procure components and assemble our products based on our demand forecasts and
purchase orders. These forecasts represent our estimates of future demand for our products based upon historical
trends and analysis from our sales and product management functions as adjusted for overall market conditions. The
component parts incorporated into our products are sourced either by our manufacturing partners or directly by us.
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We have agreements with both Lanner and AEWIN pursuant to which they manufacture, assemble, and test our
products. The Lanner agreement has an initial one year term and the AEWIN agreement has an initial term of six
years. Each agreement automatically renews for successive one-year terms unless either party gives notice that they do
not want to renew the agreement. We do not have any long-term manufacturing contracts that guarantee us any fixed
capacity or pricing. We perform quality assurance and testing at our San Jose, Taiwan and Japan distribution centers,
as well as at our manufacturers’ locations. We warehouse and deliver our products out of our San Jose warehouse. We
also outsource warehousing and delivery to a third-party logistics provider in some regions.

Research and Development

Our research and development effort is focused on developing new products and on enhancing and improving our
existing products, leveraging our ACOS platform. Our engineering team works closely with end-customers and
technology partners to identify future needs. A majority of our research and development team is focused on software
development, with substantial experience in networking, network management, application delivery, performance
optimization, security, software quality engineering and automation.

We believe that innovation and timely development of new features and products is essential to meeting the needs of
our end-customer and improving our competitive position. We supplement our own research and development effort

with open source technologies and technologies that we license from third parties. We test our products thoroughly to
certify and ensure interoperability with third-party hardware and software products.

Our engineering teams are located mainly in our headquarters in San Jose, California, Beijing, China and Taipei,
Taiwan. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 our research and development expenses were $25.5
million, $33.3 million and $49.9 million, representing 21%, 24% and 28% of our total revenue.

Competition

We operate in the intensely competitive application networking market that is characterized by constant change and
innovation. Changes in application delivery needs, cyber security threats, and the technology landscape result in
evolving customer requirements to address application performance and security. In addition to server load-balancing
and other functions normally associated with application delivery, our solutions have expanded our addressable
market into DDoS production and CGN, where we compete with a number of companies not included among
traditional ADC vendors. The agility and flexibility of the ACOS platform enables us to rapidly innovate and deploy
solutions into adjacent markets to ADC. As a result, we believe the traditional definitions of our market do not
encompass all of the features, functions and capabilities of our solutions, or accurately represent the addressable
market.

The ADC, CGN and TPS markets are characterized by a set of identifiable participants. We do not consider any of
these markets to include a single dominant company, nor do we consider the markets to be fragmented.

We believe that our main competitors fall into three categories:

* Companies that sell products in the traditional ADC market which includes companies that are well established in this
market, such as F5 Networks, Inc., Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., Citrix Systems, Inc., and Radware Ltd.

* Companies that sell CGN products, products originally designed for other networking purposes, such as edge routers

and security appliances from vendors such as Alcatel-Lucent USA Inc., Cisco Systems, Inc. and Juniper Networks,
Inc.
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* Companies that sell traditional TPS mitigation products. We are a new entrant into the DDoS market and first
publicly launched our DDoS detection and mitigation solution, TPS, in January 2014. We believe our principle

competitors in this market are Arbor Networks, Inc., a subsidiary of NetScout Systems, Inc., and Radware, Ltd.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our markets include:
* Ability to innovate and respond to customer needs rapidly;

* Breadth and depth of product features and functionality;

18



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

¢ Level of customer satisfaction;

* Price performance and efficiency;

* Ability for products to scale with high speed network traffic;

* Flexible and agile design of products;

* Ability to detect and mitigate large-scale cyber security threats;

* Ability to accommodate any IT delivery model or combination of models, regardless of form factor;
* Brand awareness and reputation; and

» Strength of sales and marketing efforts

We compete primarily based on the quality and price of our products, the rich and comprehensive features and
functionalities offered by our platform, our differentiated customer support offerings and our close and ongoing
relationship with our end-customers. However, many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical
and other resources, greater name recognition, larger sales and marketing budgets, broader distribution, and larger and
more mature intellectual property portfolios.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, and restrictions on disclosure to
protect our intellectual property rights. As of December 31, 2014, we had 42 issued United States patents and 58 U.S.
patent applications pending, and 85 patents or patent applications pending overseas. Our issued U.S. patents,
excluding an older set of 14 patents that we acquired, expire between 2026 and 2032. Our future success depends in
part on our ability to protect our proprietary rights to the technologies used in our principal products. Despite our
efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain
and use trade secrets or other information that we regard as proprietary. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries
do not protect our proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the United States. Any issued patent may not preserve
our proprietary position, and competitors or others may develop technologies similar to or superior to our technology.
Our failure to enforce and protect our intellectual property rights could harm our business, operating results and
financial condition.

We license software from third parties for development of or integration into our products, including proprietary and
open source software. We pursue registration of our trademarks and domain names in the United States and other
jurisdictions. See Part-I, Item 1A. Risk Factors included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014 for additional information regarding the risks associated with protecting our intellectual property.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 704 full-time employees, including 251 engaged in research and development and
customer support, 306 in sales and marketing and 58 in general and administrative and other activities. None of our
employees is represented by a labor union or is a party to any collective bargaining arrangement in connection with

his or her employment with us. We have never experienced any work stoppages, and we consider our relations with
our employees to be good.

Corporate Information

19



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

A10 Networks, Inc. was incorporated in the State of California in 2004 and subsequently reincorporated in the State of
Delaware in March 2014. Our website is located at www.A 10networks.com, and our investor relations website is
located at http://investors.A10networks.com. The contents of our website are not intended to be incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.
The following filings are available through our investor relations website after we file them with the SEC: Annual
Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, as well as any amendments
to such reports and all other filings pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Act. These filings are also
available for download free of charge on our investor relations website. Additionally, copies of materials filed by us
with the SEC may be accessed at the SEC's Public Reference Room at

10
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100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 or at www.sec.gov. For information about the SEC's Public Reference
Room, contact 1-800-SEC-0330.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information contained in this report, and in our other
public filings. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors
that affect us. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects
could be materially harmed. In that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline, perhaps significantly.

If we do not successfully anticipate market needs and opportunities or if the market does not continue to adopt our
application networking products, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be significantly
harmed.

The application networking market is rapidly evolving and difficult to predict. Technologies, customer requirements,
security threats and industry standards are constantly changing. As a result, we must anticipate future market needs
and opportunities and then develop new products or enhancements to our current products that are designed to address
those needs and opportunities, and we may not be successful in doing so.

Even if we are able to anticipate, develop and commercially introduce new products and enhancements that address
the market’s needs and opportunities, there can be no assurance that new products or enhancements will achieve
widespread market acceptance. For example, organizations that use other conventional or first-generation application
networking products for their needs may believe that these products are sufficient. In addition, as we launch new
product offerings, organizations may not believe that such new product offerings offer any additional benefits as
compared to the existing application networking products that they currently use. Accordingly, organizations may
continue allocating their I'T budgets for existing application networking products and may not adopt our products,
regardless of whether our products can offer superior performance or security.

If we fail to anticipate market needs and opportunities or if the market does not continue to adopt our application
networking products, then market acceptance and sales of our current and future application networking products
could be substantially decreased or delayed, we could lose customers, and our revenue may not grow or may decline.
Any of such events would significantly harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our success depends on our timely development of new products and features to address rapid technological changes
and evolving customer requirements. If we are unable to timely develop new products and features that adequately
address these changes and requirements, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

Changes in application software technologies, data center and communications hardware, networking software and
operating systems, and industry standards, as well as our end-customers’ continuing business growth, result in evolving
application networking needs and requirements. Our continued success depends on our ability to identify and develop
in a timely manner new products and new features for our existing products that meet these needs and requirements.

Our future plans include significant investments in research and development and related product opportunities.
Developing our products and related enhancements is time-consuming and expensive. We have made significant
investments in our research and development team in order to address these product development needs. Our
investments in research and development may not result in significant design and performance improvements or
marketable products or features, or may result in products that are more expensive than anticipated. We may take
longer to generate revenue, or generate less revenue, than we anticipate from our new products and product
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enhancements. We believe that we must continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to our research and
development efforts to maintain our competitive position.

If we are unable to develop new products and features to address technological changes and new customer
requirements in the application networking market or if our investments in research and development do not yield the
expected benefits in a timely manner, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

We have experienced net losses in recent periods, anticipate increasing our operating expenses in the future and may
not achieve or maintain profitability in the future. If we cannot achieve or maintain profitability, our financial

performance will be harmed and our business may suffer.

11
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We experienced net losses for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014. Although we experienced revenue
growth over these same periods and had achieved profitability in prior year periods, we may not be able to sustain or
increase our revenue growth or achieve profitability in the future or on a consistent basis. During 2013 and 2014, we
have invested in our sales, marketing and research and development teams in order to develop, market and sell our
products. We expect to continue to invest significantly in these areas in the future. As a result of these increased
expenditures, we will have to generate and sustain increased revenue, manage our cost structure and avoid significant
liabilities to achieve future profitability. In particular, in 2012, 2013 and 2014, we incurred substantial expenses
associated with defending ourselves in separate litigation matters involving Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
and Radware Ltd. (both settled) and in our settlement of the Brocade litigation. As a public company, we will also
incur significant accounting, legal and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.

Revenue growth may slow or decline, and we may incur significant losses in the future for a number of possible
reasons, including our inability to develop products that achieve market acceptance, general economic conditions,
increasing competition, decreased growth in the markets in which we operate, or our failure for any reason to
capitalize on growth opportunities. Additionally, we may encounter unforeseen operating expenses, difficulties,
complications, delays and other unknown factors that may result in losses in future periods. If these losses exceed our
expectations or our revenue growth expectations are not met in future periods, our financial performance will be
harmed and our stock price could be volatile or decline.

Our operating results are likely to vary significantly from period to period and may be unpredictable, which could
cause the trading price of our common stock to decline.

Our operating results — in particular, revenue, margins and operating expenses — have fluctuated in the past, and we
expect this will continue, which makes it difficult for us to predict our future operating results. The timing and size of
sales of our products are highly variable and difficult to predict and can result in significant fluctuations in our
revenue from period to period. This is particularly true of sales to our largest end-customers, such as service providers,
Web giants and governmental organizations, who typically make large and concentrated purchases and for whom
close or sales cycles can be long, as a result of their complex networks and data centers, as well as requests that may
be made for customized features. Our quarterly results may vary significantly based on when these large
end-customers place orders with us and the content of their orders. For example, during the three months ended
September 30, 2014, we experienced a decline in our revenues primarily due to longer than expected close or sales
cycles for certain large deals and lower North America service provider spending as compared to the same period in
2013, which may have contributed to a dramatic decline in our stock price. We anticipate a possible slowdown in
spending from North America service providers, which may lead to continued near term fluctuation in our products
revenue and total revenue.

Our operating results may also fluctuate due to a number of other factors, many of which are outside of our control
and may be difficult to predict. In addition to other risks listed in this “Risk Factors” section, factors that may affect our
operating results include:
fluctuations in and timing of purchases from, or loss of, large customers;
the budgeting cycles and purchasing practices of end-customers;
our ability to attract and retain new end-customers;
changes in demand for our products and services, including seasonal variations in customer spending patterns or

cyclical fluctuations in our markets;
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our reliance on shipments at the end of our quarters;
variations in product mix or geographic locations of our sales, which can affect the revenue we realize for those sales;
the timing and success of new product and service introductions by us or our competitors;

our ability to increase the size of our distribution channel and to maintain relationships with important distribution
channel partners;

12
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the effect of currency exchange rates on our revenue and expenses;

the cost and potential outcomes of existing and future litigation;

the effect of discounts negotiated by our largest end-customers for sales or pricing pressure from our competitors;
changes in the growth rate of the application networking market or changes in market needs;

inventory write downs, which may be necessary for our older products when our new products are launched and
adopted by our end-customers; and

our third-party manufacturers” and component suppliers’ capacity to meet our product demand forecasts on a timely
basis, or at all.

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some of these factors may result in significant fluctuations in
our financial and other operating results. This variability and unpredictability could result in our failure to meet our or
our investors’ or securities analysts’ revenue, margin or other operating results expectations for a particular period,
resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common stock.

Reliance on shipments at the end of the quarter could cause our revenue for the applicable period to fall below
expected levels.

As a result of end-customer buying patterns and the efforts of our sales force and distribution channel partners to meet
or exceed their sales objectives, we have historically received a substantial portion of purchase orders and generated a
substantial portion of revenue during the last few weeks of each quarter. We can recognize such revenue in the quarter
received, however, only if all of the requirements of revenue recognition, especially shipment, are met by the end of
the quarter. In addition, any significant interruption in our information technology systems, which manage critical
functions such as order processing, revenue recognition, financial forecasts, inventory and supply chain management,
could result in delayed order fulfillment and thus decreased revenue for that quarter. If expected revenue at the end of
any quarter is delayed for any reason, including the failure of anticipated purchase orders to materialize, our
third-party manufacturers’ inability to manufacture and ship products prior to quarter-end to fulfill purchase orders
received near the end of the quarter, our failure to manage inventory to meet demand, our inability to release new
products on schedule, any failure of our systems related to order review and processing, or any delays in shipments or
achieving specified acceptance criteria, our revenue for that quarter could fall below our, or our investors’ or securities
analysts’ expectations, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common stock.

A limited number of our end-customers, including service providers, make large and concentrated purchases that
comprise a significant portion of our revenue. Any loss or delay of expected purchases by our largest end-customers
could adversely affect our operating results.

As a result of the nature of our target market and the current stage of our development, a substantial portion of our
revenue in any period comes from a limited number of large end-customers, including service providers. For example,
NTT DoCoMo, Inc., through a reseller, accounted for approximately 32% of our total revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2012, approximately 13% of our total revenue during the year ended December 31, 2013 and 7% of our
total revenue during 2014. In addition, during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, purchases from
our ten largest end-customers accounted for approximately 49%, 43% and 37% of our total revenue. The composition
of the group of these ten largest end-customers changes from period to period, but often includes service providers,
who accounted for approximately 53%, 47% and 46% of our total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2013, and 2014.
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Sales to these large end-customers have typically been characterized by large but irregular purchases with long initial
sales cycles. After initial deployment, subsequent purchases of our products typically have a more compressed sales
cycle. The timing of these purchases and of the requested delivery of the purchased product is difficult to predict. As a
consequence, any acceleration or delay in anticipated product purchases by or requested deliveries to our largest
end-customers could materially affect our revenue and operating results in any quarter and cause our quarterly revenue
and operating results to fluctuate from quarter to quarter.

We cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to sustain or increase our revenue from our largest
end-customers nor that we will be able to offset any absence of significant purchases by our largest end-customers in

any particular
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period with purchases by new or existing end-customers in that or a subsequent period. We expect that sales of our
products to a limited number of end-customers will continue to contribute materially to our revenue for the
foreseeable future. The loss of, or a significant delay or reduction in purchases by, a small number of end-customers
could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

We have been and are a party to litigation and claims regarding intellectual property rights, resolution of which has
been and may in the future be time-consuming, expensive and adverse to us, as well as require a significant amount of
resources to prosecute, defend, or make our products non-infringing.

Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and by increasingly frequent claims and
related litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of patent and other intellectual property
rights. In the ordinary course of our business, we have been and are involved in disputes and licensing discussions
with others regarding their patents and other claimed intellectual property and proprietary rights. Intellectual property
infringement and misappropriation lawsuits and other claims are subject to inherent uncertainties due to the
complexity of the technical and legal issues involved, and we cannot be certain that we will be successful in defending
ourselves against such claims or in concluding licenses on reasonable terms or at all.

We currently have fewer issued patents than some of our major competitors, and therefore may not be able to utilize
our patent portfolio effectively to assert defenses or counterclaims in response to patent infringement claims or
litigation brought against us by third parties. Further, litigation may involve patent holding companies or other adverse
patent owners that have no relevant products revenue and against which our potential patents may provide little or no
deterrence. In addition, many potential litigants have the capability to dedicate substantially greater resources than we
can to enforce their intellectual property rights and to defend claims that may be brought against them. We expect that
infringement claims may increase as the numbers of product types and the number of competitors in our market
increases. Also, to the extent we gain greater visibility, market exposure and competitive success, we face a higher
risk of being the subject of intellectual property infringement claims.

If we are found in the future to infringe the proprietary rights of others, or if we otherwise settle such claims, we could
be compelled to pay damages or royalties and either obtain a license to those intellectual property rights or alter our
products such that they no longer infringe. Any license could be very expensive to obtain or may not be available at
all. Similarly, changing our products or processes to avoid infringing the rights of others may be costly,
time-consuming or impractical. Alternatively, we could also become subject to an injunction or other court order that
could prevent us from offering our products. Any of these claims, regardless of their merit, may be time-consuming,
result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel, or require us to cease using infringing
technology, develop non-infringing technology or enter into royalty or licensing agreements.

Many of our commercial agreements require us to indemnify our end-customers, distributors and resellers for certain
third-party intellectual property infringement actions related to our technology, which may require us to defend or
otherwise become involved in such infringement claims, and we could incur liabilities in excess of the amounts we
have received for the relevant products and/or services from our end-customers, distributors or resellers. These types
of claims could harm our relationships with our end-customers, distributors and resellers, may deter future
end-customers from purchasing our products or could expose us to litigation for these claims. Even if we are not a
party to any litigation between an end-customer, distributor or reseller, on the one hand, and a third party, on the other
hand, an adverse outcome in any such litigation could make it more difficult for us to defend our intellectual property
rights in any subsequent litigation in which we are a named party.

We have in the past been involved in two intellectual property litigation matters with F5 Networks, Inc., one with
Allegro Software Development, Inc., one with Brocade and one with Radware, all of which have since settled. As part
of the settlement with Brocade, we made a significant cash payment to Brocade, granted a license to Brocade to use
all of our issued, pending and future patents, and received and granted certain covenants not to sue. We are currently
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party to one intellectual property litigation matter. In November 2013, Parallel Networks, LLC, which we believe is a
patent holding company, filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware
alleging that our AX and Thunder series products infringe two of their patents. Parallel is seeking injunctive relief,
damages and costs. While we intend to defend ourselves vigorously against the allegations in this lawsuit, this
litigation matter, regardless of the outcome, could result in significant costs and diversion of our management’s efforts.

14
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We may face risks related to securities litigation that could result in significant legal expenses and settlement or
damage awards.

We are currently and may in the future become subject to claims and litigation alleging violations of securities laws or
other related claims, which could harm our business, divert management attention and require us to incur significant
costs. For example, in January 2015, a class action lawsuit was filed against us, our Board of Directors, our Chief
Financial Officer and the underwriters of our initial public offering alleging violations of the Securities Act of 1933.
This lawsuit seeks unspecified compensatory damages and other relief. We are generally obliged, to the extent
permitted by law, to indemnify our current and former directors and officers who are named as defendants in these
types of lawsuits. We also have certain contractual obligations to the underwriters regarding this lawsuit. While a
certain amount of insurance coverage is available for expenses or losses associated with this lawsuit, this coverage
may not be sufficient. Based on information currently available, we are unable to reasonably estimate a possible loss
or range of possible loss, if any, with regards to this lawsuit; therefore, no litigation reserve has been recorded in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Although we plan to defend against this lawsuit vigorously, there can be
no assurances that a favorable final outcome will be obtained. This lawsuit or future litigation may require significant
attention from management and could result in significant legal expenses, settlement costs or damage awards that
could have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, and if we are unable to do so, our competitive
position could be harmed, or we could be required to incur significant expenses to enforce our rights.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, and contractual restrictions on
disclosure of confidential and proprietary information, to protect our intellectual property. Despite the efforts we take
to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, these efforts may not be sufficient or effective at
preventing their unauthorized use. In addition, effective trademark, patent, copyright and trade secret protection may
not be available or cost-effective in every country in which we have rights. There may be instances where we are not
able to protect intellectual property or other proprietary rights in a manner that maximizes competitive advantage. If
we are unable to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights from unauthorized use, the value of
those assets may be reduced, which could negatively impact our business.

We also rely in part on confidentiality and/or assignment agreements with our technology partners, employees,
consultants, advisors and others. We did not, however, obtain general employee confidentiality and assignment
agreements from certain former employees who worked with us prior to July 2010, although we did receive specific
assignments from each of these employees who was an inventor of any technologies that we patented. These
protections and agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of our confidential information and may not
provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure. In addition, others may independently discover
our trade secrets and intellectual property information we thought to be proprietary, and in these cases we would not
be able to assert any trade secret rights against those parties. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property,
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our intellectual property or technology.
Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and expensive. We have not made such
monitoring a priority to date and will not likely make this a priority in the future. We cannot be certain that the steps
we have taken or will take will prevent misappropriation of our technology, particularly in foreign countries where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as in the United States.

If we fail to protect our intellectual property adequately, our competitors might gain access to our technology, and our
business might be harmed. In addition, even if we protect our intellectual property, we may need to license it to
competitors, which could also be harmful. For example, we have already licensed all of our issued patents, pending
applications, and future patents and patent applications that we may acquire, obtain, apply for or have a right to
license to Brocade until May 2025, for the life of each such patent. In addition, we might incur significant expenses in
defending our intellectual property rights. Any of our patents, copyrights, trademarks or other intellectual property
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rights could be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative process or litigation.

We may in the future initiate claims or litigation against third parties for infringement of our proprietary rights or to
establish the validity of our proprietary rights. Any litigation, whether or not resolved in our favor, could result in
significant expense to us and divert the efforts of our management and technical personnel, as well as cause other
claims to be made against us, which might adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

In addition, on March 20, 2014, we received a letter from an attorney on behalf of an individual who claims that he is
entitled to between 1.6 and 2.6 million shares of our common stock.
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The individual alleges that prior to the incorporation of our company he had been promised founders’ shares in a
different corporation. The individual also alleges that our Chief Executive Officer and founder, Lee Chen, who was
involved with this different entity for a short period of time in mid-2004 before our founding, was the CEO and
controlling stockholder of such other entity and that Mr. Chen breached his fiduciary duty to such entity and its
stockholders. The individual further alleges that Mr. Chen misappropriated intellectual property and diverted
employees and investors from that entity to us. On the basis of these allegations, this individual claims he is entitled to
shares of our common stock. The individual also alleges that we knowingly aided and abetted Mr. Chen in such
alleged actions. To our knowledge, this individual had not raised any of these allegations or made any equity
ownership claims to us prior to our receipt of the email on March 20, 2014.

Based on our preliminary review of the allegations in the letter, we and Mr. Chen believe that the claims are without
merit and are not likely to have a material adverse effect on us. However, there can be no assurances with respect to
the outcome of these allegations. No lawsuit has been filed, and if a lawsuit is filed, we and Mr. Chen intend to defend
against these claims vigorously.

We face intense competition in our market, especially from larger, well-established companies, and we may lack
sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or improve our competitive position.

The application networking market is intensely competitive, and we expect competition to increase in the future. To
the extent that we sell our solutions in adjacent markets, we expect to face intense competition in those markets as
well. We believe that our main competitors fall into three categories:

Companies that sell products in the traditional ADC market. In the ADC market, we compete against other companies
that are well established in this market, including F5 Networks, Inc., Brocade, Cisco Systems, Inc., Citrix Systems,
Inc., and Radware Ltd.;

Companies that sell CGN products. Our purpose-built CGN solution competes primarily against products originally
designed for other networking purposes, such as edge routers and security appliances from vendors such as
Alcatel-Lucent USA Inc., Cisco Systems, Inc. and Juniper Networks, Inc.; and

Companies that sell traditional DDoS mitigation products. We are a new entrant into the DDoS market and first
publicly launched our DDoS detection and mitigation solution, TPS, in January 2014. We believe our principal
competitors in this market are Arbor Networks, Inc., a subsidiary of Danaher Corporation, and Radware.

Many of our competitors are substantially larger and have greater financial, technical, research and development, sales
and marketing, manufacturing, distribution and other resources and greater name recognition. In addition, some of our
larger competitors have broader products offerings and could leverage their customer relationships based on their
other products. Potential customers who have purchased products from our competitors in the past may also prefer to
continue to purchase from these competitors rather than change to a new supplier regardless of the performance, price
or features of the respective products. We could also face competition from new market entrants, which may include
our current technology partners. As we continue to expand globally, we may also see new competitors in different
geographic regions. Such current and potential competitors may also establish cooperative relationships among
themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources.

Many of our existing and potential competitors enjoy substantial competitive advantages, such as:
{onger operating histories;

the capacity to leverage their sales efforts and marketing expenditures across a broader portfolio of products and
services at a greater range of prices;
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the ability to incorporate functionality into existing products to gain business in a manner that discourages users from
purchasing our products, including through selling at zero or negative margins, product bundling or closed technology
platforms;

broader distribution and established relationships with distribution channel partners in a greater number of worldwide
locations;

access to larger end-customer bases;
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the ability to use their greater financial resources to attract our research and development engineers as well as other
employees of ours;

darger intellectual property portfolios; and
the ability to bundle competitive offerings with other products and services.

Our ability to compete will depend upon our ability to provide a better solution than our competitors at a competitive
price. We may be required to make substantial additional investments in research and development, marketing and
sales in order to respond to competition, and there is no assurance that these investments will achieve any returns for
us or that we will be able to compete successfully in the future. We also expect increased competition if our market
continues to expand. Moreover, conditions in our market could change rapidly and significantly as a result of
technological advancements or other factors.

In addition, current or potential competitors may be acquired by third parties that have greater resources available. As
a result of these acquisitions, our current or potential competitors might take advantage of the greater resources of the
larger organization to compete more vigorously or broadly with us. In addition, continued industry consolidation
might adversely impact end-customers’ perceptions of the viability of smaller and even medium-sized networking
companies and, consequently, end-customers’ willingness to purchase from companies like us.

As a result, increased competition could lead to fewer end-customer orders, price reductions, reduced margins and loss
of market share.

Some of our large end-customers demand favorable terms and conditions from their vendors and may request price
concessions. As we seek to sell more products to these end-customers, we may agree to terms and conditions that may
have an adverse effect on our business.

Some of our large end-customers have significant purchasing power and, accordingly, have requested from us and
received more favorable terms and conditions, including lower prices than we typically provide. As we seek to sell
products to this class of end-customer, we may agree to these terms and conditions, which may include terms that
reduce our gross margin and have an adverse effect on our business.

If we are unable to attract new end-customers, sell additional products to our existing end-customers or achieve the
anticipated benefits from our investment in additional sales personnel and resources, our revenue may decline, and our
gross margin will be adversely affected.

To maintain and increase our revenue, we must continually add new end-customers and sell additional products to
existing end-customers. The rate at which new and existing end-customers purchase solutions depends on a number of
factors, including some outside of our control, such as general economic conditions. If our efforts to sell our solutions
to new end-customers and additional solutions to our existing end-customers are not successful, our business and
operating results will suffer.

In recent periods, we have been adding personnel and other resources to our sales and marketing functions, as we
focus on growing our business, entering new markets and increasing our market share. We expect to incur significant
additional expenses by hiring additional sales personnel and expanding our international operations in order to seek
revenue growth. The return on these and future investments may be lower, or may be realized more slowly, than we
expect, if realized at all. If we do not achieve the benefits anticipated from these investments, or if the achievement of
these benefits is delayed, our growth rates will decline, and our gross margin would likely be adversely affected.
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Our gross margin may fluctuate from period to period based on the mix of products sold, the geographic location of
our customers, price discounts offered, required inventory write downs and current exchange rate fluctuations.

Our gross margin may fluctuate from period to period in response to a number of factors, such as the mix of our
products sold and the geographic locations of our sales. Our products tend to have varying gross margins in different
geographic regions. We also may offer pricing discounts from time to time as part of a targeted sales campaign or as a
result of pricing pressure from our competitors. In addition, our larger end-customers may negotiate pricing discounts
in connection with large orders they place with us. The sale of our products at discounted prices could have a negative
impact on our gross margin. We also must manage our inventory of existing products when we introduce new
products. For example, in the fourth quarter of
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2013 and the third quarter of 2014, our gross margin decreased to 74% and 73% due primarily to geographical mix
and selling some end-of-life product at low margins.

If we are unable to sell the remaining inventory of our older products prior to or following the launch of such new
product offerings, we may be forced to write down inventory for such older products, which could also negatively
affect our gross margin. Our gross margin may also vary based on international currency exchange rates. In general,
our sales are denominated in U.S. dollars; however, in Japan they are denominated in Japanese yen. Changes in the
exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Japanese yen may therefore affect our actual revenue and gross margin.
For example, in the third and fourth quarters of 2014, our gross margin was adversely impacted by both an increase in
our inventory reserve primarily due to obsolete inventory on hand and unfavorable exchange rate fluctuations between
the U.S. dollar and the Japanese yen.

We generate a significant amount of revenue from sales to distributors, resellers, and end-customers outside of the
United States, and we are therefore subject to a number of risks that could adversely affect these international sources
of our revenue.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated in international markets, including Japan, Western Europe, China,
Taiwan and South Korea. During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, approximately 64%, 52% and
52% of our total revenue was generated from customers located outside of the United States. If we are unable to
maintain or continue to grow our revenue in these markets, our financial results may suffer. As a result, we must hire
and train experienced personnel to staff and manage our foreign operations. To the extent that we experience
difficulties in recruiting, training, managing and retaining an international staff, and specifically sales management
and sales personnel, we may experience difficulties in sales productivity in foreign markets. We also seek to enter into
distributor and reseller relationships with companies in certain international markets where we do not have a local
presence. If we are not able to maintain successful distributor relationships internationally or recruit additional
companies to enter into distributor relationships, our future success in these international markets could be limited.
Business practices in the international markets that we serve may differ from those in the United States and may
require us in the future to include terms in customer contracts other than our standard terms. To the extent that we may
enter into customer contracts in the future that include non-standard terms, our operating results may be adversely
impacted.

We have a significant presence in international markets and plan to continue to expand our international operations,
which exposes us to a number of risks that could affect our future growth.

Our sales team is comprised of field sales and inside sales personnel who are organized by geography and maintain
sales presence in 30 countries, including in the following countries and regions: United States, Western Europe, Japan,
China, Taiwan and South Korea. We expect to continue to increase our sales headcount in all markets, particularly in
markets where we currently do not have a sales presence. As we continue to expand our international sales and
operations, we are subject to a number of risks, including the following:

ereater difficulty in enforcing contracts and accounts receivable collection and longer collection periods;

increased expenses incurred in establishing and maintaining office space and equipment for our international
operations;

ereater difficulty in recruiting local experienced personnel, and the costs and expenses associated with such activities;

eeneral economic and political conditions in these foreign markets;
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economic uncertainty around the world, including continued economic uncertainty as a result of sovereign debt issues
in Europe;

management communication and integration problems resulting from cultural and geographic
dispersion;

risks associated with trade restrictions and foreign legal requirements, including the importation, certification, and
localization of our products required in foreign countries;

ereater risk of unexpected changes in regulatory practices, tariffs, and tax laws and treaties;
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the uncertainty of protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

greater risk of a failure of foreign employees to comply with both U.S. and foreign laws, including antitrust
regulations, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and any trade regulations ensuring fair trade practices; and

heightened risk of unfair or corrupt business practices in certain geographies and of improper or fraudulent sales
arrangements that may impact financial results and result in restatements of, or irregularities in, financial statements.

Because of our worldwide operations, we are also subject to risks associated with compliance with applicable
anticorruption laws. One such applicable anticorruption law is the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA,
which generally prohibits U.S. companies and their employees and intermediaries from making payments to foreign
officials for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business, securing an advantage, or directing business to another, and
requires public companies to maintain accurate books and records and a system of internal accounting controls. Under
the FCPA, U.S. companies may be held liable for actions taken by directors, officers, employees, agents, or other
strategic or local partners or representatives. As such, if we or our intermediaries, such as channel partners and
distributors, fail to comply with the requirements of the FCPA or similar legislation, governmental authorities in the
United States and elsewhere could seek to impose civil and/or criminal fines and penalties which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect our results of operations.

Our consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Historically, the majority of our revenue contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars,
with the most significant exception being Japan, where we invoice primarily in the Japanese yen. Our expenses are
generally denominated in the currencies in which our operations are located, which is primarily in North America and
Japan. Revenue resulting from selling in local currencies and costs incurred in local currencies are exposed to foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations that can affect our operating income. For example, a hypothetical 10% adverse
movement in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Japanese yen would have resulted in a $4.6 million
decrease in our total revenue and a $3.4 million decrease in our operating income for the year ended December 31,
2014, and a hypothetical 10% favorable movement in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Japanese yen
would have resulted in a $4.6 million increase in our total revenue and a $3.4 million increase in operating income for
the year ended December 31, 2014. As exchange rates vary, our operating income may differ from expectations. To
date, we have not entered into any hedging arrangements with respect to foreign currency risk or other derivative
instruments.

Our success depends on our key personnel and our ability to hire, retain and motivate qualified product development,
sales, marketing and finance personnel.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our key management, product
development, sales, marketing and finance personnel, many of whom may be difficult to replace. The complexity of
our products, their integration into existing networks and ongoing support of our products requires us to retain highly
trained professional services, customer support and sales personnel with specific expertise related to our business.
Competition for qualified professional services, customer support and sales personnel in our industry is intense,
because of the limited number of people available with the necessary technical skills and understanding of our
products. We may not be successful in attracting, integrating, or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or
future needs, nor may we be successful in keeping the qualified personnel we currently have. Our ability to hire and
retain these personnel may be adversely affected by volatility or reductions in the price of our common stock, since
these employees are generally granted equity-based awards. Also, to the extent we hire personnel from competitors,
we may be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited, or that they have divulged proprietary or
other confidential information, or that their former employers own their inventions or other work product.
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Our future performance also depends on the continued services and continuing contributions of our senior
management to execute on our business plan and to identify and pursue new opportunities and product innovations. In
particular, Lee Chen, our founder and Chief Executive Officer, and Rajkumar Jalan, our Chief Technology Officer,
are critical to the development of our technology and the future vision and strategic direction of our company. The
loss of services of senior management could significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our development and
strategic objectives, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results.
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As a result of becoming a public company, we are obligated to implement and maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting. We may not complete our analysis of our internal control over financial reporting in a timely
manner, or our internal control over financial reporting may not be determined to be effective, which may adversely
affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our common stock.

We are required, pursuant to the Exchange Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for each fiscal year beginning with fiscal 2015. This
assessment will need to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal
control over financial reporting, as well as, for each fiscal year beginning with fiscal 2016, a statement that our
auditors have issued an attestation report on our management’s assessment of our internal controls.

We are currently evaluating our internal controls, identifying and remediating deficiencies in those internal controls
and documenting the results of our evaluation, testing and remediation. We may not be able to complete our
evaluation, testing and any required remediation in a timely fashion. During the evaluation and testing process, if we
identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that we are unable to
remediate before the end of the same fiscal year in which the material weakness is identified, we will be unable to
assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. If we are unable to conclude that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective, if our auditors are unable to attest to management’s report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, or if we are required to restate our financial statements as
a result of ineffective internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which would cause the price of our common stock to decline.

As a public company, we are required to disclose material changes made in our internal control and procedures on a
quarterly basis. However, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to formally attest to
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
until the later of the year following our first annual report required to be filed with the SEC or the date we are no
longer an emerging growth company as defined in the JOBS Act, if we take advantage of the exemptions contained in
the JOBS Act. To comply with the requirements of being a public company, we may need to undertake various
actions, such as implementing new internal controls and procedures and hiring accounting or internal audit staff.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over the computation of share-based compensation
expense related to our 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and our business and stock price may be materially
adversely affected if we do not adequately address this material weakness or if we have other material weaknesses in
our internal control over financial reporting.

In connection with our review of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, we determined
that we did not adequately implement certain controls over the computation of share-based compensation related to
our 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and we have therefore concluded that a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting existed as of December 31, 2014. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
a material misstatement of a company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. We are working to remediate this material weakness by implementing new review procedures and
controls relating to the computation of share-based compensation expense related to our 2014 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. However, changes we make to our controls and processes may not be effective in maintaining the
adequacy of our internal controls.

The existence of this material weakness or the discovery of one or more other material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting could result in errors in our financial statements, and
substantial costs and resources may be required to rectify any internal control deficiencies. Although we continually
review and evaluate internal control systems, we have in the past discovered significant deficiencies and we cannot
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assure you that we will not discover additional significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal control
over financial reporting. Any such additional significant deficiency or material weakness or failure to remediate the
existing material weakness could materially adversely affect our ability to comply with applicable financial reporting
requirements. Further, if we cannot produce reliable financial reports, investors could lose confidence in our reported
financial information, the market price of our stock could decline significantly, and our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be materially harmed.
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If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brand and reputation, our business and operating results may be
harmed in tangible or intangible ways.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our brand and reputation are critical to our relationships with, and our
ability to attract, new end-customers, technology partners and employees. The successful promotion of our brand will
depend largely upon our ability to continue to develop, offer and maintain high-quality products and services, our
marketing and public relations efforts, and our ability to differentiate our products and services successfully from
those of our competitors. Our brand promotion activities may not be successful and may not yield increased revenue.
In addition, extension of our brand to products and uses different from our traditional products and services may dilute
our brand, particularly if we fail to maintain the quality of products and services in these new areas. We have in the
past, and may in the future, become involved in litigation that could negatively affect our brand. If we do not
successfully maintain and enhance our brand and reputation, our growth rate may decline, we may have reduced
pricing power relative to competitors with stronger brands or reputations, and we could lose end-customers or
technology partners, all of which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Adverse general economic conditions or reduced information technology spending may adversely impact our
business.

A substantial portion of our business depends on the demand for information technology by large enterprises and
service providers, the overall economic health of our current and prospective end-customers and the continued growth
and evolution of the Internet. The timing of the purchase of our products is often discretionary and may involve a
significant commitment of capital and other resources. While some economic indicators have recently improved, there
are still lingering effects of economic weakness from the recent financial recession, including more limited
availability of credit, a reduction in business confidence and activity, deficit-driven austerity measures that continue to
affect governments and educational institutions, and other difficulties that may affect one or more of the industries to
which we sell our products and services. If economic conditions in the United States, Europe and other key markets
for our products do not continue to improve or those markets experience another downturn, many end-customers may
delay or reduce their IT spending. This could result in reductions in sales of our products and services, longer sales
cycles, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition. Any of these events would likely harm
our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, there can be no assurance that I'T spending levels
will increase following any recovery.

We are dependent on third-party manufacturers, and changes to those relationships, expected or unexpected, may
result in delays or disruptions that could harm our business.

We outsource the manufacturing of our hardware components to third-party original design manufacturers who
assemble these hardware components to our specifications. Our primary manufacturers are Lanner Electronics, Inc.
and AEWIN Technologies Co., Ltd., each of which is located in Taiwan. Our reliance on these third-party
manufacturers reduces our control over the manufacturing process and exposes us to risks, including reduced control
over quality assurance, product costs, and product supply and timing. Any manufacturing disruption at these
manufacturers could severely impair our ability to fulfill orders. Our reliance on outsourced manufacturers also may
create the potential for infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property rights or confidential information.
If we are unable to manage our relationships with these manufacturers effectively, or if these manufacturers suffer
delays or disruptions for any reason, experience increased manufacturing lead-times, experience capacity constraints
or quality control problems in their manufacturing operations, or fail to meet our future requirements for timely
delivery, our ability to ship products to our end-customers would be severely impaired, and our business and operating
results would be seriously harmed.

These manufacturers typically fulfill our supply requirements on the basis of individual orders. We do not have
long-term contracts with our manufacturers that guarantee capacity, the continuation of particular pricing terms, or the
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extension of credit limits. Accordingly, they are not obligated to continue to fulfill our supply requirements, which
could result in supply shortages, and the prices we are charged for manufacturing services could be increased on short
notice. In addition, our orders may represent a relatively small percentage of the overall orders received by our
manufacturers from their customers. As a result, fulfilling our orders may not be considered a priority by one or more
of our manufacturers in the event the manufacturer is constrained in its ability to fulfill all of its customer obligations
in a timely manner.

Although the services required to manufacture our hardware components may be readily available from a number of
established manufacturers, it is time-consuming and costly to qualify and implement such relationships. If we are
required to change manufacturers, whether due to an interruption in one of our manufacturers’ businesses, quality
control problems or otherwise, or if we are required to engage additional manufacturers, our ability to meet our
scheduled product deliveries to our customers could be adversely affected, which could cause the loss of sales to
existing or potential customers, delayed revenue or an increase in our costs that could adversely affect our gross
margin.
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Because some of the key components in our products come from limited sources of supply, we are susceptible to
supply shortages or supply changes, which could disrupt or delay our scheduled product deliveries to our
end-customers and may result in the loss of sales and end-customers.

Our products incorporate key components, including certain integrated circuits, that our third-party manufacturers
purchase on our behalf from a limited number of suppliers, including some sole-source providers. In addition, the lead
times associated with these and other components of our products can be lengthy and preclude rapid changes in
quantities and delivery schedules. Moreover, long-term supply and maintenance obligations to our end-customers
increase the duration for which specific components are required, which may further increase the risk we may incur
component shortages or the cost of carrying inventory. If we are unable to obtain a sufficient quantity of these
components in a timely manner for any reason, sales and/or shipments of our products could be delayed or halted,
which would seriously affect present and future sales and cause damage to end-customer relationships, which would,
in turn, adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our component suppliers change their selling prices frequently in response to market trends, including
industry-wide increases in demand, and because we do not necessarily have contracts with these suppliers, we are
susceptible to price fluctuations related to raw materials and components. If we are unable to pass component price
increases along to our end-customers or maintain stable pricing, our gross margin and operating results could be
negatively impacted. Furthermore, poor quality in sole-sourced components or certain other components in our
products could also result in lost sales or lost sales opportunities. If the quality of such components does not meet our
standards or our end-customers’ requirements, if we are unable to obtain components from our existing suppliers on
commercially reasonable terms, or if any of our sole source providers cease to continue to manufacture such
components or to remain in business, we could be forced to redesign our products and qualify new components from
alternate suppliers. The development of alternate sources for those components can be time-consuming, difficult and
costly, and we may not be able to develop alternate or second sources in a timely manner. Even if we are able to locate
alternate sources of supply, we could be forced to pay for expedited shipments of such components or our products at
dramatically increased costs.

Real or perceived defects, errors, or vulnerabilities in our products or services or the failure of our products or services
to block a threat or prevent a security breach could harm our reputation and adversely impact our results of operations.

Because our products and services are complex, they have contained and may contain design or manufacturing defects
or errors that are not detected until after their commercial release and deployment by our end-customers. Even if we
discover those weaknesses, we may not be able to correct them promptly, if at all. Defects may cause our products to
be vulnerable to security attacks, cause them to fail to help secure networks, or temporarily interrupt end-customers’
networking traffic. Furthermore, our products may fail to detect or prevent malware, viruses, worms or similar threats
for any number of reasons, including our failure to enhance and expand our platform to reflect industry trends, new
technologies and new operating environments, the complexity of the environment of our end-customers and the
sophistication of malware, viruses and other threats. Data thieves and hackers are increasingly sophisticated, often
affiliated with organized crime and may operate large-scale and complex automated attacks. The techniques used to
obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage networks change frequently and may not be recognized until launched
against a target. Additionally, as a well-known provider of enterprise security solutions, our networks, products, and
services could be targeted by attacks specifically designed to disrupt our business and harm our reputation. As our
products are adopted by an increasing number of enterprises and governments, it is possible that the individuals and
organizations behind advanced attacks will focus on finding ways to defeat our products. In addition, defects or errors
in our updates to our products could result in a failure of our services to effectively update end-customers’ products
and thereby leave our end-customers vulnerable to attacks. Our data centers and networks may experience technical
failures and downtime, may fail to distribute appropriate updates, or may fail to meet the increased requirements of a
growing installed end-customer base, any of which could temporarily or permanently expose our end-customers’
networks, leaving their networks unprotected against security threats. Our end-customers may also misuse our
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products, which may result in loss or a breach of business data. For all of these reasons, we may be unable to
anticipate all data security threats or provide a solution in time to protect our end-customers’ networks. If we fail to
identify and respond to new and increasingly complex methods of attack and to update our products to detect or
prevent such threats in time to protect our end-customers’ critical business data, our business, operating results and
reputation could suffer.

If any companies or governments that are publicly known to use our platform are the subject of an advanced cyber
attack that becomes publicized, our other current or potential channel partners or end-customers may look to our
competitors for alternatives to our products. Real or perceived security breaches of our end-customers’ networks could
cause disruption or damage to their networks or other negative consequences and could result in negative publicity to
us, damage to our reputation, declining sales, increased expenses and end-customer relations issues. To the extent
potential end-customers or industry analysts believe that the occurrence of any actual or perceived failure of our
products to detect or prevent malware, viruses,
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worms or similar threats is a flaw or indicates that our products do not provide significant value, our reputation and
business could be harmed.

Any real or perceived defects, errors, or vulnerabilities in our products, or any failure of our products to detect a
threat, could result in:

* a loss of existing or potential end-customers or channel partners;

* delayed or lost revenue;

* a delay in attaining, or the failure to attain, market acceptance;

the expenditure of significant financial and product development resources in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate, or
work around errors or defects, to address and eliminate vulnerabilities, or to identify and ramp up production with
third-party providers;

an increase in warranty claims, or an increase in the cost of servicing warranty claims, either of which would
adversely affect our gross margins;

* harm to our reputation or brand; and

* litigation, regulatory inquiries, or investigations that may be costly and further harm our reputation.

Failure to protect and ensure the confidentiality and security of data could lead to legal liability, adversely affect our
reputation and have a material adverse effect on our operating results, business and reputation.

We may collect, store and use certain confidential information in the course of providing our services, and we have
invested in preserving the security of this data. We may also outsource operations to third-party service providers to
whom we transmit certain confidential data. There are no assurances that any security measures we have in place, or
any additional security measures that our subcontractors may have in place, will be sufficient to protect this
confidential information from unauthorized security breaches.

We cannot assure you that, despite the implementation of these security measures, we will not be subject to a security
incident or other data breach or that this data will not be compromised. We may be required to expend significant
capital and other resources to protect against security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by security breaches, or
to pay penalties as a result of such breaches. Despite our implementation of security measures, techniques used to
obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and may not be recognized until launched
against a target. As a result, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative
measures to protect this data. In addition, security breaches can also occur as a result of non-technical issues,
including intentional or inadvertent breaches by our employees or service providers or by other persons or entities
with whom we have commercial relationships. Any compromise or perceived compromise of our security could
damage our reputation with our end-customers, and could subject us to significant liability, as well as regulatory
action, including financial penalties, which would materially adversely affect our brand, results of operations,
financial condition, business and prospects.

We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, significant costs to protect against security breaches. We may incur
significant additional costs in the future to address problems caused by any actual or perceived security breaches.

Breaches of our security measures or those of our third-party service providers, or other security incidents, could
result in unauthorized access to our sites, networks and systems; unauthorized access to, misuse or misappropriation
of information, including personally identifiable information, or other confidential or proprietary information of
ourselves or third parties; viruses, worms, spyware or other malware being served from our sites, networks or systems;
deletion or modification of content or the display of unauthorized content on our sites; interruption, disruption or
malfunction of operations; costs relating to notification of individuals, or other forms of breach remediation;
deployment of additional personnel and protection technologies; response to governmental investigations and media
inquiries and coverage; engagement of third party experts and consultants; litigation, regulatory investigations,
prosecutions, and other actions, and other potential liabilities. If any of these events occurs, or is believed to occur, our
reputation and brand could be damaged, our business may suffer, we could be required to expend significant capital
and other resources to alleviate problems caused by such actual or perceived breaches, we could be exposed to a risk
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of loss, litigation or regulatory action and possible liability, and our ability to operate our business,
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including our ability to provide maintenance and support services to our channel partners and end-customers, may be
impaired. If current or prospective channel partners and end-customers believe that our systems and solutions do not
provide adequate security for their businesses’ needs, our business and our financial results could be harmed.
Additionally, actual, potential or anticipated attacks may cause us to incur increasing costs, including costs to deploy
additional personnel and protection technologies, train employees and engage third-party experts and consultants.
Although we maintain privacy, data breach and network security liability insurance, we cannot be certain that our
coverage will be adequate for liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to us on
economically reasonable terms, or at all. Any actual or perceived compromise or breach of our security measures, or
those of our third-party service providers, or any unauthorized access to, misuse or misappropriation of personally
identifiable information, channel partners’ or end-customers information, or other information, could violate applicable
laws and regulations, contractual obligations or other legal obligations and cause significant legal and financial
exposure, adverse publicity and a loss of confidence in our security measures, any of which could have an material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Our failure to adequately protect personal data could have a material adverse effect on our business.

A wide variety of provincial, state, national, foreign, and international laws and regulations apply to the collection,
use, retention, protection, disclosure, transfer, and other processing of personal data. These data protection and
privacy-related laws and regulations are evolving and being tested in courts and may result in ever-increasing
regulatory and public scrutiny and escalating levels of enforcement and sanctions. Our failure to comply with
applicable laws and regulations, or to protect such data, could result in enforcement action against us, including fines,
imprisonment of company officials and public censure, claims for damages by end-customers and other affected
persons and entities, damage to our reputation and loss of goodwill (both in relation to existing and prospective
channel partners and end-customers), and other forms of injunctive or operations-limiting relief, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our operations, financial performance, and business. Evolving and changing
definitions of personal data and personal information, within the European Union, the United States, and elsewhere,
especially relating to classification of Internet Protocol (IP) addresses, machine identification, location data, and other
information, may limit or inhibit our ability to operate or expand our business, including limiting strategic
partnerships that may involve the sharing of data. We may be required to expend significant resources to modify our
solutions and otherwise adapt to these changes, which we may be unable to do on commercially reasonable terms or at
all, and our ability to develop new solutions and features could be limited. These developments could harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if not subject to legal challenge, the perception of privacy
concerns, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation and inhibit adoption of our products by current and
prospective end-customers.

If the general level of advanced cyber attacks declines, or is perceived by our current or potential customers to have
declined, our business could be harmed.

Our security business may be dependent on enterprises and governments recognizing that advanced cyber attacks are
pervasive and are not effectively prevented by legacy security solutions. High visibility attacks on prominent
companies and governments have increased market awareness of advanced cyber attacks and help to provide an
impetus for enterprises and governments to devote resources to protecting against advanced cyber attacks, which may
include testing, purchasing, and deploying our products. If advanced cyber attacks were to decline, or enterprises or
governments perceived a decline in the general level of advanced cyber attacks, our ability to attract new channel
partners and end-customers and expand our offerings within existing channel partners and end-customers could be
materially and adversely affected. An actual or perceived reduction in the threat landscape could increase our sales
cycles and harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Undetected software or hardware errors may harm our business and results of operations.

Our products may contain undetected errors or defects when first introduced or as new versions are released. We have
experienced these errors or defects in the past in connection with new products and product upgrades. We expect that
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these errors or defects will be found from time to time in new or enhanced products after commencement of
commercial distribution. These problems may cause us to incur significant warranty and repair costs, divert the
attention of our engineering personnel from our product development efforts and cause significant customer relations
problems. We may also be subject to liability claims for damages related to product errors or defects. While we carry
insurance policies covering this type of liability, these policies may not provide sufficient protection should a claim be
asserted. A material product liability claim may harm our business and results of operations.
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Any errors, defects or vulnerabilities in our products could result in:

expenditures of significant financial and product development resources in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate or
work around errors and defects or to address and eliminate vulnerabilities;

{oss of existing or potential end-customers or distribution channel partners;

delayed or lost revenue;

delay or failure to attain market acceptance;

tndemnification obligations under our agreements with resellers, distributors and/or end-customers;

an increase in warranty claims compared with our historical experience or an increased cost of servicing warranty
claims, either of which would adversely affect our gross margin; and

titigation, regulatory inquiries, or investigations that may be costly and harm our reputation.

Our use of open source software in our products could negatively affect our ability to sell our products and subject us
to possible litigation.

We incorporate open source software such as the Linux operating system kernel into our products. We recently
implemented a formal open source use policy, including written guidelines for use of open source software and
business processes for approval of that use. We have developed and implemented our open source policies according
to industry practice; however, best practices in this area are subject to change, because there is little reported case law
on the interpretation of material terms of many open source licenses. We are in the process of reviewing our open
source use and our compliance with open source licenses and implementing remediation and changes necessary to
comply with the open source licenses related thereto. We cannot guarantee that our use of open source software has
been, and will be, managed effectively for our intended business purposes and/or compliant with applicable open
source licenses. We may face legal action by third parties seeking to enforce their intellectual property rights related to
our use of such open source software. Failure to adequately manage open source license compliance and our use of
open source software may result in unanticipated obligations regarding our products and services, such as a
requirement that we license proprietary portions of our products or services on unfavorable terms, that we make
available source code for modifications or derivative works we created based upon, incorporating or using open
source software, that we license such modifications or derivative works under the terms of the particular open source
license and/or that we redesign the affected products or services, which could result, for example, in a loss of
intellectual property rights, or delay in providing our products and services. From time to time, there have been claims
against companies that distribute or use third-party open source software in their products and services, asserting that
the open source software or its combination with the products or services infringes third parties’ patents or copyrights,
or that the companies’ distribution or use of the open source software does not comply with the terms of the applicable
open source licenses. Use of certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of warranted third-party
commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of such
open source software. From time to time, there have been claims against companies that use open source software in
their products, challenging the ownership of rights in such open source software. As a result, we could also be subject
to suits by parties claiming ownership of rights in what we believe to be open source software and so challenging our
right to use such software in our products. If any such claims were asserted against us, we could be required to incur
significant legal expenses defending against such a claim. Further, if our defenses to such a claim were not successful,
we could be, for example, subject to significant damages, be required to seek licenses from third parties in order to
continue offering our products and services without infringing such third party’s intellectual property rights, be
required to re-engineer such products and services, or be required to discontinue making available such products and
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services if re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely or successful basis. The need to engage in these or other
remedies could increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our products must interoperate with operating systems, software applications and hardware that are developed by
others and if we are unable to devote the necessary resources to ensure that our products interoperate with such
software and hardware, we may fail to increase, or we may lose market share and we may experience a weakening
demand for our products.

Our products must interoperate with our end-customers’ existing infrastructure, specifically their networks, servers,
software and operating systems, which may be manufactured by a wide variety of vendors and original equipment
manufacturers. As a result, when problems occur in a network, it may be difficult to identify the source of the
problem. The
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occurrence of software or hardware problems, whether caused by our products or another vendor’s products, may result
in the delay or loss of market acceptance of our products. In addition, when new or updated versions of our
end-customers’ software operating systems or applications are introduced, we must sometimes develop updated
versions of our software so that our products will interoperate properly. We may not accomplish these development
efforts quickly, cost-effectively or at all. These development efforts require capital investment and the devotion of
engineering resources. If we fail to maintain compatibility with these applications, our end-customers may not be able
to adequately utilize our products, and we may, among other consequences, fail to increase, or we may lose market
share and experience a weakening in demand for our products, which would adversely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition.

We license technology from third parties, and our inability to maintain those licenses could harm our business.

Many of our products include proprietary technologies licensed from third parties. In the future, it may be necessary to
renew licenses for third party technology or obtain new licenses for other technology. These third party licenses may
not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. As a result, we could also face delays or be unable to make
changes to our products until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed or developed and integrated with our
products. Such delays or an inability to make changes to our products, if it were to occur, could adversely affect our
business, operating results and financial condition. The inability to obtain certain licenses to third-party technology, or
litigation regarding the interpretation or enforcement of license agreements and related intellectual property issues,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Failure to prevent excess inventories or inventory shortages could result in decreased revenue and gross margin and
harm our business.

We purchase products from our manufacturers outside of, and in advance of, reseller or end-customer orders, which
we hold in inventory and resell. We place orders with our manufacturers based on our forecasts of our end-customers’
requirements and forecasts provided by our distribution channel partners. These forecasts are based on multiple
assumptions, each of which might cause our estimates to be inaccurate, affecting our ability to provide products to our
customers. There is a risk we may be unable to sell excess products ordered from our manufacturers. Inventory levels
in excess of customer demand may result in obsolete inventory and inventory write-downs. For example, we incurred
inventory write downs of $2.2 million for 2014 as a result of end-customers’ decisions to purchase our new product
offering rather than our existing product offerings as originally expected; we also recorded a similar write down
during the third quarter 2014. The sale of excess inventory at discounted prices could impair our brand image and
have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Conversely, if we underestimate demand
for our products or if our manufacturers fail to supply products we require at the time we need them, we may
experience inventory shortages. Inventory shortages might delay shipments to resellers, distributors and customers and
cause us to lose sales. These shortages may diminish the loyalty of our distribution channel partners or customers.

The difficulty in forecasting demand also makes it difficult to estimate our future financial condition and results of
operations from period to period. A failure to accurately predict the level of demand for our products could adversely
affect our net revenue and net income, and we are unlikely to forecast such effects with any certainty in advance. For
example, we failed to predict the slowdown in the United States sales during the three months ended September 30,
2014 which resulted in lower revenues, gross margin and net income than expected.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, primarily due to the complexity of our end-customers’ networks and
data centers and the length of their budget cycles. As a result, our sales and revenue are difficult to predict and may

vary substantially from period to period, which may cause our operating results to fluctuate significantly.

The timing of our sales is difficult to predict because of the length and unpredictability of our products’ sales cycles. A
sales cycle is the period between initial contact with a prospective end-customer and any sale of our products. Our

51



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

sales cycle, in particular to our large end-customers, may be lengthy due to the complexity of their networks and data
centers. Because of this complexity, prospective end-customers generally consider a number of factors over an
extended period of time before committing to purchase our products. End-customers often view the purchase of our
products as a significant and strategic decision that can have important implications on their existing networks and
data centers and, as a result, require considerable time to evaluate, test and qualify our products prior to making a
purchase decision and placing an order to ensure that our products will successfully interoperate with our
end-customers’ complex network and data centers. Additionally, the budgetary decisions at these entities can be
lengthy and require multiple organization reviews. The length of time that end-customers devote to their evaluation of
our products and decision making process varies significantly. The length of our products’ sales cycles typically ranges
from three to 12 months but can be longer for our large end-customers. In addition, the length of our close or sales
cycle can be affected by the extent to which customized features are requested, in particular in our large deals.
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For all of these reasons, it is difficult to predict whether a sale will be completed or the particular fiscal period in
which a sale will be completed, both of which contribute to the uncertainty of our future operating results. If our close
or sales cycles lengthen, our revenue could be lower than expected, which would have an adverse impact on our
operating results and could cause our stock price to decline. For example, during the three months ended September
30, 2014, we experienced longer than expected close and sales cycles for certain large deals and a 62% decrease in
North America service provider revenue as compared to the same period in 2013 that adversely affected our revenue
and may have contributed to a dramatic decline in our stock price.

Our ability to sell our products is highly dependent on the quality of our support and services offerings, and our failure
to offer high-quality support could have a material adverse effect on our business, revenue and results of operations.

We believe that our ability to provide consistent, high quality customer service and technical support is a key factor in
attracting and retaining end-customers of all sizes and is critical to the deployment of our products. When support is
purchased our end-customers depend on our support organization to provide a broad range of support services,
including on-site technical support, 24-hour support and shipment of replacement parts on an expedited basis. If our
support organization or our distribution channel partners do not assist our end-customers in deploying our products
effectively, succeed in helping our end-customers resolve post-deployment issues quickly, or provide ongoing
support, it could adversely affect our ability to sell our products to existing end-customers and could harm our
reputation with potential end-customers. We currently have technical support centers in the United States, Japan,
China and the Netherlands. As we continue to expand our operations internationally, our support organization will
face additional challenges, including those associated with delivering support, training and documentation in
languages other than English.

We typically sell our products with maintenance and support as part of the initial purchase, and a substantial portion
of our support revenue comes from renewals of maintenance and support contracts. Our end-customers have no
obligation to renew their maintenance and support contracts after the expiration of the initial period. If we are unable
to provide high quality support, our end-customers may elect not to renew their maintenance and support contracts or
to reduce the product quantity under their maintenance and support contracts, thereby reducing our future revenue
from maintenance and support contracts.

Our failure or the failure of our distribution channel partners to maintain high-quality support and services could have
a material and adverse effect on our business, revenue and operating results.

We depend on growth in markets relating to network security, management and analysis, and lack of growth or
contraction in one or more of these markets could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and
financial condition.

Demand for our products is linked to, among other things, growth in the size and complexity of network
infrastructures and the demand for networking technologies addressing the security, management and analysis of such
infrastructures. These markets are dynamic and evolving. Our future financial performance will depend in large part
on continued growth in the number of organizations investing in their network infrastructure and the amount they
commit to such investments. If this demand declines, our results of operations and financial condition would be
materially and adversely affected. Segments of the network infrastructure industry have in the past experienced
significant economic downturns. Furthermore, the market for network infrastructure may not continue to grow at
historic rates, or at all. The occurrence of any of these factors in the markets relating to network security, management
and analysis could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. For example,
during the three months ended September 30, 2014, we experienced a 62% decrease in North America service
provider revenue as compared to the same period in 2013 that adversely affected our revenue and may have
contributed to a dramatic decline in our stock price. We anticipate a possible slowdown in North America service
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providers, which may lead to continued near term fluctuation in our products revenue and total revenue.
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Our revenue growth rate in recent periods may not be indicative of our future performance.

You should not consider our revenue growth rate in recent periods as indicative of our future performance. We have
recently experienced revenue growth rates of 32%, 18% and 27% in 2012, 2013 and 2014 as compared to the same
prior periods. We may not achieve similar revenue growth rates in future periods. You should not rely on our revenue
for any prior quarterly or annual periods as any indication of our future revenue or revenue growth. If we are unable to
maintain consistent revenue or revenue growth, our stock price could be volatile, and it may be difficult to achieve and
maintain profitability. For example, our sequential product growth rate between the three months ended June 30, 2014
and September 30, 2014 was a negative 7% and was lower than expected which resulted in our stock price to decline.

Our business and operations have experienced rapid growth in recent periods, and if we do not effectively manage any
future growth or are unable to improve our controls, systems and processes, our operating results will be adversely
affected.

In recent periods, we have significantly increased the number of our employees and independent contractors. As we
hire new employees and independent contractors and expand into new locations outside the United States, we are
required to comply with varying local laws for each of these new locations. We anticipate that further expansion of
our infrastructure and headcount will be required. Our rapid growth has placed, and will continue to place, a
significant strain on our administrative and operational infrastructure and financial resources. Our ability to manage
our operations and growth across multiple countries will require us to continue to refine our operational, financial and
management controls, human resource policies, and reporting systems and processes.

We need to continue to improve our internal systems, processes, and controls to effectively manage our operations and
growth. We may not be able to successfully implement improvements to these systems, processes and controls in an
efficient or timely manner. In addition, our systems and processes may not prevent or detect all errors, omissions, or
fraud. We may experience difficulties in managing improvements to our systems, processes, and controls or in
connection with third-party software, which could impair our ability to provide products or services to our customers
in a timely manner, causing us to lose customers, limit us to smaller deployments of our products, increase our
technical support costs, or damage our reputation and brand. Our failure to improve our systems and processes, or
their failure to operate in the intended manner, may result in our inability to manage the growth of our business and to
accurately forecast our revenue, expenses, and earnings, or to prevent certain losses, any of which may harm our
business and results of operations.

We may not be able to sustain or develop new distributor and reseller relationships, and a reduction or delay in sales
to significant distribution channel partners could hurt our business.

We sell our products and services through multiple distribution channels in the United States and internationally. We
may not be able to increase our number of distributor or reseller relationships or maintain our existing relationships.
Recruiting and retaining qualified distribution channel partners and training them on our technologies requires
significant time and resources. These distribution channel partners may also market, sell and support products and
services that are competitive with ours and may devote more resources to the marketing, sales and support of such
competitive products. Our sales channel structure could subject us to lawsuits, potential liability and reputational harm
if, for example, any of our distribution channel partners misrepresent the functionality of our products or services to
end-customers or violate laws or our corporate policies. If we are unable to establish or maintain our sales channels or
if our distribution channel partners are unable to adapt to our future sales focus and needs, our business and results of
operations will be harmed.

The terms of our credit facility could restrict our operations, particularly our ability to respond to changes in our
business or to take specified actions.
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Our credit facility contains a number of restrictive covenants that impose operating and financial restrictions on us,
including restrictions on our ability to take actions that may be in our best interests. Our credit facility requires us to
satisfy specified financial covenants. In the past, we were not in compliance with one of the covenants on one
occasion and were able to obtain a waiver from our lenders regarding the non-compliance. Our ability to meet those
financial covenants can be affected by events beyond our control, and we may not be able to continue to meet those
covenants or obtain waivers if we fail to meet a covenant. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, our lenders
could elect to declare all amounts outstanding under the credit facility to be immediately due and payable and
terminate all commitments to extend further credit. If our lenders accelerate the repayment, if any, we may not have
sufficient funds to repay our existing debt. If we were unable to repay those amounts, our lenders could proceed
against the collateral granted to them to secure such indebtedness. We have pledged substantially all of our assets,
including our intellectual property, as collateral under the credit facility. As of December 31, 2014, we had no
outstanding balance on our credit facility and were in compliance with the facility covenants.
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Our sales to governmental organizations are subject to a number of challenges and risks.

We sell to governmental organization end-customers. Sales to governmental organizations are subject to a number of
challenges and risks. Selling to governmental organizations can be highly competitive, expensive and time consuming,
often requiring significant upfront time and expense without any assurance that these efforts will generate a sale. We
have not yet received security clearance from the United States government, which prevents us from being able to sell
directly for certain governmental uses. There can be no assurance that such clearance will be obtained, and failure to
do so may adversely affect our operating results. Governmental organization demand and payment for our products
may be impacted by public sector budgetary cycles and funding authorizations, with funding reductions or delays
adversely affecting public sector demand for our products. Governmental organizations may have statutory,
contractual or other legal rights to terminate contracts with our distributors and resellers for convenience or due to a
default, and any such termination may adversely impact our future operating results.

Failure to comply with governmental laws and regulations could harm our business.

Our business is subject to regulation by various federal, state, local and foreign governmental entities, including
agencies responsible for monitoring and enforcing employment and labor laws, workplace safety, product safety,
environmental laws, consumer protection laws, anti-bribery laws, import/export controls, federal securities laws, and
tax laws and regulations. In certain jurisdictions, these regulatory requirements may be more stringent than those in
the United States. Noncompliance with applicable regulations or requirements could subject us to investigations,
sanctions, mandatory product recalls, enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, fines, damages, civil and criminal
penalties, or injunctions. If any governmental sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or
criminal litigation, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. In
addition, responding to any action will likely result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources
and an increase in professional fees. Enforcement actions and sanctions could harm our business, operating results and
financial condition.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could subject us to liability or impair our ability to
compete in international markets.

Our products are subject to U.S. export controls and may be exported outside the United States only with the required
level of export license or through an export license exception because we incorporate encryption technology into our
products. In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain encryption technology and have enacted laws
that could limit our ability to distribute our products or our end-customers’ ability to implement our products in those
countries. Changes in our products or changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction
of our products in international markets, prevent our end-customers with international operations from deploying our
products throughout their global systems or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our products to certain
countries altogether. Any change in export or import regulations or related legislation, shift in approach to the
enforcement or scope of existing regulations or change in the countries, persons or technologies targeted by such
regulations, could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products
to, existing or potential end-customers with international operations. Any decreased use of our products or limitation
on our ability to export or sell our products would likely adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition. We discovered that we inadvertently reported incorrect information to the U.S. Census Bureau when
reporting certain exports, although the underlying exports were authorized under the Export Administration
Regulations. We implemented corrective actions and filed a Voluntary Self Disclosure with the U.S. Census Bureau
regarding these technical violations. The Census Bureau closed the voluntary self-disclosure in October, 2014 without
imposition of any fines or penalties.

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations that could impose substantial costs upon us.
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Our company must comply with local, state, federal, and international environmental laws and regulations in the
countries in which we do business. We are also subject to laws, which restrict certain hazardous substances, including
lead, used in the construction of our products, such as the European Union Restriction on the Use of Hazardous
Substances in electrical and electronic equipment directive. We are also subject to the European Union Directive,
known as the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive, or WEEE Directive, which requires producers of
certain electrical and electronic equipment to properly label products, register as a WEEE producer, and provide for
the collection, disposal, and recycling of waste electronic products. Failure to comply with these environmental
directives and other environmental laws could result in the imposition of fines and penalties, inability to sell covered
products in certain countries, the loss of revenue, or subject us to third-party property damage or personal injury
claims, or require us to incur investigation, remediation or engineering costs. Our operations and products will be
affected by future environmental laws and regulations, but we cannot predict the ultimate impact of any such future
laws and regulations at this time.
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Our products must conform to industry standards in order to be accepted by end-customers in our markets.

Generally, our products comprise only a part of a data center. The servers, network, software and other components
and systems of a data center must comply with established industry standards in order to interoperate and function
efficiently together. We depend on companies that provide other components of the servers and systems in a data
center to support prevailing industry standards. Often, these companies are significantly larger and more influential in
driving industry standards than we are. Some industry standards may not be widely adopted or implemented
uniformly, and competing standards may emerge that may be preferred by our end-customers. If larger companies do
not support the same industry standards that we do, or if competing standards emerge, market acceptance of our
products could be adversely affected and we may need to incur substantial costs to conform our products to such
standards, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

We are dependent on various information technology systems, and failures of or interruptions to those systems could
harm our business.

Many of our business processes depend upon our information technology systems, the systems and processes of third
parties, and on interfaces with the systems of third parties. If those systems fail or are interrupted, or if our ability to
connect to or interact with one or more networks is interrupted, our processes may function at a diminished level or
not at all. This could harm our ability to ship or support our products, and our financial results may be harmed.

In addition, reconfiguring or upgrading our information technology systems or other business processes in response to
changing business needs may be time-consuming and costly and is subject to risks of delay or failed deployment. To
the extent this impacts our ability to react timely to specific market or business opportunities, our financial results may
be harmed.

Future acquisitions we may undertake may not result in the financial and strategic goals that are contemplated at the
time of the transaction.

We may make acquisitions of complementary companies, products or technologies. With respect to any other future
acquisitions we may undertake, we may find that the acquired businesses, products or technologies do not further our
business strategy as expected, that we paid more than what the assets are later worth or that economic conditions
change, all of which may generate future impairment charges. Any future acquisitions may be viewed negatively by
customers, financial markets or investors. There may be difficulty integrating the operations and personnel of an
acquired business, and we may have difficulty retaining the key personnel of an acquired business. We may have
difficulty in integrating acquired technologies or products with our existing product lines. Any integration process
may require significant time and resources, and we may not be able to manage the process successfully. Our ongoing
business and management’s attention may be disrupted or diverted by transition or integration issues and the
complexity of managing geographically and culturally diverse locations. We may have difficulty maintaining uniform
standards, controls, procedures and policies across locations. We may experience significant problems or liabilities
associated with product quality, technology and other matters.

Our inability to successfully operate and integrate future acquisitions appropriately, effectively and in a timely
manner, or to retain key personnel of any acquired business, could have a material adverse effect on our revenue,

gross margin and expenses.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to limitation and may result in increased future
tax liability to us.
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Generally, a change of more than 50% in the ownership of a corporation’s stock, by value, over a three-year period
constitutes an ownership change for U.S. federal income tax purposes. An ownership change may limit a company’s
ability to use its net operating loss carryforwards attributable to the period prior to such change. In the event we have
undergone an ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if we earn net taxable income, our
ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to offset U.S. federal taxable income may become
subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us.
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Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other
tax returns could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions, and our domestic and
international tax liabilities will be subject to the allocation of expenses in differing jurisdictions. Our future effective
tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

echanges in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;

sexpected timing and amount of the release of tax valuation allowances;
eexpiration of, or detrimental changes in, research and development tax credit laws;
otax effects of stock-based compensation;

ecosts related to intercompany restructurings;

echanges in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles or interpretations thereof;
future earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than
anticipated earnings in countries where we have higher statutory tax rates. or

examinations by US federal, state or foreign jurisdictions that disagree with interpretations of tax rules and regulations
in regards to positions taken on tax filings

Changes in our effective tax rate could adversely affect our results of operations.

As our business grows, we are required to comply with increasingly complex taxation rules and practices. We are
subject to tax in multiple U.S. tax jurisdictions and in foreign tax jurisdictions as we expand internationally. The
development of our tax strategies requires additional expertise and may impact how we conduct our business. Our
future effective tax rates could be unfavorably affected by changes in, or interpretations of, tax rules and regulations in
the jurisdictions in which we do business, lapses of the availability of the U.S. research and development tax credit or
changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities. Furthermore, we provide for certain tax liabilities
that involve significant judgment. We are subject to the examination of our tax returns by federal, state and foreign tax
authorities, which could focus on our intercompany transfer pricing methodology as well as other matters. If our tax
strategies are ineffective or we are not in compliance with domestic and international tax laws, our financial position,
operating results and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Our business is subject to the risks of warranty claims, product returns, product liability, and product defects.

Real or perceived errors, failures or bugs in our products could result in claims by end-customers for losses that they
sustain. If end-customers make these types of claims, we may be required, or may choose, for customer relations or
other reasons, to expend additional resources in order to help correct the problem. Historically, the amount of
warranty claims has not been significant, but there are no assurances that the amount of such claims will not be
material in the future. Liability provisions in our standard terms and conditions of sale, and those of our resellers and
distributors, may not be enforceable under some circumstances or may not fully or effectively protect us from
customer claims and related liabilities and costs, including indemnification obligations under our agreements with
resellers, distributors or end-customers. The sale and support of our products also entail the risk of product liability
claims. We maintain insurance to protect against certain types of claims associated with the use of our products, but
our insurance coverage may not adequately cover any such claims. In addition, even claims that ultimately are
unsuccessful could result in expenditures of funds in connection with litigation and divert management’s time and
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other resources.

We are exposed to the credit risk of our distribution channel partners and end-customers, which could result in
material losses and negatively impact our operating results.

Most of our sales are on an open credit basis, with typical payment terms ranging from 30 to 90 days depending on
local customs or conditions that exist in the sale location. If any of the distribution channel partners or
end-customers responsible for a significant portion of our revenue becomes insolvent or suffers a deterioration in its
financial or business condition and is unable to pay for our products, our results of operations could be harmed.
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Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, a small number of stockholders, directors and their
affiliates may prevent new investors from influencing significant corporate decisions.

Our executive officers and directors, together with affiliated entities, hold 33.6% of our outstanding common stock as
of December31, 2014. Accordingly, these stockholders, acting together, have significant influence over the election of
our directors, over whether matters requiring stockholder approval are approved or disapproved and over our affairs in
general. The interests of these stockholders could conflict with your interests. These stockholders may also have an
interest in pursuing acquisitions, divestitures, financings or other transactions that, in their judgment, could enhance
their investments, even though such transactions might involve risks to you. In addition, this concentration of
ownership could have the effect of delaying or preventing a liquidity event such as a merger or liquidation of our
company.

We may need to raise additional funds in future private or public offerings, and such funds may not be available on
acceptable terms, if at all. If we do raise additional funds, existing stockholders will suffer dilution.

We may need to raise additional funds in private or public offerings, and these funds may not be available to us when
we need them or on acceptable terms, if at all. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or
convertible debt securities, you could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have
rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of our then-existing capital stock. Any debt financing secured by us
in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and
operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business
opportunities. If we cannot raise additional funds when we need them, our business and prospects could fail or be
materially and adversely affected.

The price of our common stock may be volatile, and the value of your investment could decline.

Technology stocks have historically experienced high levels of volatility. The trading price of our common stock
following the initial public offering has fluctuated substantially. Following the completion of the initial public
offering, the market price of our common stock has been higher or lower than the price you paid in the offering,
depending on many factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating
performance. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock. Factors

that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include the following:

announcements of new products, services or technologies, commercial relationships, acquisitions or other events by
us or our competitors;

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies in general and of companies in
our industry;

fluctuations in the trading volume of our shares or the size of our public float;

actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations;

whether our results of operations meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors;
actual or anticipated changes in the expectations of investors or securities analysts;
titigation or investigations involving us, our industry, or both;
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regulatory developments in the United States, foreign countries or both;
eeneral economic conditions and trends;

major catastrophic events;

sales of large blocks of our common stock; or

departures of key personnel.
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In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor
confidence, the trading price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, results of
operations or financial condition. The trading price of our common stock might also decline in reaction to events that
affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. In the past, following periods of
volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against
that company. The price of our common stock has been highly volatile since our IPO in March 2014, and in January
2015, a law suit alleging violations of securities laws was filed against us, our directors and certain of our executive
officers. This and any future securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention
and resources from our business. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales might occur,
could reduce the price that our common stock might otherwise attain and may dilute your voting power and your
ownership interest in us.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales
could occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and may make it more difficult for you to
sell your common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate. As of December 31, 2014, there were
approximately 5.0 million vested and exercisable options to purchase our common stock, in addition to the 61,376,690
common shares outstanding as of such date. All outstanding shares and all shares issuable upon exercise of
outstanding and vested options are freely tradable, subject in some cases to volume and other restrictions of Rules 144
and 701 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as well as our insider trading policy. In addition, holders of
certain shares of our outstanding common stock, including an aggregate of 9,427,846 shares held by funds affiliated
with Summit Partners, L.P. as of December 31, 2014, are entitled to rights with respect to registration of these shares
under the Securities Act pursuant to an investors’ rights agreement.

If these holders of our common stock, by exercising their registration rights, sell a large number of shares, they could
adversely affect the market price for our common stock. If we file a registration statement for the purposes of selling
additional shares to raise capital and are required to include shares held by these holders pursuant to the exercise of
their registration rights, our ability to raise capital may be impaired. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock
in the public market, or the perception that these sales could occur, could cause the market price of our common stock
to decline.

We are an emerging growth company, and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced disclosure
requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, and, for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may
choose to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but
not to “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to have our independent
registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and
proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive
compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an
emerging growth company for up to five years following the completion of our initial public offering. We will remain
an emerging growth company until the earliest of: (a) the last day of the year (i) following the fifth anniversary of the
completion of the initial public offering, (ii) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.0 billion, or
(iii) in which we qualify as a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held
by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30, or (b) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0
billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period. We cannot predict if investors will find
our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock
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less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and the price of our common stock may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until
such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this
accommodation allowing for delayed adoption of new or revised accounting standards, and, therefore, we will be
subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth
companies.

The requirements of being a public company increase costs and may divert management attention.

As a reporting company, we are incurring increased legal, accounting and other expenses, including costs associated
with SEC reporting and corporate governance requirements. These requirements include compliance with Section 404
and other provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules implemented by the SEC. In addition, our

management team is adapting

33

66



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

to the requirements of being a reporting company. The expenses incurred for reporting and corporate governance
purposes are significant. We expect these rules and regulations to substantially increase our legal and financial
compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are
creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities
more time consuming. Additionally, implementation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act of 2010, or the Dodd-Frank Act, may also cause us to incur additional costs and subject us to risks if we are
unable to fully comply. For instance, the SEC adopted new disclosure requirements in 2012 as part of implementation
of the Dodd-Frank Act regarding the use of conflict minerals mined from the Democratic Republic of Congo and
adjoining countries and procedures regarding a manufacturer’s efforts to prevent the sourcing of such conflict minerals.
The implementation of these requirements could adversely affect our costs and our relationships with customers and
suppliers. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack
of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by
regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher
costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest resources to
comply with evolving laws, regulations, and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and
administrative expense and a diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to
compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations, and standards differ from the activities
intended by regulatory or governing bodies, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our
business may be harmed.

The increased costs associated with operating as a reporting company may decrease our net income or increase our net
loss, and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or increase the prices of our products or
services. Additionally, if these requirements divert our management’s attention from other business concerns, they
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish inaccurate or
unfavorable research reports about our business, our share price and trading volume could decline.

The market for our common stock, to some extent, depends on the research and reports that securities or industry
analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the
analysts who cover us should downgrade our shares or change their opinion of our shares, our share price would likely
decline. If one or more of these analysts should cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on
us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which would cause our share price or trading volume to decline.

Our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage takeover attempts and lead to management entrenchment.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control
of our company. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors that are not nominated
by the current members of our board of directors or take other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our
management. These provisions include:

a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change
the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of

those shares, including preference and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to
significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;
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the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board
of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill
vacancies on our board of directors;

a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or
special meeting of our stockholders;

the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of our board of directors,
our Chief Executive Officer, our secretary, or a majority vote of our board of directors, which could
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delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of
directors;

the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66-2/3% of the voting power of all of the
then-outstanding shares of the voting stock, voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our restated
certificate of incorporation relating to the issuance of preferred stock and management of our business or our bylaws,
which may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to effect such amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

the ability of our board of directors, by majority vote, to amend the bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to
take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the bylaws to
facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or
not to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer
from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain
control of us.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.
These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting
stock, from merging or combining with us for a certain period of time.

Proceeds received from the sale of our capital stock may be used for general corporate purposes, and we may not use
such proceeds effectively.

We completed our public offering in March 2014. The principal purposes of the initial public offering were to raise
additional capital, to create a public market for our common stock and to facilitate our future access to the public
equity markets. We have not yet determined the specific allocation of the net proceeds that we received in the initial
public offering. Rather, we intend to use the net proceeds that we received in the initial public offering primarily for
general corporate purposes, including working capital, sales and marketing activities, research and development
activities, general and administrative matters and capital expenditures, and we may use a portion of the net proceeds
for the acquisition of, or investment in, business products, services or technologies that complement our business.
Accordingly, our management will have broad discretion over the specific use of the net proceeds that we receive in
the initial public offering and might not be able to obtain a significant return, if any, on investment of these net
proceeds. We cannot assure you that we will use such proceeds effectively. If we do not use the net proceeds that we
received in the initial public offering effectively, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be
harmed.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods, and other catastrophic events, and to
interruption by man-made problems such as acts of war and terrorism.

A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, a flood, or significant power outage could have a material
adverse impact on our business, operating results, and financial condition. Our corporate headquarters are located in
the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity. In addition, our two primary manufacturers are
located in Taiwan, which is near major earthquake fault lines and subject to typhoons during certain times of the year.
In the event of a major earthquake or typhoon, or other natural or man-made disaster, our manufacturers in Taiwan
may face business interruptions, which may impact quality assurance, product costs, and product supply and timing.
In the event our or our service providers’ information technology systems or manufacturing or logistics abilities are
hindered by any of the events discussed above, shipments could be delayed, resulting in missed financial targets, such
as revenue and shipment targets, and our operations could be disrupted, for the affected quarter or quarters. In
addition, cyber security attacks, acts of war or terrorism, or other geo-political unrest could cause disruptions in our
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business or the business of our supply chain, manufacturers, logistics providers, partners, or end-customers or the
economy as a whole. Any disruption in the business of our supply chain, manufacturers, logistics providers, partners
or end-customers that impacts sales at the end of a quarter could have a significant adverse impact on our quarterly
results. All of the aforementioned risks may be further increased if the disaster recovery plans for us and our suppliers
prove to be inadequate. To the extent that any of the above should result in delays or cancellations of customer orders,
or the delay in the manufacture, deployment or shipment of our products, our business, financial condition and
operating results would be adversely affected.
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We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We intend to retain any earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the future. In addition, our revolving credit facility currently restrict our ability to pay
dividends while this facility remains outstanding. As a result, you may only receive a return on your investment in our
common stock if the value of our common stock increases.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in San Jose, California, where we currently lease 79,803 square feet of space
under a lease agreement that expires in February 2020. We lease an additional 29,230 square feet of space in San Jose
under a lease agreement that expires in January 2016. We also lease space for offices internationally and for sales
offices in locations throughout the United States and various international locations, including China, Japan, the
United Kingdom, the Netherlands and Taiwan. We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our current
needs. We intend to expand our facilities or add new facilities as we add employees and enter new geographic
markets. We believe that alternative or additional space suitable for our requirements will be available as needed to
accommodate ongoing operations and any such growth. We do however expect to incur additional expenses in
connection with any such new or expanded facilities.

We lease office space for headquarters, manufacturing, operations, research and engineering, distribution, marketing,
sales and customer support at 13 locations in the U.S. and approximately 28 locations throughout the world, including
China, Japan, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Korea, Taiwan and Singapore.

We consider these current facilities suitable and adequate to meet our requirements.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have been and may currently be involved in various legal proceedings, the outcomes of which are not within our
complete control or may not be known for prolonged periods of time. Management is required to assess the
probability of loss and amount of such loss, if any, in preparing our consolidated financial statements. We evaluate the
likelihood of a potential loss from legal proceedings to which we are a party. We record a liability for such claims
when a loss is deemed probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment may be required in
the determination of both probability and whether an exposure is reasonably estimable. Our judgments are subjective
based on the status of the legal proceedings, the merits of our defenses and consultation with in-house and outside
legal counsel. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to pending
claims and may revise our estimates. Due to the inherent uncertainties of the legal processes in the multiple
jurisdictions in which we operate, our judgments may be materially different than the actual outcomes, which could
have material adverse effects on our business, financial conditions and results of operations.

Additional information with respect to this Item may be found in Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies, in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated by reference.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.

PART II

71



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market for Registrant's Common Equity
Our common stock has been quoted on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol “ATEN” since

March 21, 2014. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our stock. The following table sets forth for the
indicated periods, the high and low sale prices of our common stock.
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Fiscal Year 2014 Quarter Ended
March 31,  June 30, September  December

30, 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014
Low $14.01 $10.63 $9.11 $3.93
High $16.21 $15.22 $13.70 $8.66

The closing sale price of our common stock on the NYSE was $4.33 and $4.36 on February 27, 2015 and December
31, 2014. As of February 27, 2015, there were approximately 261 stockholders of record. Because many shares of our
common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total
number of stockholders represented by these holders of record.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future
earnings and do not expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any
determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on
a number of factors, including our earnings, capital requirements and overall financial conditions. Currently, the
agreement for our revolving credit facility contains restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

See Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” for
information regarding securities authorized for issuance.
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Comparison of Stockholder Return

This graph compares, for the period ended December 31, 2014, the cumulative total return on our common stock, the
NASDAQ Composite Index and the Russell 3000 Index. The graph assumes $100 was invested on March 21, 2014 in
the common stock of A10 Networks, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index and the Russell 3000 Index, and assumes
the reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of
future stock price performance.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth the selected consolidated financial data for each of the years in the five-year period
ended December 31, 2014. The selected consolidated financial data is qualified in its entirety and should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and other financial information included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have derived the consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 from
the consolidated audited financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemental Data in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 were derived from the
consolidated audited financial statements that are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Income (loss) from operations

Net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents

Working capital (deficit)

Total assets

Total debt

Deferred revenue, net-current and long-term
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Convertible preferred stock

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
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Year Ended December 31,

2014

2013 2012

(in thousands)

$179,507
$42,937
$136,570
$(30,271 )

$(35,870 )

$91,905
$100,656
$186,980
$—
$57,220
$—

$—
$96,565

$141,738  $120,066
$33,396 $24,510
$108,342  $95,556
$(22,843 ) $(87,020 )

$(29,078 ) $(90,150 )

$20,793 $23,867
$15,122 $(61,460 )
$93,794 $76,794
$20,000 $5,631
$41,232 $27,707
$81,426 $—
$44,749 $41,737
$(134,880) $(111,892)

2011

$91,278
$18,475
$72,803
$9,013

$7,304

$19,048
$19,064
$55,433
$1,654
$18,050
$—
$41,665

2010

$55,302
$12,256
$43,046
$6,672

$5,211

$6,877
$8,437
$36,198
$4,159
$14,463
$—
$41,648

$(25,590 ) $(34,829 )
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ITEM 7 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
"OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in

conjunction with Item 6. “Selected Financial Data,” our consolidated financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this document. In addition to historical information, the discussion below contains certain

forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements include, but are not
limited to, those matters discussed under the heading ‘“Forward-looking Statements.” Our actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated by these forward looking statements due to various factors, including, but not limited
to, those set forth under Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere in this document.

Overview

We are a leading provider of application networking technologies. Our solutions enable service providers, enterprises,
Web giants and government organizations to accelerate, secure and optimize the performance of their data center
applications and networks. Our products are built on our Advanced Core Operating System (" ACOS") platform of
advanced network technologies, which is designed to enable our products to deliver substantially greater performance
and security relative to prior generation application networking products. Our software based ACOS architecture also
provides the flexibility that enables us to expand our business to offer additional products to solve a growing array of
networking and security challenges arising from increased Internet cloud and mobile computing.

We currently offer three software based advanced application networking solutions. These are Application Delivery
Controllers ("ADCs") to optimize data center performance, Carrier Grade Network Address Translation ("CGN") to
provide address and protocol translation services for service provider networks, and a Distributed Denial of Service
Threat Protection System ("TPS") for network-wide security protection. We deliver these solutions both on optimized
hardware appliances and as virtual appliances across our Thunder Series and AX Series product families.

We derive revenue from sales of products and related support services. Product revenues are generated primarily by
sales of hardware appliances with perpetual licenses to our embedded software solutions. We generate services
revenue primarily from sales of maintenance and support contracts. Our end-customers predominantly purchase
maintenance and support in conjunction with purchases of our products.

We sell our products globally to service providers and enterprises that depend on data center applications and
networks to generate revenue and manage operations efficiently. Our end-customers operate in a variety of industries,
including telecommunications, technology, industrial, retail, financial and education. Since inception, our customer
base has grown rapidly. As of December 31, 2014, we had sold products to approximately 3,900 customers across 71
countries.

We sell substantially all of our solutions through our high-touch sales organization as well as distribution channel
partners, including distributors, value added resellers and system integrators, and fulfill nearly all orders globally
through such partners. We believe this sales approach allows us to obtain the benefits of channel distribution, such as
expanding our market coverage, while still maintaining face-to-face relationships with our end-customers. We
outsource the manufacturing of our hardware products to original design manufacturers. We perform quality assurance
and testing at our San Jose, California facilities, as well as at our manufacturers’ locations. We warehouse and deliver
the majority of our products out of our San Jose warehouse. We also outsource warehousing and delivery to
third-party logistics providers in some regions.

During 2014, 48% of our total revenue was generated from the United States, 26% from Japan, and 26% from other
geographical regions. During the year ended December 31, 2013, 48% of our total revenue was generated from the
United States, 28% from Japan and 24% from other geographical regions. For the years ended December 2014, 2013
and 2012, our enterprise customers accounted for 54%, 53% and 47% of our total revenue. For the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, our service provider customers accounted 53%, 47% and 46% of our total
revenue.

As a result of the nature of our target market and the current stage of our development, a substantial portion of our
revenue comes from a limited number of large end-customers, including service providers, in any period. During the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, purchases from our ten largest end-customers accounted for

76



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

approximately 37%, 43% and 49% of our total revenue. Sales to these large end-customers have typically been
characterized by large but irregular purchases with long sales cycles. The timing of these purchases and the delivery of
the purchased products is difficult to predict. As a consequence, any acceleration or delay in anticipated product
purchases by or deliveries to our largest end-customers could materially impact our revenue and operating results in
any quarterly period and cause our quarterly revenue and operating results to fluctuate from quarter to quarter and also
be difficult to predict.
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We intend to continue to invest for long-term growth. We have invested and expect to continue to invest in our
product development efforts to deliver new products and additional features in our current products to address
customer needs. In addition, we expect to continue to expand our global sales and marketing organizations, expand
our distribution channel partner programs and increase awareness of our solutions on a global basis. Additionally we
will be investing in general and administrative resources to meet the requirements to operate as a public company. Our
investments in growth in these areas may affect short-term profitability.

Results of Operations

The following tables provide a summary of our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December
31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 as derived from our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 Financial
Statements and Supplemental Data in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (in thousands, except for percentages).

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 Net Change
Percent of Percent of
Amount Total Amount Total Amount Percent
Revenue Revenue

Revenue:
Products $134,486 74.9 % $112,045 79.1 % $22,441 20.0 %
Services 45,021 25.1 % 29,693 20.9 % 15,328 51.6 %
Total revenue 179,507 100.0 % 141,738 100.0 % 37,769 26.6 %
Cost of revenue:
Products 31,084 17.3 % 25,284 17.9 % 5,800 22.9 %
Services 11,853 6.6 % 8,112 5.7 % 3,741 46.1 %
Total cost of revenue 42,937 23.9 % 33,396 23.6 % 9,541 28.6 %
Gross profit 136,570 76.1 % 108,342 76.4 % 28,228 26.1 %
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 96,837 53.9 % 70,756 49.9 % 26,081 36.9 %
Research and development 49,903 27.8 % 33,348 23.5 % 16,555 49.6 %
General and administrative 22,938 12.8 % 15,556 11.0 % 7,382 47.5 %
Litigation expense (benefit) (2,837 ) (1.6 Y% 11,525 8.1 % (14,362 ) (1246 Y%
Total operating expenses 166,841 92.9 % 131,185 92.5 % 35,656 27.2 %
Loss from operations (30,271 ) (16.9 Y% (22,843 ) (16.1 V% (7,428 ) (32.5 )%
Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense (1,028 ) (0.6 Y% (1,495 ) (1.1 )% 467 31.2 %
Interest income and other income (1.914 ) (11 V% (2.118 ) (1015 )% 204 96 %
(expense), net
Total other income (expense), net (2,942 ) (1.6 Y% (3,613 ) (2.5 )% 671 18.6 %
{;‘:{S;before provision forincome 33513 ) (185 )4 (26456 ) (186 )% (6757 ) (255 )%
Provision for income taxes 1,507 0.8 % 640 0.5 % 867 135.5 %
Net loss $(34,720 ) (19.3 Y% $(27,096 ) (19.1 Y% $(7,624 ) (28.1 )%
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Revenue:

Products

Services

Total revenue

Cost of revenue:

Products

Services

Total cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing

Research and development
General and administrative
Litigation expense (benefit)
Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense

Interest income and other income
(expense), net

Total other income (expense), net
Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net loss
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Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012
Percent of
Amount Total Amount
Revenue
$112,045 79.1% $99,891
29,693 20.9% 20,175
141,738 100.0% 120,066
25,284 17.9% 18,619
8,112 5.7% 5,891
33,396 23.6% 24,510
108,342 76.4% 95,556
70,756 49.9% 51,323
33,348 23.5% 25,513
15,556 11.0% 10,225
11,525 8.1% 95,515
131,185 92.5% 182,576
(22,843 ) (16.1)% (87,020 )
(1,495 ) (1.1D)% (135 )
(2,118 ) (1.H)% (2,237 )
(3,613 ) (2.5)% (2,372 )
(26,456 ) (18.7)% (89,392 )
640 0.5% 758
$(27,006 ) (19.1)% $(90,150 )

Percent of
Total
Revenue

83.2%
16.8%
100.0%

15.5%
4.9%

20.4%
79.6%

42.7%
21.3%
8.5%
79.6%
152.2%
(72.5)%

0.1)%

1.9%

2.0)%
(74.5)%
0.6%
(75.1)

Net Change

Amount

$12,154
9,518
21,672

6,665
2,221
8,886
12,786

19,433
7,835

5,331
(83,990 )
(51,391 )
64,177

(1,360 )

119

(1,241 )
62,936
(118 )
$63,054

Percent

12.2%
47.2%
18.1%

35.8%
37.7%
36.3%
13.4%

37.9%
30.7%
52.1%
(87.9)%
(28.1)%
73.7%

(1,007.4)%

5.3%

(52.3)%
70.4%
(15.6)%
69.9%
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Revenue

Our products revenue primarily consists of revenue from sales of our hardware appliances upon which our software is
installed. Such software includes our ACOS software platform plus one of our ADC, CGN or TPS solutions. Purchase
of a hardware appliance includes a perpetual license to the included software. We recognize products revenue at the
time of shipment, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. As a percentage of revenue, our
products revenue may vary from quarter to quarter based on, among other things, the timing of orders and delivery of
products, cyclicality and seasonality, changes in currency exchange rates and the impact of significant transactions
with unique terms and conditions.
We generate services revenue from sales of post contract support, or PCS, which is bundled with sales of products and
professional services. We offer tiered PCS services under renewable, fee-based PCS contracts, primarily including
technical support, hardware repair and replacement parts, and software upgrades on a when-and-if-released basis. We
recognize services revenue ratably over the term of the PCS contract, which is typically one year, but can be up to five
years. We expect our services revenue to increase in absolute dollars as we expand our installed base.
A summary of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is as follows (in thousands,
except for percentages):

Years Ended December 31,  Net Change

2014 2013 Amount Percent
Revenue:
Products $134,486 $112,045 $22.441 20.0%
Services 45,021 29,693 15,328 51.6%
Total revenue $179,507 $141,738 $37,769 26.6%
Revenue by geographic location:
United States $85,325 $68,127 $17,198 25.2%
Japan 45,787 39,581 6,206 15.7%
Asia Pacific, excluding Japan 20,434 15,052 5,382 35.8%
EMEA 19,254 12,087 7,167 59.3%
Other 8,707 6,891 1,816 26.4%
Total revenue $179,507 $141,738 $37,769 26.6%

Years Ended December 31,  Net Change

2013 2012 Amount Percent
Revenue:
Products $112,045 $99,891 $12,154 12.2%
Services 29,693 20,175 9,518 47.2%
Total revenue $141,738 120,066 $21,672 18.1%
Revenue by geographic location:
United States $68,127 $43,389 $24,738 57.0%
Japan 39,581 58,653 (19,072 ) (32.5)%
Asia Pacific, excluding Japan 15,052 10,315 4,737 45.9%
EMEA 12,087 6,469 5,618 86.8%
Other 6,391 1,240 5,651 455.7%
Total revenue $141,738 $120,066 $21,672 18.1%

Total revenue increased by $37.8 million in 2014 compared to 2013, which consisted of a $22.4 million increase in
product revenue and $15.3 million increase in services revenue. Revenue from enterprise customers and service
providers increased 30% and 23% compared to revenue in 2013.
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Products revenue increased $22.4 million, or 20% in 2014 compared to 2013 which is primarily attributable to greater
adoption of our solutions by new and existing customers. In addition, there has been a rapid adoption of our Thunder
Series products introduced in the second quarter of 2013 which accounted for the majority of products revenue in the
second half of 2014. Our Thunder Series of products include our ADC, CGN and TPS product lines.

Services revenue increased $15.3 million or 52% in 2014 compared to the same periods in 2013 primarily attributable
to the increase in PCS sales in connection with our increasing installed customer base as well as increases in our
professional services revenue. Over 95% of our end-customers purchase one of our maintenance service products
when purchasing our hardware products. During 2014, services revenue recognized from contracts existing prior to
the start of 2014 grew by 50% as compared to 2013 services revenue related to contracts existing prior to 2012.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, 48%, or $85.3 million of total revenue was generated from the United States,
25% growth compared to 2013. During 2014, 26%, or $45.8 million of total revenue was generated from Japan, a 16%
increase compared to 2013. We continue to see growth in our EMEA and Asia Pacific regions, excluding Japan
regions with total revenue increasing by 59% to $19.3 million and 36% to $20.4 million in 2014 compared to 2013
primarily due to our efforts to expand our presence in these regions.

Revenue growth from the year ended December 31, 2012 to 2013 reflects increased demand for our products and
related support and services. The increase in products revenue was driven by increased sales of our products primarily
to existing customers. We believe the Brocade litigation affected our revenues during both of these periods, but we
believe this effect was particularly evident in the year ended December 31, 2013, due to the uncertainty created by
injunctions issued in the matter. Although such injunctions did not prevent us from selling our redesigned products,
certain customers informed us that they would not purchase any of our products until we settled the dispute. The
settlement of the Brocade litigation did not result in any material restrictions to our business.

The increase in services revenue was related to the increase in PCS sales in connection with the increased unit sales of
our hardware products, and the resulting increase in our installed base and the renewals of PCS on our installed
customer base. During 2013, services revenue recognized from contracts existing prior to the start of 2013 grew by
59% as compared to 2012 services revenue related to contracts existing prior to 2012. Services revenue related to new
product orders during 2013 accounted for 22% of total services revenue during the year.

In the year ended December 31, 2013, U.S. revenue was positively affected by a few large orders from existing
customers purchasing our products for significant new project deployments within their organizations. These few
large orders from existing customers accounted for 10% of revenue for 2013. Similarly, we experienced a decrease in
revenue in Japan primarily due to certain end-customers deploying and absorbing products in 2013 that were
purchased in 2012 to accommodate anticipated growth in data traffic. Revenue growth in other geographic locations
was primarily due to our continued investment in increasing the size of our sales force and the number of distribution
channel partners in those regions.

Although we experienced a sequential improvement in spending from North America service providers during the
three months ended December 31, 2014, we remain cautious regarding a possible slowdown in this spending, which
may lead to continued near term fluctuation in our products revenue and total revenue. We expect services revenue to
increase sequentially into the foreseeable future as we increase our installed base.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue

Cost of products revenue is primarily comprised of cost of third-party manufacturing services and cost of component
inventory for the hardware component of our products. Cost of products revenue also includes warehouse personnel
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costs, shipping costs, inventory write-downs, certain allocated facilities and information technology infrastructure
costs, and expenses associated with logistics and quality control.

Cost of services revenue is primarily comprised of personnel costs for our technical support, training and professional
service teams. Cost of services revenue also includes the costs of inventory used to provide hardware replacements to

end-customers under PCS contracts and certain allocated facilities and information technology infrastructure costs.

44

82



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

A summary of our cost of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is as follows (in thousands,
except for percentages):
Years Ended December 31,  Net Change

2014 2013 Amount Percent
Cost of revenue:
Products $31,084 $25,284 $5,800 22.9 %
Services 11,853 8,112 3,741 46.1 %
Total cost of revenue $42.937 $33,396 $9,541 28.6 %
Years Ended December 31,  Net Change
2013 2012 Amount Percent
Cost of revenue:
Products $25,284 $18,619 $6,665 35.8 %
Services 8,112 5,891 2,221 37.7 %
Total cost of revenue $33,396 $24,510 $8,886 36.3 %

Gross Margin

Gross margin may vary and be unpredictable from period to period due to a variety of factors. These may include the
mix of revenue from each of our regions, the mix of our products sold within a period, discounts provided to
customers, discounts on early sales of new products to gain market penetration, inventory write-downs and
international currency exchange rates.

Our sales are generally denominated in U.S. dollars, however, in Japan they are denominated in the Japanese yen.
Changes in the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and Japanese yen will therefore affect our revenue and gross
margin. For example, in the second half of 2014, gross margin was adversely impacted by an unfavorable exchange
rate fluctuation between the U.S. dollar and the Japanese yen. In addition, we had an increase in our inventory reserve
primarily due to obsolete inventory on hand. Any of the factors noted above can generate either a positive or negative
impact on gross margin as compared to another period. Although our 2014 gross margin decreased compared to the
prior years, we expect our gross margin to be consistent with our historical average in the future.
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A summary of gross profit and gross margin for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is as follows (in
thousands, except for gross margins):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 Net Change

Amount Gross Margin  Amount Gross Margin  Amount Gross Margin
Gross profit:
Products $103,402 76.9% $86,761 77.4% $16,641 (0.5)%
Services 33,168 73.7% 21,581 72.7% 11,587 1.0%
Total gross profit $136,570 76.1% $108,342 76.4% $28,228 (0.3)%

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Net Change

Amount Gross Margin Amount Gross Margin  Amount Gross Margin
Gross profit:
Products $86,761 77.4% $81,272 81.4% $5,489 (3.9)%
Services 21,581 72.7% 14,284 70.8% 7,297 1.9%
Total gross profit $108,342 76.4% $95,556 79.6% $12,786 (3.2)%

Products gross margin decreased 0.5 percentage points in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily due to an unfavorable
shift in our geographical sales mix and a devaluation of the Japanese yen against the U.S. dollar. We also experienced
higher sales volumes from geographic regions with generally higher gross margins in 2013 compared to 2014, which
benefited our gross margin in 2013.

Services gross margin increased 1.0 percentage point in 2014 compared to 2013, as a result of growth in services
revenue and partially offset by the impact of increases in cost of services. Our services revenue recognized from our
installed base with existing contracts prior to 2014 grew by 50% compared to revenue generated during 2013. The
increase in cost of services was primarily a result of our investment to expand our service and support group in
anticipation of future growth in our installed base. We increased our average support, training and professional
services headcount by 47% during 2014 as compared to 2013.

The decrease of 4.0 percentage points in product gross margin from the year ended December 31, 2012 to the year
ended December 31, 2013 was primarily due to a higher than historical gross margin in the year ended December 31,
2012, related to higher than historical volumes coming from geographic regions with generally higher gross margins.
In the year ended December 31, 2013, the geographical revenue mix returned to historical levels, as did gross margins.
Additionally, in 2013 there was a modest negative impact to gross margin due to changes to the Dollar/Yen exchange
rate. The increase of 1.9 percentage points in service gross margin was primarily a result of a 47% growth in services
revenue, while cost

of services revenue increased by only 38% due to increased operating efficiencies in our service and support group.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development, general and administrative and
litigation. The largest component of our operating expenses is personnel costs which consist of wages, benefits,
bonuses, and, with respect to sales and marketing expenses, sales commissions. Personnel costs also include
stock-based compensation and travel expenses. We expect personnel costs to continue to increase in absolute dollars
as we hire new employees to continue to grow our business.
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A summary of our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is as follows (in
thousands, except for percentages):
Years Ended December 31, Net Change

2014 2013 Amount Percent
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing $96,837 $70,756 $26,081 36.9%
Research and development 49,903 33,348 16,555 49.6%
General and administrative 22,938 15,556 7,382 47.5%
Litigation expense (benefit) (2,837 ) 11,525 (14,362 ) (124.6)%
Total operating expenses $166,841 $131,185 $35,656 27.2%

Years Ended December 31, Net Change

2013 2012 Amount Percent
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing $70,756 $51,323 $19,433 37.9%
Research and development 33,348 25,513 7,835 30.7%
General and administrative 15,556 10,225 5,331 52.1%
Litigation expense (benefit) 11,525 95,515 (83,990 ) (87.9%
Total operating expenses $131,185 $182,576 $(51,391 ) (28.1)%

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses are our largest functional category of total operating expense. These expenses primarily
consist of personnel costs related to our employees engaged in sales and marketing activities. Sales and marketing
expenses also include the cost of marketing programs, trade shows, consulting services, promotional materials,
demonstration equipment, depreciation and certain allocated facilities and information technology infrastructure costs.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $26.1 million or 37% in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily attributable to a
$17.2 million increase in personnel and related costs, which includes a $3.6 million increase in stock-based
compensation. The increase in personnel related costs was a result of higher sales and marketing headcount as we
experienced a 26% increase in average headcount during 2014 compared to 2013. The increase was also attributable to
a $2.9 million increase in marketing and promotion costs associated with advertising and trade shows, and a $2.1
million increase in professional services fees, as we increased our sales and marketing efforts to grow our revenue and
expand our international sales presence. Depreciation expense and allocated facilities and information technology
infrastructure costs also increased by $2.2 million as a result of higher headcount and increased depreciation expense
on our evaluation equipment.

Sales and marketing expense increased $19.4 million in 2013 compared to 2012 primarily attributable to a $15.4
million increase in personnel and related costs, which includes a $7.3 million increase in employee compensation, a
$6.1 million increase in commission and bonus expenses, a $0.9 million increase in stock-based compensation and a
$1.1 million increase in travel costs, as a result of an increase in sales and marketing headcount. The increase was also
attributable to a $1.5 million increase in marketing and promotion costs associated with advertising and trade shows,
as we increased our sales and marketing efforts to grow our revenue.

We expect our sales and marketing expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars as we increase the size of our
sales and marketing organization and as we increase our sales presence in existing countries and expand into new
countries.
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Research and Development

Research and development efforts are focused on new product development and on developing additional
functionality for our existing products. These expenses consist of personnel costs, and to a lesser extent, prototype
materials, depreciation and certain allocated facilities and information technology infrastructure costs. We expense
research and development costs as incurred. We expect our research and development expenses to increase in absolute
dollars as we continue to develop new products and enhance our existing products.

Research and development expenses increased $16.6 million in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily attributed to a $14.0
million increase in personnel and related costs, which includes a $2.6 million increase in stock-based compensation.
The increase in personnel related costs was a result of higher research and development headcount as we experienced
a 26% increase in average headcount during 2014 compared to 2013. In addition, the increases in research and
development expenses also reflected a $1.0 million increase in professional services fees largely attributable to
certification fees on our new products and a $1.2 million increase in depreciation and allocated facilities and
information technology infrastructure costs in 2014 compared to 2013.

Research and development expenses increased $7.8 million in 2013 compared to 2012 primarily attributable to a $7.2
million increase in personnel and related costs, which includes a $5.8 million increase in employee compensation, a
$0.5 million increase in bonuses and a $0.6 million increase in stock-based compensation, as a result of an increase in
research and development headcount as we continued our efforts to develop new products and additional functionality
for our existing products. The increase also reflected a $1.6 million increase in depreciation and allocated facilities
and information technology infrastructure costs.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, professional fees and facility costs. General
and administrative personnel costs include executive, finance, human resources, information technology, facility and
legal (excluding litigation) related expenses. Professional fees consist primarily of fees for outside accounting, tax,
legal, recruiting and other administrative services. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in
absolute dollars due to the additional legal, accounting, insurance, investor relations and other costs that we will incur
as a public company, as well as other costs associated with growing our business.

General and administrative expenses increased $7.4 million from 2013 to 2014 primarily attributed to a $3.3 million
increase in personnel related costs which includes a $1.0 million increase in stock-based compensation. The increase
in personnel related costs was a result of higher general and administrative headcount as we experienced a 28%
increase in average headcount during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the same period in 2013. In
addition, professional services costs increased by $3.2 million in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily related to
increased general legal and consultant fees in connection with scaling our organization to support increased business
activity and costs associated with being a public company.

General and administrative expenses increased by $5.3 million in 2013 compared to 2012 primarily attributable to
higher professional services costs of $2.5 million, which related to increased general legal fees, audit fees, finance and
accounting consulting fees, human resources and I'T implementation services, in connection with scaling our
organization to support increased business activity and preparing for an initial public offering. The increase was also
attributable to a $1.8 million increase in personnel and related costs, including bonuses and stock-based compensation,
and a $0.4 million increase in bad debt expense.

Litigation Expense (Benefit)
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Litigation expense (benefit) is comprised of legal expenses incurred related to litigation and, if applicable, charges for
litigation reserves. Litigation expenses consist of professional fees incurred in defending ourselves against litigation
matters and are expensed as incurred when professional services are provided. The litigation reserve, if any, consists
of accruals we make related to estimated losses in pending legal proceedings. Litigation reserves, if any, are adjusted
as we change our estimates or make payments in damages or settlements.
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Litigation expense decreased $14.4 million, from $11.5 million litigation expense in 2013 to $2.8 million in litigation
benefit in 2014. The $2.8 million of litigation benefit in the year ended December 31, 2014 is primarily comprised of a
benefit of $7.0 million from a settlement agreement with one of our legal services providers which resulted in the
reduction of a previously accrued contractual liability, partially offset by other litigation expenses of $4.2 million.

The $11.5 million litigation expense in 2013 primarily consisted of $7.3 million in costs associated with the Brocade
litigation which was settled in May 2013, and $3.4 million of legal expenses incurred in connection with the Radware
litigation.

We recognized $95.5 million of litigation expense in 2012 which primarily consisted of $94.3 million of Brocade
litigation related expenses, including $75.0 million related to the Brocade litigation settlement, and $19.3 million in
professional legal service fees related to litigation defense costs primarily for the Brocade litigation.

Interest Expense

Interest expense consists primarily of interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs on our debt obligations.
At December 31, 2014, we have no outstanding balances on our credit facility. We expect to continue to incur
commitment fees associated with the undrawn balance of our credit facility. At such time we choose to draw down on
the credit facility, we would reduce the commitment fees accrued and increase the interest on outstanding balances.

Interest expense decreased $0.5 million in 2014 compared to 2013 due to a $1.1 million interest charge related to an
unsecured convertible promissory note we issued to Brocade in 2013, partially offset by a $0.3 million contingent
payment in 2014 due upon completion of the initial public offering to a lender and $0.2 million higher amortization of
debt issuance costs related to our revolving credit facility recorded in 2014.

Interest expense increased by $1.4 million in 2013 compared to 2012 due primarily to the $1.1 million in interest
expense we incurred on an unsecured convertible promissory note we issued to Brocade in July 2013. We repaid the
note in full in September 2013. The increase was also attributable to interest expense and amortization of debt
issuance costs totaling $0.3 million related to the establishment and subsequent drawdown of $25.0 million of our
revolving credit facility in September 2013.

Interest Income and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest income consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents balances. Other income
(expense) consists primarily of foreign currency exchange gains and losses and, through February 2013, fair value
adjustments related to then-outstanding warrants to purchase our convertible preferred stock. Foreign currency
exchange gains and losses relate to transactions and asset and liability balances denominated in currencies other than
the U.S. dollar. We expect our foreign currency gains and losses to continue to fluctuate in the future due to changes
in foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest income and other income (expense), net, decrease by $0.2 million in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily
attributable to a slight decrease in foreign exchange losses.

Interest income and other income (expense), net changed by $0.1 million in 2013 compared to 2012 due primarily to
an increase of $0.7 million in foreign currency exchange losses as a result of the Japanese yen weakening against the
U.S. dollar in 2013 offset by a decrease of $0.8 million non-cash expense related to a change in the value of
convertible preferred stock warrants outstanding through their exercise or expiration in February 2013.

Provision for Income Taxes
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We recorded income tax provision of $1.5 million, $0.6 million and $0.8 million for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012. Our provision for income taxes consists primarily of income and withholding taxes in foreign
jurisdictions in which we conduct business, state income taxes in the United States and the effect of unrecognized tax
benefits. We estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves
determining income tax expense together with calculating the deferred income tax expense related to temporary
differences resulting from the differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. We maintain a full
valuation allowance against our U.S. deferred tax assets as management does not believe that it is more likely than not
that said deferred taxes will be realized. As a result, our provision for income taxes primarily relates only to foreign
taxes at this time.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Prior to our initial public offering in March 2014, we had financed our operations primarily through private
placements of our convertible preferred stock, redeemable convertible preferred stock, debt financings and cash flows
derived from the sale of our products and PCS contracts. In March 2014, we completed our initial public offering,
whereby we sold 12,500,000 common shares at $15.00 per share (3,500,000 of which were offered by selling
stockholders) and received net cash proceeds of $120.3 million after underwriting discounts and commissions and
offering expenses. As of December 31, 2014, cash and cash equivalents were $91.9 million, including $2.7 million
held outside the United States in our foreign subsidiaries. We currently do not have any plans to repatriate our
earnings from our foreign operations. As of December 31, 2014, we had working capital of $100.7 million, an
accumulated deficit of $181.8 million and total stockholders' equity of $96.6 million.

We plan to continue to invest for long-term growth and anticipate our investment will continue to increase in absolute
dollars. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and our cash inflow from operations will be sufficient
to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on
many factors, including our growth rate, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the timing and extent of
spending to support development efforts, the introduction of new and enhanced product and service offerings and the
continuing market acceptance of our products. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources,
we may not be able to raise such financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional
capital when desired, our business, operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected.

In addition, as described in the section "Legal Proceedings" we are currently involved in ongoing litigation. Any
adverse settlements or judgments in any litigation could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations,
cash balances and cash flows in the period in which such events occur.

Credit Agreement

In September 2013, we entered into a credit agreement with Royal Bank of Canada, acting as administrative agent and
lender, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A. as lenders. The credit agreement provides a
three-year $35.0 million revolving credit facility, which includes a maximum $10.0 million letter of credit facility. As
of December 31, 2013, we had outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility of $20.0 million, which was
paid in full in March 2014. The revolving credit facility matures on September 30, 2016.

Our obligations under the credit agreement are secured by a security interest on substantially all of our assets,
including our intellectual property. The credit agreement contains customary non-financial covenants, and also
requires us to comply with financial covenants. One financial covenant requires us to maintain a total leverage ratio,
which is defined as total consolidated debt divided by adjusted EBITDA (defined as earnings before interest expense,
tax expense, depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation, adjusted for certain other non-cash or
non-recurring income or expenses such as specified litigation settlement payments and litigation expenses) for the
trailing four quarters. In addition, we must maintain a minimum amount of liquidity based on our unrestricted cash
and availability under the revolving credit facility. The covenant requires us to maintain a minimum liquidity of $25.0
million provided that at least $10.0 million of such liquidity is comprised of unrestricted cash and cash

equivalents. The credit agreement includes customary events of default which, if triggered, could result in the
acceleration of our obligations under the revolving credit facility, the termination of any obligation by the lenders to
extend further credit and the right of the lenders to exercise their remedies as a secured creditor and foreclose upon the
collateral securing our obligation under the credit agreement; however, we also have the ability, in certain instances,
to cure non-compliance with the financial covenants through qualified equity contributions by certain holders of our
equity. Currently, the agreement for our revolving credit facility contains restrictions on our ability to pay

dividends. As of December 31, 2014, we had no outstanding balance on our credit facility and were in compliance
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Statements of Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flow related activities for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities $(30,538 ) $(25,133 ) $3,213
Investing activities (6,100 ) (2,993 ) (4,241 )
Financing activities 107,750 25,052 5,847
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $71,112 $(3,074 ) $4,819

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our cash provided by (used in) operating activities is driven primarily by sales of our products and, to a lesser extent,
by up-front payments from end-customers under PCS contracts. Our primary uses of cash from operating activities
have been for personnel-related expenditures, manufacturing costs, marketing and promotional expenses, costs related
to our facilities and litigation expenses. Our cash flows from operating activities will continue to be affected
principally by the extent to which we increase spending on personnel and sales and marketing activities, our working
capital requirements, and litigation expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, cash used in operating activities was $30.5 million, consisting of a net loss
of $34.7 million and a $12.2 million increase in net operating assets and liabilities offset by non-cash charges of $16.4
million. Our non-cash charges consisted primarily of stock-based compensation of $12.4 million and depreciation and
amortization of $10.1 million, partially offset by a $7.0 million gain on the settlement of a contractual liability. The
change in our net operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a $17.3 million increase in accounts receivable,
$8.9 million increase in inventory, $6.1 million decrease in accrued litigation expenses and a $3.0 million increase in
prepaid expense and other current assets, partially offset by a $16.0 million increase in deferred revenue and an $7.6
million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

The increase in accounts receivable was primarily due to increased billing and the timing of billing and cash
collection, as a higher portion of the December 31, 2014 outstanding accounts receivable were billed during the latter
part of the year compared to the December 31, 2013 outstanding accounts receivable. The decrease in accrued
litigation costs was primarily attributable to a $5.0 million payment we made under the terms of a settlement of a
contractual liability we reached with one of our legal services providers in May 2014 as well as lower litigation
activities in 2014 compared to 2013. The increase in inventory and prepaid and other current assets was attributable to
our year over year business growth. The increase in deferred revenue was due to billings of support contracts with
service terms that are typically one year. The increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was primarily
attributable to increases in accrued compensation costs due to higher headcount and increases as well as a result of
increased business activity levels and the timing of vendor invoice payments.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, cash used in operating activities was $25.1 million, consisting of a net loss
of $27.1 million and an $11.1 million decrease in net operating assets and liabilities offset by non-cash charges of
$13.1 million. Our non-cash charges consisted of depreciation and amortization of $7.1 million, stock-based
compensation of $4.3 million, and provision for doubtful accounts and sales returns of $1.8 million. The change in our
net operating assets and liabilities was due primarily to a $15.5 million increase in accounts receivable and a $8.5
million increase in inventory associated with the growth in our business combined with a $6.8 million decrease in
accrued litigation expenses due to the payment of the legal fees as a result of settling the Brocade litigation. These
changes were offset by a $13.5 million increase in deferred revenue due to increased sales of our PCS contracts, a $2.1
million increase in accrued liabilities attributable to higher accrued personnel costs due to growth in headcount and
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accrued tax liabilities, a $2.5 million increase in accounts payable due to the growth in our business activities, and a
$1.6 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets due to a decrease in prepaid state income taxes receivable.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, cash provided by operating activities was $3.2 million, consisting of a net
loss of $90.2 million offset by non-cash charges of $10.2 million and an $83.0 million increase in our net operating
assets and liabilities. Our non-cash charges consisted of depreciation and amortization of $5.3 million, stock-based
compensation of $2.5 million, provision for doubtful accounts and sales returns of $1.3 million and the change in fair
value of our convertible preferred stock warrant liability of $0.8 million. The change in our net operating assets and
liabilities was due primarily to the
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$83.6 million increase in accrued litigation expenses attributable to the $75.0 million Brocade settlement, a $9.7
million increase in deferred revenue due to increased sales of our PCS contracts and a $6.5 million increase in accrued
liabilities attributable to higher accrued personnel costs due to growth in headcount and accrued tax liabilities. These
changes were offset by a $9.1 million increase in inventory and a $7.3 million increase in accounts receivable
associated with the growth in our business along with a $2.6 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets due
to an increase in VAT and state income taxes receivable.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, cash used in investing activities was $6.1 million, $3.0
million and $4.2 million primarily for purchases of property and equipment.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2014, cash provided by financing activities was $107.8 million, primarily
consisting of $121.0 million in net proceeds from the issuance of our common stock to outside investors in our IPO
and $7.0 million proceeds from common stock issuance under our equity incentive plans, net of repurchases of
common stock, partially offset by a $20.0 million repayment of our revolving credit facility.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, cash provided by financing activities was $25.1 million, consisting of
$79.4 million in aggregate net proceeds from the issuance of our Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock to
outside investors, a net $14.0 million in net borrowings from our revolving credit facility, $0.8 million in proceeds
from the exercise of our Series C convertible preferred stock warrants and $2.4 million in proceeds from the exercise
of stock options, net of repurchases of common stock, offset by a $70.0 million in repayment of a promissory note. In
July 2013, in conjunction with our litigation settlement with Brocade, we entered into a convertible promissory note
with Brocade for $70.0 million, which we repaid in September 2013.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, cash provided by financing activities was $5.8 million, consisting of $15.0
million in proceeds from our revolving credit facility offset by $10.0 million in repayments on outstanding borrowings
on our revolving credit facility and term loan with SVB. We also received $0.8 million in proceeds from borrowings
under a capital lease for equipment, on which we made $0.2 million in repayments during 2012. We also received
$1.3 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options, net of repurchases of common stock

Contractual Obligations
Our contractual commitments will have an impact on our future liquidity. Our contractual obligations represent
material expected or contractually committed future obligations with terms in excess of one year. We believe that we

will be able to fund these obligations through cash generated from operations and from our existing cash balances.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014 (in thousands).

Payments Due By Period
Total Less Than 1to3 Years 3to5 Years More Than 5
1 Year Years
Operating lease obligations $10,736 $2,963 $4,123 $3,362 $288
Technology leasing agreement 700 140 280 280 —
Total $11,436 $3,103 $4,403 $3,642 $288

The contractual obligations table above excludes $2.2 million of tax liabilities related to uncertain tax positions
because we are unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of the timing of settlement, if any, of these future
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In September 2013, we entered into a credit agreement with Royal Bank of Canada, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and
Bank of America, N.A. as lenders. The credit agreement provides a three year $35.0 million revolving credit facility,
which includes a maximum $10.0 million letter of credit facility. As of December 31, 2013, we had outstanding
borrowings under the revolving credit facility of $20.0 million, which were repaid in March 2014. We have no
outstanding borrowings under this credit facility as of December 31, 2014.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014, we did not have any relationships with any unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities that would have been
established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited
purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States and include our accounts and the accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. The preparation of these
consolidated financial statements requires our management to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the applicable periods. We base our
estimates, assumptions and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the

circumstances. Different assumptions and judgments would change the estimates used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements, which, in turn, could change the results from those reported. We evaluate our
estimates, assumptions and judgments on an ongoing basis.

The critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments that we believe have the most significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements are described below.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses in the collection of accounts receivable. We
make estimates regarding the future ability of our customers to make required payments based on historical credit
experience and expected future trends. If actual customer financial conditions are less favorable than projected by
management, additional accounts receivable write offs may be necessary, which could unfavorably affect future
operating results.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from two sources: (i) products revenue, which includes hardware and perpetual software license
revenue; and (ii) services revenue, which include post contract support (“PCS”), professional services, and training.
Substantially all of our revenue is from sales of our products and services through distribution channel partners, such
as resellers and distributors. Revenue is recognized, net of taxes, when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery or performance has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and
collection is reasonably assured.

We define each of the four criteria above as follows:

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. Evidence of an arrangement consists of a purchase order issued
pursuant to the terms and conditions of a master sales agreement.
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Delivery or performance has occurred. We use shipping documents or written evidence of customer acceptance, when
applicable, to verify delivery or performance. We recognize product revenue upon transfer of title and risk of loss,
which primarily is upon shipment to customers. We do not have significant obligations for future performance, such
as customer acceptance provisions, rights of return, or pricing credits, associated with our sales.

The sales price is fixed or determinable. We assess whether the sales price is fixed or determinable based on payment
terms and whether the sales price is subject to refund or adjustment. Standard payment terms to customers range from
30 to 90 days.
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Collection is reasonably assured. We assess probability of collection on a customer-by-customer basis. Our customers
are subjected to a credit review process that evaluates their financial condition and ability to pay for products and
services.

PCS revenue includes arrangements for software support and technical support for our products. PCS is offered under
renewable, fee-based contracts, which include technical support, hardware repair and replacement parts, bug fixes,
patches, and unspecified upgrades on a when-and-if available basis. Revenue for PCS services is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the service contract term, which is typically one to five years. Unearned PCS revenue is
included in deferred revenue.

Professional service revenue primarily consists of the fees we earn related to installation and consulting services. We
recognize revenue from professional services upon delivery or completion of performance. Professional service
arrangements are typically short term in nature and are largely completed within 30 to 90 days from the start of
service.

Multiple-Element Arrangements

Our hardware with the embedded software solutions (which is a proprietary operating system that together with the
hardware delivers the functionality desired by our customers), is considered a separate unit of accounting from PCS
because they have value to the customer on a standalone basis and our sales arrangements do not include a right of
return for delivered products. For multiple-element arrangements, we allocate revenue to each unit of accounting
based on an estimated selling price at the inception of the arrangement. The total arrangement consideration is
allocated to each separate unit of accounting using the relative selling price method. We limit the amount of revenue
recognized for delivered elements to an amount that is not contingent upon future delivery of additional products or
service.

When applying the relative selling price method, we determine the selling price for each element using (i)
vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of selling price, if available; (ii) third-party evidence, or TPE, of selling
price, if VSOE is not available; and (iii) best estimate of selling price, or BESP, if neither VSOE nor TPE is available.

* VSOE. We determine VSOE based on our historical pricing and discounting practices for the specific products and
services when sold separately. In determining VSOE, we require that a substantial majority of the stand-alone selling
prices fall within a reasonably narrow pricing range.

* TPE. When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in multiple-element arrangements, we apply judgment with
respect to whether we can establish a selling price based on TPE. TPE is determined based on competitor prices for
interchangeable products or services when sold separately to similarly situated customers. However, as our products
contain a significant element of proprietary technology and our solutions offer substantially different features and
functionality, the comparable pricing of products with similar functionality typically cannot be obtained. Additionally,
as we are unable to reliably determine what competitors products’ selling prices are on a stand-alone basis, we are not
typically able to determine TPE.

* BESP. When we are unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE, we use BESP in our allocation of
arrangement consideration.

The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact a sale if the product or service was sold
regularly on a standalone basis. As we have not been able to establish VSOE or TPE for our products and some of our
services, we determine BESP for the purposes of allocating the arrangement, primarily based on historical transaction
pricing. Historical transactions are segregated based on our pricing model and go-to-market strategy, which include
factors such as the geographies in which our products and services were sold (domestic or international), offering type
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(product series, and level of support for PCS) and type of sales channel. The determination of BESP is made through
consultation with and approval by management.

We may occasionally accept returns to address customer satisfaction issues or solution-fit issues even though there is
no contractual provision for such returns. We estimate returns for sales to customers based on historical returns rates
applied against current-period gross revenues. Specific customer returns and allowances are considered within this
estimate. Management also analyzes changes in customer demand and acceptance of products when evaluating the
adequacy of returns and sales allowances.
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Inventory Valuation

Inventory consists primarily of finished goods and component parts to be used in the manufacturing process and is
stated at lower of average cost or market. A provision is recorded when inventory is determined to be in excess of
anticipated demand or obsolete, to adjust inventory to its estimated realizable value. Significant judgment is used in
establishing our forecasts of future demand and obsolete material exposures. If the actual component usage and
product demand are significantly lower than forecast, which may be caused by factors within and outside of our
control, or if there were a higher incidence of inventory obsolescence because of rapidly changing technology and our
customer requirements, we may be required to increase our inventory write-downs. We incurred inventory write
downs of $2.2 million, $2.6 million and $3.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Legal Proceedings

We have been and are currently involved in various legal proceedings, the outcomes of which are not within our
complete control or may not be known for prolonged periods of time. Management is required to assess the
probability of loss and amount of such loss, if any, in preparing our consolidated financial statements. We evaluate the
likelihood of a potential loss from legal proceedings to which we are a party. We record a liability for such claims
when a loss is deemed probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment may be required in
the determination of both probability and whether an exposure is reasonably estimable. Our judgments are subjective
based on the status of the legal proceedings, the merits of our defenses and consultation with in-house and outside
legal counsel. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to pending
claims and may revise our estimates. Due to the inherent uncertainties of the legal processes in the multiple
jurisdictions in which we operate, our judgments may be materially different than the actual outcomes, which could
have material adverse effects on our business, financial conditions and results of operations.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or
in our tax returns. Estimates and judgments occur in the calculation of certain tax liabilities and in the determination
of the recoverability of certain deferred income tax assets, which arise from temporary differences and carryforwards.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates that apply to taxable
income in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be realized or settled. We regularly assess the
likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe,
based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of deferred tax assets
will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established through an adjustment to income tax expense

The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization of our deferred tax assets include our forecast of future taxable
income and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets.
Assumptions represent management’s best estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
management’s judgment.

We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our financial statements by regularly reviewing our tax
positions and benefits to be realized. We recognize tax liabilities based upon our estimate of whether, and the extent to
which, additional taxes will be due when such estimates are more-likely-than-not to be sustained. An uncertain
income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained upon examination by
taxing authorities.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation cost for only those shares ultimately expected to vest on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period of the award. We estimate the fair value of market-performance based restricted stock
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units using a Monte Carlo simulation model which requires the input of assumptions, including expected term, stock
price volatility and the risk-free rate of return. In addition, judgment is required in estimating the number of
stock-based awards that are expected to be forfeited. Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the
time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates,
but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if factors
change and we use different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the
future.

Pre-IPO Common Stock Valuations
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Prior to our IPO in March 2014, the fair value of the common stock underlying our stock options was determined by
our board of directors, which intended all options granted to be exercisable at a price per share not less than the per
share fair value of our common stock underlying those options on the date of grant. The valuations of our common
stock were determined in accordance with the guidelines outlined in the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. The
assumptions we used in the valuation model were based on future expectations combined with management judgment.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of this guidance, stock-based compensation was measured at the grant date
based on the fair value of the award and was recognized as expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite
service period, which was generally the vesting period of the award. Determining the fair value of stock-based awards
at the grant date represents management’s best estimate, but the estimates involves inherent uncertainties and the
application of management’s judgment. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of
stock options. The determination of the grant date fair value of options using an option pricing model was affected by
our estimated common stock fair value as well as assumptions regarding a number of other complex and subjective
variables.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Information with respect to recent accounting pronouncements may be found in Note 1. Description of Business and

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, which section is incorporated herein by reference.
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Supplementary Financial Information
Selected Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (Unaudited, in thousands)

The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for each of the eight
quarters ended December 31, 2014. In management's opinion, the data has been prepared on the same basis as the
audited Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report, and reflects all necessary adjustments, consisting
only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of this data (in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014
Revenue:
Products $36,417 $34,122 $31,601 $32,346
Services 9,328 11,010 11,827 12,856
Total revenue 45,745 45,132 43,428 45,202
Cost of revenue:
Products 7,427 7,410 8,818 7,429
Services 2,626 2,930 2,935 3,362
Total cost of revenue 10,053 10,340 11,753 10,791
Gross profit 35,692 34,792 31,675 34,411
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 21,563 23,975 24,651 26,648
Research and development 11,205 11,869 12,342 14,487
General and administrative 5,363 5,531 5,141 6,903
Litigation expense (benefit) 1,846 (5,859 ) 910 266
Total operating expenses 39,977 35,516 43,044 48,304
Loss from operations (4,285 ) (724 ) (11,369 ) (13,893 )
Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense (587 ) (125 ) (192 ) (124 )
Interest income and other income (expense), net (25 ) (138 ) (510 ) (1,241 )
Total other income (expense), net (612 ) (263 ) (702 ) (1,365 )
Loss before provision for income taxes (4,897 ) (987 ) (12,071 ) (15,258 )
Provision for income taxes 205 309 233 760
Net loss (5,102 ) (1,296 ) (12,304 ) (16,018 )
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock
. . (1,150 ) — — —
dividend
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(6,252 ) $(1,296 ) $(12,304 ) $(16,018 )
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For the Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30,

2013 2013

Revenue:
Products $23,269 $23,064
Services 6,312 7,067
Total revenue 29,581 30,131
Cost of revenue:
Products 4,906 4,894
Services 1,698 2,020
Total cost of revenue 6,604 6,914
Gross profit 22,977 23,217
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 15,589 15,723
Research and development 7,772 8,336
General and administrative 3,830 3,697
Litigation expense (benefit) 3,404 4,800
Total operating expenses 30,595 32,556
Loss from operations (7,618 ) (9,339
Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense (13 ) (33
Interest income and other income (expense), net (681 ) (683
Total other income (expense), net (694 ) (716
Loss before provision for income taxes (8,312 ) (10,055
Provision for income taxes 221 158
Net loss (8,533 ) $(10,213
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock

. . — $@33
dividend
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(8,533 ) $(10,246
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September 30, December 31,

2013

$32,263
7,563
39,826

6,669
2,065
8,734
31,092

18,276
8,517
3,686
1,683
32,162
(1,070

(1,399
(73
1,472
(2,542
207
(2,749

(755
$(3,504
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2013

$33,449
8,751
42,200

8,815
2,329
11,144
31,056

21,168
8,723
4,343
1,638
35,872
4,816

(50
(681
(731
(5,547
54
(5,601

(1,194
$(6,795
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Risk

Our consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Historically, the majority of our revenue contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars,
with the most significant exception being Japan where we invoice primarily in the Japanese yen. Our costs and
expenses are generally denominated in the currencies where our operations are located, which is primarily in North
America, Japan and to a lesser extent EMEA and the Asia Pacific region. To date, we have not entered into any
hedging arrangements with respect to foreign currency risk or other derivative instruments. Revenue resulting from
selling in local currencies and costs and expenses incurred in local currencies are exposed to foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations which can affect our revenue and operating income. As exchange rates vary, operating
income may differ from expectations.

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. At the end of each reporting period, monetary
assets and liabilities are remeasured to the functional currency using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured at historical exchange rates. Gains and losses related to
remeasurement are recorded in interest income and other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. A significant fluctuation in the exchange rates between our subsidiaries' local currencies, especially the
Japanese yen and the Euro, and the U.S. dollar could have an adverse impact on our consolidated financial position
and results of operations.

We recorded $2.0 million, $2.1 million and $1.5 million foreign exchange loss during the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012. The effect of a hypothetical 10% change in our exchange rate would not have a significant
impact on our consolidated results of operations.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our cash and cash equivalents and our
indebtedness. Our cash and cash equivalents are held in cash deposits and money market funds with maturities of less
than 90 days from the date of purchase. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest income sensitivity, which is
affected by changes in the general level of the interest rates in the United States. However, because of the short-term
nature of the instruments in our portfolio, a sudden change in market interest rates would not be expected to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Our exposure to interest rates risk relates to our revolving credit facility with variable interest rates, where an increase
in interest rates may result in higher borrowing costs. Since we have no outstanding borrowings under our credit
facility as of December 31, 2014, the effect of a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would not have a significant
impact on our interest expense.

59

105



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 6l

Consolidated Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31. 2014 and 2013 62
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31. 2014, 2013 and 2012 63

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock. Convertible Preferred Stock

and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) For the Years Ended December 31. 2014, 2013 and 2012 -
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 05

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 07

60

106



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of A10 Networks, Inc.
San Jose, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of A10 Networks, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
"Company") as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, redeemable
convertible preferred stock, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
A10 Networks, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Jose, California
March 10, 2015
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A10 NETWORKS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par value)

December 31, December 31,

2014
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $91,905
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $3,246 and $2,738 as of December 31, 2014 54.003
and December 31, 2013 ’
Inventory 20,701
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,732
Total current assets 171,341
Property and equipment, net 10,780
Other non-current assets 4,859
Total Assets $186,980

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK,
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable $8,994
Accrued liabilities 22,290
Accrued litigation expenses 145
Deferred revenue, current 39,256
Total current liabilities 70,685
Revolving credit facility —
Deferred revenue, non-current 17,964
Other non-current liabilities 1,766
Total Liabilities 90,415

Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)

Redeemable convertible preferred stock, no par value—no shares authorized, issued or
outstanding as of December 31, 2014; 115 shares authorized, 80 shares issued and —
outstanding with aggregate liquidation preference of $80,000 as of December 31, 2013
Convertible preferred stock, par value $0.00001 — 100,000 shares authorized and no
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2014; no par value —30,569 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding with aggregate liquidation preference of $42,884 as

of December 31, 2013

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Common stock, par value $0.00001 — 500,000 and 65,600 shares authorized as of
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013; 61,377 and 10,032 shares issued and 1
outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013

Additional paid-in capital 278,349
Accumulated deficit (181,785
Total Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) 96,565

Total Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, Convertible Preferred Stock

And Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) $ 186,980

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2013

$20,793
37,704

17,166
3,056
78,719
9,801
5,274
$93,794

$9,228
15,514
10,407
28,448
63,597
20,000
12,784
6,118
102,499

81,426

44,749

12,185
(147,065
(134,880

$93,794
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A10 NETWORKS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue:

Products

Services

Total revenue

Cost of revenue:

Products

Services

Total cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Litigation expense (benefit)

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense), net:

Interest expense

Interest income and other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net

Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock dividend
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic

Diluted

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders

Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013
$134,486 $112,045
45,021 29,693
179,507 141,738
31,084 25,284
11,853 8,112
42,937 33,396
136,570 108,342
96,837 70,756
49,903 33,348
22,938 15,556
(2,837 ) 11,525
166,841 131,185
(30,271 ) (22,843
(1,028 ) (1,495
(1,914 ) (2,118
(2,942 ) (3,613
(33,213 ) (26,456
1,507 640
$(34,720 ) $(27,096
(1,150 ) (1,982
$(35,870 ) $(29,078
$(0.74 ) $(3.14
$(0.74 ) $(3.14
48,682 9,262
48,682 9,262

2012

$99,891
20,175
120,066

18,619
5,891

24,510
95,556

51,323
25,513
10,225
95,515
182,576
) (87,020

)(135
(2,237
(2,372
)(89,392
758
)$(90,150
)_
)$(90,150

)$(10.80
)$(10.80

8,344
8,344
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A10 NETWORKS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands)

Redeemable

Convertible Convertible
Preferred Preferred Stock
Stock

Shares AmountShares

Balance at January 1,
2012

Stock based
compensation expense
Issuance of Series C
convertible preferred
stock upon exercise of
Series C convertible
preferred stock warrants
for cash

Common stock issued
under employee equity
incentive plans, net of o
unvested portion

Vesting of early

exercise stock options, — — —

net of repurchases

Net loss — — —
Balance at December

31,2012 o o 30,122
Stock based
compensation expense
Issuance of Series D
redeemable convertible
preferred stock, net of 80 79,444 —
issuance costs

of $556

Accretion of Series D

redeemable convertible — 1,982 —
preferred stock dividend
Issuance of Series C
convertible preferred
stock upon exercise of
Series C convertible
preferred stock warrants
for cash

— $— 30,111

447

Amount

$41,665

72

41,737

3,012

Common Stock

Shares

8,362

941

(63

9,246

822

Additional

AmountPaid-in

$—

Capital
$4,229

2,540

599

709

8,077

4,282

(1,982

1,174

Total

Accumulated Stockholders'

Deficit

$(29,819 )

(90,150
(119,969

)
)

Equity
(Deficit)

$ (25,590 )

2,540

599

709

(90,150 )
(111,892 )

4,282

(1,982 )

1,174
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Common stock issued
under employee equity
incentive plans, net of
unvested portion
Vesting of early

exercise stock options, — — — — 36 ) — 634 — 634

net of repurchases

Net loss — — — — — — — (27,096 ) (27,096 )
I;f‘lazrgclzat December o g1 426 30.560 44749 10,032 — 12,185  (147.065 ) (134.880 )
Stock based o o o L o . 12,359 12,359

compensation expense
Accretion of Series D
redeemable convertible — 1,150 — — — — (1,150 ) — (1,150 )
preferred stock dividend
Issuance of common

stock in connection with
initial public offering
net of offering costs
Conversion of preferred
stock to common stock
in connection with
initial public offering
Common issued under
employee equity
incentive plans, net of
unvested portion
Vesting of early
exercise stock options, — — — — 4 ) — 771 — 771

net of repurchases

Net loss — — — — — — — (34,720 ) (34,720 )

I;f‘laznoclzamecember _ $— $— 61,377 $1  $278,349 $(181,785) $ 96,565

— — — 9,000 — 120,286 — 120,286

(80 ) (82,576(30,569) (44,749 ) 39,997 1 127,324 — 127,325

— — — 2,352 — 6,574 — 6,574

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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A10 NETWORKS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(34,720 ) $(27,096
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 10,121 7,080
Stock-based compensation 12,359 4,282
Gain on settlement of contractual liability (Note 3) (6,993 ) —
Provision for doubtful accounts and sales returns 935 1,788
Changes in fair value of convertible preferred stock warrant liability — 2
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (17,281 ) (15,549
Inventory (8,914 ) (8,489
Prepaid expenses and other assets (3,017 ) 1,588
Accounts payable 903 2,495
Accrued liabilities 6,724 2,133
Accrued litigation expenses (6,066 ) (6,797
Deferred revenue 15,989 13,525
Other (578 ) (95
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (30,538 ) (25,133
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (6,100 ) (2,993
Net cash used in investing activities (6,100 ) (2,993
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offering costs 121,017 (656
Proceeds from issuance of Series D redeemable convertible preferred 79 444
stock, net of issuance costs ’
Principal payments on convertible promissory note in relation to

e — (70,000
settlement of litigation
Proceeds from revolving credit facility — 33,988
Principal payments on revolving credit facility (20,000 ) (20,000
Principal payments on term loan — (631
Proceeds from borrowings under capital lease — —
Proceeds from exercise of convertible preferred stock warrants — 813
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee equity
. . 7,030 2,392
incentive plans, net of repurchases
Other (297 ) (298
Net cash provided by financing activities 107,750 25,052
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 71,112 (3,074
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period 20,793 23,867
Cash and cash equivalents—end of period $91,905 $20,793
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $1,108 $698
Cash paid for interest $503 $1,208

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

)

2012

$(90,150

5,294
2,540
1,330
804

(7,340
(9,147
(2,571
2,382
6,507
83,644
9,657
263
3,213

(4,241
(4,241

15,000
(10,000
(1,023
750

20

1,271

(171
5,847
4,819
19,048
$23,867

$1,723
$93
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A10 NETWORKS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(in thousands)

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing
Activities:

Conversion of preferred stock into common stock

Inventory transfers to property and equipment

Accretion of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock
Vesting of early exercised stock options

Costs related to the initial public offering included in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities

Issuance of convertible promissory note in relation to settlement of
litigation

Reclassification of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability to
additional paid-in

capital upon the exercise of the convertible preferred stock warrants

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013
$127,325 $—

$5,379 $5,638
$1,150 $1,982
$771 $654

$75 $1,776

$— $70,000
$— $2,199

2012

115



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

A10 Networks, Inc. (together with our subsidiaries, the “Company”, “we”, “our” or “us”) was incorporated in California in
2004 and reincorporated in Delaware in 2014. We are headquartered in San Jose, California and have wholly-owned
subsidiaries throughout the world including Asia and Europe. Our solutions enable enterprises, service providers, Web
giants and government organizations to accelerate, secure and optimize the performance of their data center
applications and networks. We currently offer three software based advanced application networking solutions. These
are Application Delivery Controllers, or ADCs, to optimize data center performance; Carrier Grade Network Address
Translation, or CGN, to provide address and protocol translation services for service provider networks; and a
Distributed Denial of Service Threat Protection System, or TPS, for network-wide security protection. We deliver
these solutions both on optimized hardware appliances and as virtual appliances across our Thunder Series and AX
Series product families.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The accompanying consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of A10 Networks, Inc., and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

We had no comprehensive income (loss) other than our net income (loss), hence our comprehensive income (loss) is
the same as the net income (loss) for all periods presented. Pursuant to the accounting guidance provided by
Accounting Standard Codification ("ASC") 220 Comprehensive Income, we did not present statements of
comprehensive income (loss) for the periods presented.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes,
including revenue recognition and deferred revenue, allowance for doubtful accounts, sales return reserve, valuation
of inventory, contingencies and litigation, and determination of fair value of stock-based compensation. These
estimates are evaluated on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors and that are based on
information available as of the date of the consolidated financial statements; therefore, actual results could differ from
management’s estimates.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. Dollar. Transactions denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency are remeasured to the functional currency at the average exchange rate in effect during
the period. At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to the functional
currency using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured at
historical exchange rates. Gains and losses related to remeasurement are recorded in interest income and other income
(expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Vendor Business Concentration
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Our products are concentrated in an industry which is characterized by significant competition, rapid technological
advances, changes in customer requirements and evolving regulatory requirements and industry standards. Our
success depends on management’s ability to anticipate and respond quickly and adequately to technological
developments in the industry, or changes in customer requirements or industry standards. Any significant delays in the
development or introduction of products could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.
We rely on third parties to manufacture our hardware appliances and we purchase raw materials from third-party
vendors. We outsourced substantially all of our manufacturing services to two independent manufacturers. In addition,
we purchase certain strategic component inventory which is consigned to our third-party manufacturers. Other
hardware components included in our products are sourced from various suppliers by our manufacturers and are
principally industry standard parts and components that are available from multiple vendors. Quality or performance
failures of our products or changes in our manufacturers’ or vendors’ financial or business condition could disrupt our
ability to supply quality products to our customers, and thereby may have a material adverse effect on our business
and consolidated financial statements.
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Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. Our cash and cash equivalents are invested in high-credit quality financial instruments with banks
and financial institutions. Management believes that the financial institutions that hold our cash and cash equivalents
are financially sound and, accordingly, are subject to minimal credit risk. Such deposits may be in excess of insured
limits provided on such deposits.

Our accounts receivable are unsecured and represent amounts due to us based on contractual obligations of our
customers. We mitigate credit risk in respect to accounts receivable by performing periodic credit evaluations of our
customers to assess the probability of accounts receivable collection based on a number of factors, including past
transaction experience with the customer, evaluation of their credit history, limiting the credit extended and review of
the invoicing terms of the contract. We generally do not require our customers to provide collateral to support
accounts receivable. We have recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts for those receivables that we have
determined not to be collectible.

Significant customers, including distribution channel partners and direct customers, are those which represent more
than 10% of our total revenue for each period presented, or our gross accounts receivable balance as of each respective
balance sheet date. Revenue from our significant customers as a percentage of our total revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Customers
Customer A 13% * *
Customer B * 15% 34%
Customer C * 10% *

* represents less than 10% of total revenue
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, no customer accounted for 10% or more of our total gross accounts receivable.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments in money market funds.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, cash held in bank accounts was $91.9 million and $20.8 million.

Fair Value Measurement

Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities, and debt. Cash equivalents are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value as of the balance
sheet dates, due to the short period of time to maturity. Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
are stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the short time to the expected receipt or
payment. The carrying amount of our revolving credit facility approximates its fair value as the stated interest rate
approximates market rates currently available to us. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we have not elected the fair
value option for any financial assets and liabilities for which such an election would have been permitted.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized
based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair values. Fair value is defined as

118



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

the exchange price that would be received for an asset or an exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The authoritative guidance on fair value measurements establishes a
three-tier fair

value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements as follows:

Level I—Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;
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Level II—Inputs are observable, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, unadjusted
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the related assets or
liabilities; and

Level III—Unobservable inputs that are significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabilities that
are supported by little or no market data.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, our financial instruments entirely consist of Level I assets. Level I assets include
highly liquid money market funds that are included in cash and cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts, net of allowances for doubtful accounts if applicable, and do
not bear interest. We evaluate the collectability of our accounts receivable based on known collection risks and
historical experience. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial
obligations to us (e.g., bankruptcy filings or substantial downgrading of credit ratings), we record a specific reserve
for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be
collected. For all other customers, we record reserves for bad debts based on the length of time the receivables are past
due and our historical experience of collections and write-offs. If circumstances change, such as higher-than-expected
defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations, our
estimate of the recoverability of the amounts due could be reduced by a material amount.

Inventory

Inventory consists primarily of finished goods and related component parts and is stated at the lower of standard cost,
(which approximates actual cost on a first-in, first-out basis), or market value (estimated net realizable value). We
evaluate inventory for excess and obsolete products, based on management’s assessment of future demand and market
conditions. Inventory write-downs, once established, are not reversed as they establish a new cost basis for the
inventory. Inventory write downs are included as a component of cost of revenue in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations. We incurred inventory write downs of $2.2 million, $2.6 million and $3.3 million for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related
assets. Depreciation on property and equipment, excluding leasehold improvements, ranges from one to three years.

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the
assets or the remaining lease term. Amortization on leasehold improvements ranges from two to eight years.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from two sources: (i) products revenue, which includes hardware and perpetual software license
revenue; and (ii) services revenue, which include post contract support (“PCS”), professional services, and training.
Substantially all of our revenue is from sales of our products and services through distribution channel partners, such
as resellers and distributors. Revenue is recognized, net of taxes, when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery or performance has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and
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collection is reasonably assured.
We define each of the four criteria above as follows:

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. Evidence of an arrangement consists of a purchase order issued
pursuant to the terms and conditions of a master sales agreement.

Delivery or performance has occurred. We use shipping documents or written evidence of customer acceptance, when
applicable, to verify delivery or performance. We recognize product revenue upon transfer

69

121



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

of title and risk of loss, which primarily is upon shipment to customers. We do not have significant obligations for
future performance, such as customer acceptance provisions, rights of return, or pricing credits, associated with our
sales.

The sales price is fixed or determinable. We assess whether the sales price is fixed or determinable based on payment
terms and whether the sales price is subject to refund or adjustment. Standard payment terms to customers range from
30 to 90 days.

Collection is reasonably assured. We assess probability of collection on a customer-by-customer basis. Our customers
are subjected to a credit review process that evaluates their financial condition and ability to pay for products and
services.

PCS revenue includes arrangements for software support and technical support for our products. PCS is offered under
renewable, fee-based contracts, which include technical support, hardware repair and replacement parts, bug fixes,
patches, and unspecified upgrades on a when-and-if available basis. Revenue for PCS services is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the service contract term, which is typically one to five years. Unearned PCS revenue is
included in deferred revenue.

Professional service revenue primarily consists of the fees we earn related to installation and consulting services. We
recognize revenue from professional services upon delivery or completion of performance. Professional service
arrangements are typically short term in nature and are largely completed within 30 to 90 days from the start of
service.

Multiple-Element Arrangements

Our hardware with the embedded software solutions (which is a proprietary operating system that together with the
hardware delivers the functionality desired by our customers), is considered a separate unit of accounting from PCS
because they have value to the customer on a standalone basis and our sales arrangements do not include a right of
return for delivered products. For multiple-element arrangements, we allocate revenue to each unit of accounting
based on an estimated selling price at the inception of the arrangement. The total arrangement consideration is
allocated to each separate unit of accounting using the relative selling price method. We limit the amount of revenue
recognized for delivered elements to an amount that is not contingent upon future delivery of additional products or
service.

When applying the relative selling price method, we determine the selling price for each element using (i)
vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of selling price, if available; (ii) third-party evidence, or TPE, of selling
price, if VSOE is not available; and (iii) best estimate of selling price, or BESP, if neither VSOE nor TPE is available.

* VSOE. We determine VSOE based on our historical pricing and discounting practices for the specific products and
services when sold separately. In determining VSOE, we require that a substantial majority of the stand-alone selling
prices fall within a reasonably narrow pricing range.

* TPE. When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in multiple-element arrangements, we apply judgment with
respect to whether we can establish a selling price based on TPE. TPE is determined based on competitor prices for
interchangeable products or services when sold separately to similarly situated customers. However, as our products
contain a significant element of proprietary technology and our solutions offer substantially different features and
functionality, the comparable pricing of products with similar functionality typically cannot be obtained. Additionally,
as we are unable to reliably determine what competitors products’ selling prices are on a stand-alone basis, we are not
typically able to determine TPE.
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* BESP. When we are unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE, we use BESP in our allocation of
arrangement consideration.

The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact a sale if the product or service was sold
regularly on a standalone basis. As we have not been able to establish VSOE or TPE for our products and some of our
services, we determine BESP for the purposes of allocating the arrangement, primarily based on historical transaction
pricing. Historical transactions are segregated based on our pricing model and go-to-market strategy, which include
factors such as the geographies in which our products and services were sold (domestic or international), offering type
(product series, and level of support for PCS) and type of sales channel. The determination of BESP is made through
consultation with and approval by management.
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We may occasionally accept returns to address customer satisfaction issues or solution-fit issues even though there is
no contractual provision for such returns. We estimate returns for sales to customers based on historical returns rates
applied against current-period gross revenues. Specific customer returns and allowances are considered within this
estimate. Management also analyzes changes in customer demand and acceptance of products when evaluating the
adequacy of returns and sales allowances.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred product revenue relates to arrangements where not all revenue recognition criteria have been met. Deferred
services revenue primarily represents PCS contracts billed in advance and revenue is recognized ratably over the
service contract term, typically one to five years. The current portion of deferred revenue represents the amounts that
are expected to be recognized as revenue within one year of the consolidated balance sheet date.

Shipping and Handling

Shipping charges billed to customers are included in revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of
revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Research and Development Costs

Software and hardware development costs incurred in the research and development of new products and
enhancements to existing products are charged to expense as incurred. The period between achievement of
technological feasibility, which we define as the establishment of a working model, and the general availability of
such software to customers has been short, resulting in software development costs qualifying for capitalization being
insignificant. Accordingly, we did not capitalize any development costs for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012.

Deferred Offering Costs

Deferred offering costs, consisting of legal, accounting and filing fees relating to our Initial Public Offering ("IPO"),
were capitalized until our IPO in March 2014, at which time the deferred offering costs were offset against our [IPO
proceeds upon the completion of the offering. As of December 31, 2013, we had capitalized $2.4 million of deferred
offering costs, which is classified as other current assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Segment Information

Operating segments are components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and is
evaluated regularly by our chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assessing
performance. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer.

Our Chief Executive Officer reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, for purposes of
allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. We have one business activity and there are no segment
managers accountable for operations, operating results beyond revenues or gross profit, or plans for levels or
components below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, we have a single reporting segment.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation cost for only those shares ultimately expected to vest on a straight-line basis

over the requisite service period of the award.
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We recognize compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards granted to employees, including stock
options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and purchases under our 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2014 Purchase
Plan”), based on the estimated fair value on the date of the grant. The fair value of each stock option granted is
estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of each RSU granted represents the closing
price of our common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of purchases under our 2014 Purchase Plan is

calculated based on the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant and the value of put and call options
estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Stock-based compensation is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period, net of estimated forfeitures.
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We estimate the fair value of market-performance based restricted stock units using a Monte Carlo simulation model
which requires the input of assumptions, including expected term, stock price volatility and the risk-free rate of return.

We account for stock options issued to nonemployees based on the fair value of the awards determined using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of stock options granted to nonemployees is re-measured as the
stock options vest, and the resulting change in fair value, if any, is recognized within our Consolidated Statement of
Operations during the period the related services are rendered.

In addition, judgment is also required in estimating the number of stock-based awards that are expected to be
forfeited. Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value
of share-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent
uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use different
assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future.

Warranty Costs

Our appliance hardware and software generally carry a warranty period of 90 days. Estimates of future warranty costs
are based on actual historical returns experience and the application of those historical return rates to our in-warranty

installed base. Warranty costs to repair or replace items sold to customers have been insignificant for the years ended

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Litigation and Contingencies

Litigation is comprised of legal expenses incurred in defending ourselves against litigation matters and our change in
litigation reserve. Legal expenses are recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Operations as incurred when the
legal services are provided. The current portion of accrued litigation expenses represents the legal expenses that are
expected to be paid within one year of Consolidated Balance Sheets date. Accrued litigation expenses represents our
estimate of possible losses on pending litigations. Some of these proceedings involve claims that are subject to
substantial uncertainties and unascertainable damages. Accordingly, except as disclosed, we have not accrued
estimated litigation liabilities or ranges of possible loss related to these proceedings, as at this time in the proceedings,
if any, the matters do not relate to a probable loss and/or amounts are not reasonably estimable.

401(k) Profit Sharing Plan

We have a qualified contributory savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code that is offered to all
of our United States employees. Each participant in the plan may elect to contribute up to $17,500 of his or her annual
compensation to the plan for the 2014 calendar year. Individuals who were 50 or older may contribute an additional
$5,500 of their annual income. We did not make matching or discretionary contributions to this plan during 2014.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our consolidated
financial statements or in our tax returns. Estimates and judgments occur in the calculation of certain tax liabilities and
in the determination of the recoverability of certain deferred income tax assets, which arise from temporary
differences and carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax
rates that apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be realized or settled.
We regularly assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the
extent we believe, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of
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deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established through an adjustment to income tax
expense.

The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization of our deferred tax assets include our forecast of future taxable
income and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets.
Assumptions represent management’s best estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
management’s judgment.

We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our consolidated financial statements by regularly
reviewing our tax positions and benefits to be realized. We recognize tax liabilities based upon our estimate of
whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due when such estimates are more-likely-than-not to be
sustained. An uncertain income tax
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position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained upon examination by taxing
authorities. The provision for income taxes includes the effects of any resulting tax reserves, or unrecognized tax
benefits, that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest and penalties.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”)
No. 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740), Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists. ASU 2013-11 provides guidance on the
financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, similar tax
loss, or tax credit carryforward exists. This new standard requires the netting of unrecognized tax benefits (“UTBs”)
against a deferred tax asset for a loss or other carryforward that would apply in settlement of the uncertain tax
positions. UTBs will be netted against all available same-jurisdiction loss or other tax carryforwards that would be
utilized, rather than only against carryforwards that are created by the UTBs. We adopted ASU-2013-11 on
January 1, 2014, and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which provides new
guidance on the recognition of revenue and states that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This standard will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period. Early adoption is not permitted. We
are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this accounting standard update on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

2. Fair Value Measurements

Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities and debt. Cash equivalents are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value as of the balance
sheet dates, due to the short period of time to maturity. Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
are stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the short time to the expected receipt or
payment. The carrying amount of our revolving credit facility approximates the fair value as the stated interest rate
approximates market rates currently available to us.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at fair value. Our money market funds and equity instruments are classified
within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, as these instruments are valued using quoted market prices. Specifically, we
value our investments in money market securities, certificates of deposit and plan assets under our deferred
compensation plan based on quoted market prices in active markets. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had no
assets or liabilities classified within Level II or Level III and there were no transfers of instruments between Level 1,
Level II and Level III regarding fair value measurement.

The following table sets forth the fair value of our financial assets measured on a recurring basis by level within the
fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Level 1 Total Level 1 Total
Financial Assets
Money market funds $51,047 $51,047 $14,029 $14,029

We did not have realized gains or losses for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 related to our financial
assets.
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The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of our Level III financial liabilities (in
thousands):
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Fair value, beginning of period $— $2,197 $1,445
Fair value of convertible preferred stock warrants exercised — (2,199 ) (52 )
Changes in fair value of Level III liabilities — 2 804
Fair value, end of period $— $— $2,197

Level III liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist solely of our convertible

preferred stock warrant liability. The fair values of the outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants are measured
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Inputs used to determine estimated fair value include the estimated fair
value of the underlying stock at the valuation measurement date, the remaining contractual term of the warrants,
risk-free interest rates, expected dividends and the expected volatility of the underlying stock. Generally, increases
(decreases) in the fair value of the underlying stock and estimated term would result in a directionally similar impact
to the fair value measurement.

3. Balance Sheets and Statement of Operations Components
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Sales Return Reserve

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, allowance for doubtful accounts and sales return reserve
consisted of the following activity (in thousands):

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Allowance for doubtful accounts, beginning balance $1,836 $1,494 $793
Charged to expenses 76 1,068 712
Write-offs (8 ) (726 ) (11 )
Allowance for doubtful accounts, ending balance $1,904 $1,836 $1,494

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Sales return reserve, beginning balance $902 $500 $296
Charged to expenses 858 720 618
Write-offs (418 ) (318 ) (414 )
Sales return reserve, ending balance $1,342 $902 $500

Inventory

Components of inventory as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are shown below (in thousands):
December 31, December 31,

2014 2013
Raw materials $9,922 $10,625
Finished goods 10,779 6,541
Total inventory $20,701 $17,166
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Property and Equipment, Net

Components of property and equipment, net as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are shown below (in thousands):
Estimated Useful Life December 31, December 31,

(in Years) 2014 2013
Equipment 1-3 $30,486 $21,188
Software 1-3 3,197 2,479
Lesser of the term of the
Leasehold improvements lease or the estimated 1,780 1,325
useful life
Furniture and fixtures 3 860 777
Construction in progress — 201 123
Property and equipment, gross 36,524 25,892
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (25,744 ) (16,091 )
Total property and equipment, net $10,780 $9,801

Depreciation and amortization on our property and equipment for the years ended months ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012 was $10.0 million, $6.9 million and $4.7 million.

Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

Deferred revenue:
Products

Services

Total deferred revenue
Less: current portion
Non-current portion

Accrued Liabilities

2014

$2,379
54,841
57,220
(39,256 )
$17,964

2013

$3,170
38,062
41,232
(28,448 )
$12,784

Accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 consists of the following (in thousands):

Accrued compensation and benefits

Accrued tax liabilities
Other
Total accrued liabilities

Foreign Currency Exchange Losses

December 31,
2014

$14,447
2,554

5,289
$22,290

December 31,
2013

$9,015

2,156

4,343
$15,514

We recorded $2.0 million, $2.1 million and $1.5 million foreign exchange loss as part of interest income and other
income (expense), net in our Consolidated Statements of Operations during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013

and 2012.
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Settlement of Contractual Liability

In May 2014, we reached a settlement agreement with one of our legal service providers which resulted in the
reduction of a previously accrued contractual liability that totaled $12.0 million. We made a payment of $5.0 million
in accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement in June 2014 and recorded a $7.0 million benefit to litigation
expense (benefit) at that time.

4. Credit Facility

In September 2013, we entered into a credit agreement with Royal Bank of Canada, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and
Bank of America, N.A. as lenders. The credit agreement provides a three-year $35.0 million revolving credit facility,
which includes a maximum $10.0 million letter of credit facility. We drew down $25.0 million on the revolving credit
facility on September 30, 2013, and repaid $5.0 million on December 31, 2013. As December 31, 2013, we had $20.0
million outstanding borrowing under this credit facility. In 2014, we repaid the $20.0 million outstanding borrowing
under this credit facility and we have no outstanding borrowings under this credit facility as of December 31, 2014.

At our option, the revolving credit facility bears interest at a rate per annum based on either (i) an alternate base rate
plus a margin ranging from 1.75% to 2.50% depending on our total leverage ratio, or (ii) the London interbank offered
rate, or LIBOR, based on one, two, three or six month interest periods plus a margin ranging from 2.75% to 3.50%
depending on our total leverage ratio. The alternate base rate is equal to the greatest of (i) the Royal Bank of Canada’s
prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus a margin equal to 0.50% and (iii) the Eurodollar rate for a one month interest
period plus a margin equal to 1.00%. We are also required to pay quarterly facility fees of 0.45% per annum on the
average daily unused portion of the revolving credit facility. We may prepay the loans or terminate or reduce the
commitments at any time, without premium or penalty. The revolving credit facility matures on September 30, 2016.

In addition, we incurred $1.0 million of debt issuance costs that were directly attributable to the issuance of this
revolving credit facility which are amortized to interest expense over the three-year term of this credit facility. As of
December 31, 2014, the unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.5 million were included within other non-current assets
in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Our obligations under the credit agreement are secured by a security interest on substantially all of our assets,
including our intellectual property. The credit agreement contains customary non-financial covenants, and also
requires us to comply with financial covenants. One financial covenant requires us to maintain a total leverage ratio,
which is defined as total consolidated debt to trailing adjusted EBITDA as defined by the credit agreement. In
addition, we must maintain a minimum amount of liquidity based on our unrestricted cash and availability under the
revolving credit facility. The covenant requires us to maintain a minimum liquidity of $25.0 million provided that at
least $10.0 million of liquidity comprises of unrestricted cash. The credit agreement includes customary events of
default which, if triggered, could result in the acceleration of our obligations under the revolving credit facility, the
termination of any obligation by the lenders to extend further credit and a process for the lenders to obtain title to
collateral granted to them under the credit agreement; however, we also have the ability, in certain instances, to cure
non-compliance with the financial covenants through qualified equity contributions by certain holders of our equity.
We were in compliance with all financial and nonfinancial covenants under the revolving credit facility as of
December 31, 2014.

5. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings
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From time to time, we may be party or subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted,
which arise in the ordinary course of business, including proceedings and claims that relate to intellectual property
matters. Some of these proceedings involve claims that are subject to substantial uncertainties and unascertainable
damages. Accordingly, except as disclosed, we have not established reserves or ranges of possible loss related to these
proceedings, as at this time in the proceedings, if any, the matters do not relate to a probable loss and/or amounts
cannot be reasonably estimated.
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In November 2013, Parallel Networks, LLC (‘“Parallel Networks™), which we believe is a non-practicing patent holding
company, filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. In the lawsuit,
Parallel Networks alleges that our AX and Thunder series products infringe two of their U.S. patents. Parallel
Networks is seeking injunctive relief, damages and attorneys’ fees and costs. Parallel Networks has asserted similar
claims against a number of our competitors. The separate trials for each defendant in these related actions are set to
commence in June 2016 in accordance with an order to be set forth in a trial sequencing conference. This matter is in
the early stages, but we intend to vigorously defend the lawsuit. We are unable to reasonably estimate a possible loss
or range of possible loss if any, in regards to this matter; therefore, no accrued litigation expense has been recorded in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

On January 29, 2015, the Company, the members of our Board of Directors, our Chief Financial Officer, and the
underwriters of our March 21, 2014, initial public offering were named as defendants in a putative class action lawsuit
filed in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Santa Clara, captioned City of Warren Police and Fire
Retirement System v. A10 Networks, Inc., et al., 1-15-CV-276207. The complaint seeks to allege violations of the
federal Securities Act of 1933 on behalf of a putative class consisting of purchasers of our common stock pursuant or
traceable to the registration statement and prospectus for the initial public offering, and seeks unspecified
compensatory damages and other relief. We intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit. Based on information currently
available, we are unable to reasonably estimate a possible loss or range of possible loss, if any, in regards to this
lawsuit; therefore, no accrued litigation expense has been recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In May 2013, we reached an agreement with Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. ("Brocade") to settle the lawsuit
that Brocade filed against us, our founder and other individuals in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California in August 2010, and the lawsuit that we filed against Brocade in September 2011, along with all
related claims. The total amount of the settlement was $75.0 million, which we recognized as litigation expense in our
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2012 with the corresponding liability being
recored as “accrued litigation expenses, current portion” in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2012.

In June 2013, we entered into a settlement with Allegro Software Development, Inc. (“Allegro”) whereby we paid $0.9
million in cash to resolve all claims relating to the licensing and use of Allegro’s software. As the result of the
settlement agreement, we recognized an additional $0.6 million as litigation expense in our Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Lease Obligations and Other Commitments

We lease various operating spaces in California, Asia, and Europe under noncancelable operating lease arrangements
that expire on various dates through February 2020. These arrangements require us to pay certain operating expenses,
such as taxes, repairs, and insurance and contain renewal and escalation clauses. We recognize rent expense under

these arrangements on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

In 2008, we entered into a technology licensing arrangement that requires us to make payments over the life of the
associated patents which are expected to expire in 2020.

As of December 31, 2014, the aggregate future noncancelable minimum lease payments for our operating leases
consist of the following (in thousands):

Technology  Minimum

Year Ending December Operating Licensing Future Lease
31, Leases

Agreements  Payments
2015 $2,963 $140 $3,103
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2016 2,273 140 2,413
2017 1,850 140 1,990
2018 1,681 140 1,821
2019 1,681 140 1,821
Thereafter 288 — 288
$10,736 $700 $11,436

Rent expense was $3.4 million, $2.9 million and $2.6 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Guarantees

We have entered into agreements with some of our customers that contain indemnification provisions in the event of
claims alleging that our products infringe the intellectual property rights of a third party. Other guarantees or
indemnification arrangements include guarantees of product and service performance and standby letters of credit for
lease facilities and corporate credit cards. We have not recorded a liability related to these indemnification and
guarantee provisions and our guarantees and indemnification arrangements have not had any significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements to date.

6. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Initial Public Offering

In March 2014, we completed our IPO, whereby 12,500,000 shares of common stock were sold to the public at a price
per share of $15.00. We sold 9,000,000 common shares and selling stockholders sold 3,500,000 common shares. In
April 2014, our underwriters exercised an overallotment available to them and an additional 345,000 shares were sold
by our selling stockholders bringing the total shares sold to 12,845,000 for this offering. The total gross proceeds from
the offering were $192.7 million. After deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, offering expenses payable
by us, and net proceeds received by the selling stockholders, the estimated aggregate net proceeds was $120.3 million.
Upon the closing of the PO, all shares of our outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock and convertible
preferred stock converted into 39,997,114 shares of common stock.

Reverse Stock Split

On March 6, 2014, we effected a 1-for-3.75 reverse stock split of our common stock and convertible preferred stock
(collectively referred to as “Capital Stock™). Shares of our Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock were not
subject to the split but instead the conversion price of the Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock was
adjusted proportionally to reflect the split of the common stock issued upon conversion of the Series D redeemable
convertible preferred stock. On March 6, 2014 (i) each 3.75 shares of outstanding Capital Stock was combined into 1
share of Capital Stock; (ii) the number of shares of Capital Stock for which each outstanding option to purchase
Capital Stock is exercisable was proportionately reduced on a 1-for-3.75 basis; (iii) the exercise price of each such
outstanding option was proportionately increased on a 1-for-3.75 basis; (iv) each 3.75 shares of authorized Capital
Stock was reduced to 1 share of Capital Stock; and (v) the conversion price of the Series D redeemable convertible
preferred stock was adjusted from $2.2628 to $8.4855. All of the share and per share amounts within these
consolidated financial statements have been adjusted, on a retroactive basis, to reflect this 1-for-3.75 reverse stock
split.

Common Stock
We had reserved shares of common stock, on an as-converted basis, for future issuance as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Conversion of outstanding Series A convertible preferred stock — 8,913
Conversion of outstanding Series B convertible preferred stock — 7,015
Conversion of outstanding Series C convertible preferred stock — 14,641
Conversion of outstanding Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock — 9,428
Outstanding stock options and RSUs 14,012 9,971
Shares reserved for future option grants 1,344 1,435
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15,356

51,403
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Preferred Stock

Our preferred stock on March 21, 2014 (immediately before the closing of our IPO) and December 31, 2013 are as
follows (in thousands):

March 21, 2014

Shares Shares Issued Net Carrying A.ggr‘ega‘ted
. and Liquidation
Authorized . Value
Outstanding Preference

Convertible Preferred Stock
Series A 8,913 8,913 $6,625 $6,685
Series B 7,015 7,015 8,922 8,945
Series C 14,641 14,641 29,202 27,254
Total convertible preferred stock 30,569 30,569 $44,749 $42.884
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Series D 115 80 $82,576 $80,000

December 31, 2013

Shares Shares Issued Net Carrying A 'ggr‘ega‘ted
. and Liquidation
Authorized . Value
Outstanding Preference

Convertible Preferred Stock
Series A 8,913 8,913 $6,625 $6,685
Series B 7,015 7,015 8,922 8,945
Series C 14,641 14,641 29,202 27,254
Total convertible preferred stock 30,569 30,569 $44,749 $42.884
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Series D 115 80 $81,426 $80,000

We recorded the convertible preferred stock at fair value on the dates of issuance, net of issuance costs.

We recorded the Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock at fair value on the dates of issuance, net of issuance
costs. We classify the redeemable convertible preferred stock outside of stockholders’ equity (deficit) because the
shares contain a date-certain redemption feature. We recorded accretion on the redeemable convertible preferred stock
for the difference between the initial net carrying value of $79.4 million and the redemption value on June 27, 2019,
the earliest redemption date, of $112.9 million. The accretion will be recognized from the issuance date through the
earliest redemption date of June 27, 2019 or when these preferred stock are converted into common stock using the
effective interest rate method. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we recognized accretion of $1.2
million and $2.0 million.

All of our outstanding preferred stock was converted to common stock in connection with our IPO on March 21, 2014.
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Early Exercise of Stock Options

We have allowed certain of our employees and directors to exercise options granted under the stock option plans prior
to vesting. The unvested shares are subject to our repurchase right at the original purchase price. The proceeds from
the early exercise of stock options initially are recorded in other non-current liabilities and reclassified to common
stock as our repurchase right lapses. We issued 93,987, 296,218, and 308,738 shares of common stock for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 upon early exercise of stock options. For the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, we repurchased 3,834, 32,743 and 63,448 shares of unvested common stock related to early
exercise stock options at the original purchase price due to the termination of employees. As of December 31, 2014
and 2013, 196,217 and 300,746 shares held by employees and directors were subject to repurchase at an aggregate
price of $1.0 million and $1.3 million.

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

In conjunction with our Series C convertible preferred stock financing in February 2008, we issued warrants to
purchase 752,069 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock. The warrants were immediately exercisable in whole
or in part over the term of the warrants.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, 450,372 and 10,744 of the warrants were exercised at an exercise
price of $1.8615 per share, resulting in cash proceeds of $0.8 million and $20,000. We classified our convertible
preferred stock warrants as liabilities in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The convertible preferred
stock warrant liability was $2.2 million as of December 31, 2012. Upon exercise of warrants, the fair value of the
warrant liability was reclassified to convertible preferred stock. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we did not have
any outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants.

7. Equity Award Plans
Equity Incentive Plans
2008 Plan

We adopted the 2008 Stock Plan (the "2008 Plan") for the purpose of granting stock-based awards to eligible service
providers, which included our employees, directors, and consultants as well as employees and consultants of our
subsidiaries. With the establishment of the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2014 Plan") in March 2014, we
terminated the 2008 Plan. Upon such termination, we ceased granting any awards under the 2008 Plan and only
options to purchase shares of our Common Stock outstanding as of such date remain under this plan. The remaining
options available for future grant under the 2008 Plan were canceled.

2014 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2014 Plan was adopted by our board of directors and approved by our stockholders in March 2014. Our 2014 Plan
provides for the granting of stock options, restricted stock awards ("RSAs"), restricted stock units ("RSUs"), stock
appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to our employees, directors and consultants, and our
subsidiary corporations’ employees and consultants.

As of December 31, 2014, a total of 7,700,000 shares of our common stock are reserved for issuance pursuant to the
2014 Plan. On the first day of each fiscal year, starting with January 1, 2015, the number of shares in the reserve will
increase by the lesser of (i) 8,000,000 shares, (ii) 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock on the last day of our
immediately preceding fiscal year, or (iii) such other amount as determined by our board of directors. As of
December 31, 2014, we have granted 3,550,889 stock options and 3,080,090 RSUs, including 540,000 shares of
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market performance-based restrict stock units ("MSUs") under the 2014 Plan to our employees and consultants, and
we have 1,343,743 shares available for future grant.

Vesting periods of awards granted under the 2014 Plan are determined by the board of directors or other committees
responsible for administering the 2014 Plan (the "Plan Administrators"). The Plan Administrators determine the
contractual terms of awards granted under the 2014 Plan, provided that incentive stock options and stock appreciation
rights granted expire no more than ten years from the grant date. In the case of an incentive stock option granted to an
employee, who at the time of grant, owns stock representing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all
classes of stock, the exercise price shall be no less than 110% of the fair value per share on the date of grant, and
expire five years from the date of grant, and for incentive stock options granted to any other employee, and
nonstatutory stock options and stock appreciation rights granted to
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employees, directors or consultants, the per share exercise price shall be no less than 100% of the fair value per share
on the date of grant.

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "2014 Purchase Plan") was adopted by our board of directors and
approved by our stockholders in March 2014. A total of 1,600,000 shares of our common stock was authorized for
purchase under the 2014 Purchase Plan. On the first day of each fiscal year, starting with January 1, 2015, the number
of shares in the reserve will increase by the lesser of (i) 3,500,000 shares, (ii) 1% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or (iii) such other amount as determined by
our board of directors. As of December 31, 2014, participants of our 2014 Purchase Plan have purchased 568,684
shares under our 2014 Purchase Plan, and have 1,031,316 shares available for future purchases.

The 2014 Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to acquire shares of our common stock at 85% of the lower of the
fair market value of our common stock on the first trading day of each offering period or on the exercise date that
occurs at the end of a purchase period. Each offering period is approximately twenty-four months in duration, starting
on the first trading day on or after May 21 and November 21 of each year, except for the first offering period, which
commenced on March 21, 2014. Each offering period generally consists of four purchase periods and each purchase
period will begin after one exercise date and end with the next exercise date approximately six months later, except
that the first purchase period of an offering period will begin on the enrollment date of each offering period and end
on the next exercise date. If the fair market value of our common stock on the exercise date is less than the fair market
value on the first trading day of the offering period, participants will be withdrawn from the then current offering
period following their purchase of shares on the purchase date and automatically will be enrolled in the immediately
following offering period. Participants may purchase shares of common stock through payroll deductions of up

to 15% of their eligible compensation, subject to purchase limits of the lesser of 1,500 shares during each six month
purchase period or $25,000 worth of stock for each calendar year in which an option is outstanding.

Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is based on the estimated fair value of awards, net of estimated forfeitures, and recognized
over the requisite service period. Total stock-based compensation recognized for stock-based awards granted under
the 2014 Plan, the 2008 Plan, and employee stock purchases under the 2014 Purchase Plan for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Stock-based compensation by type of award:
Stock options $5,852 $4,282 $2,540
Restricted stock units 3,217 — —
Employee stock purchase plan 3,290 — —

$12,359 $4,282 $2,540
Stock-based compensation by category of expense:
Cost of revenue $1,063 $162 $87
Sales and marketing 5,829 2,228 1,316
Research and development 3,932 1,356 776
General and administrative 1,535 536 361
Total stock-based compensation $12,359 $4,282 $2.540

As of December 31, 2014, we had $35.6 million in unrecognized stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to stock options, unvested RSUs and MSUs and 2014 Stock Purchase Plan which will be
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recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years.
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Determination of Fair Value

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the grant date fair value of stock options and stock
purchases and recognize stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

The determination of the fair value on the date of grant is affected by the estimated underlying common stock price, as
well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables include expected stock
price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, risk-free
interest rates, and expected dividends.

The fair value of each grant of stock options was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and
assumptions discussed below. Each of these inputs is subjective and generally requires significant judgment to
determine.

* Expected Term. We estimate the expected life of options based on an analysis of our historical experience of
employee exercise and post-vesting termination behavior considered in relation to the contractual life of the option.
The expected term for the Purchase Plan is based on the term of the purchase period.

* Expected Volatility. We determined the share price volatility factor based on historical volatility of our peer group
due to the limited trading history of our common stock.

* Risk-Free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of
grant for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the expected terms of stock options

and shares to be issued under the 2014 Purchase Plan.

* Dividend Rate. The expected dividend was assumed to be zero as we have never paid dividends and have no current
plans to do so.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes our stock option activity and related information as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2014 (in thousands, except for per share amounts):

Number of Weighted-Average
Shares . . Aggregate
. Weighted-AveragdRemaining .
Underlying . . Intrinsic
) Exercise Price Contractual Term
Outstanding Value
. (Years)
Options
Outstanding as of December 31, 2013 9,971 $ 4.14 7.9
Granted 4262 $ 7.05
Exercised (1,979 ) $ 2.55
Canceled (1,170 ) $ 7.61
Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 11,084 $ 5.18 7.9 $8,008
;/()els;ed and expected to vest as of December 31, 10,413 $ 511 73 $8.093
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2014 4,654 $ 341 6.2 $7,824

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the closing stock price of our common stock on
December 31, 2014 compared to the exercise price of the outstanding in-the-money options.
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The following table provides information pertaining to our stock options for the year ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 (in thousands, except weighted-average fair values):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Total fair value of options granted $11,683 $13,866 $4.468
Weighted average fair value of options granted $2.79 $3.28 $1.96
Intrinsic value of options exercised $14,863 $3,390 $2,581
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The estimated grant-date fair value of our equity-based awards issued to employees was calculated using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model, based on the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Expected term (in years) 4.54-5.50 6.02-6.08 6.08
. ) 0.82
Risk-free interest rate 1.73%-1.83% 1.12%-1.76% %-1.10%
Expected volatility 37.9%-47.0% 45.0%-47.0% 46%
Dividend rate —% —% —%

Restricted Stock Units

We granted time-based restricted stock units ("RSUs") to our employees, directors and consultants and market
performance-based restricted stock units ("MSUs") to certain executive officers during the year ended December 31,
2014.

Time-based Restricted Stock Units

A summary of RSU activities for the year ended December 31, 2014, is as follows (in thousands, except years and per
share amounts):

Weighted \AVeeli? t:d Aggregated
Number of  Average verage EBTCS
Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Grant Date
. Contractual  Value
Fair Value .
Life
Outstanding as of December 31, 2013 — $—
Granted 2,540 $9.05
Released — $—
Canceled (152 ) $10.40
Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 2,388 $8.97 2.5 $10,411

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (calculated by multiplying
our closing stock price on the last trading day of 2014 by the number of nonvested RSUs) that would have been
received by the unit holders had all RSUs been vested and released on December 31, 2014. This amount will fluctuate
based on the fair market value of our stock.

Market Performance-based Restricted Stock Units

We granted 540,000 shares of MSUs to our executive officers during 2014, all of which were outstanding as of
December 31, 2014. These MSUs will vest if the closing price of our common stock remains above certain
predetermined target prices for 20 consecutive trading days within a 4-year period.

The following weighted-average assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation were as follows:

Year Ended

December 31,

2014
Expected term (in years) 2.82

146



Edgar Filing: A10 Networks, Inc. - Form 10-K

Risk-free interest rate 1.40%
Expected volatility 36.2%
Dividend rate —%
83
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The estimated the fair value of these market-based units was $0.58 - $1.41 using a Monte Carlo simulation model with
the assumptions discussed above. The total aggregated intrinsic value for the MSUs granted was $2.4 million, which
represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (calculated by multiplying our closing stock price on the last trading day of
2014 by the number of non-vested MSUs) that would have been received by the unit holders had all MSUs vested and
been released on December 31, 2014. This amount will fluctuate based on the fair market value of our stock. No
MSUs were vested or released during 2014.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The fair value of the option component of the 2014 Purchase Plan shares was estimated at the grant date using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Year Ended

December

31,2014
Expected term (in years) 1.3
Risk-free interest rate 0.26%
Expected volatility 27.4%
Dividend rate —%

8. Net Income Per Share Available (Loss Attributable) To Common Stockholders

Prior to our IPO in March 2014, basic and diluted net loss per common share are computed using the two-class
method required for participating securities. Concurrent with the closing of the IPO, all shares of outstanding
preferred stock converted into 39,997,114 shares of our common stock. Following the date of the IPO, the two-class
method was no longer required. As of December 31, 2014, we have one outstanding class of securities.

Prior to the conversion of the preferred stock, holders of Series A, Series B, Series C and Series D preferred stock
were entitled to receive noncumulative dividends at the annual rates of $0.045, $0.0765, $0.11169 and $60 per share
per annum payable prior and in preference to any dividends on shares of our common stock. In the event a dividend is
paid on our common stock, our preferred stockholders are entitled to a share of that dividend in proportion to the
holders of common shares on an as-if converted basis. Series A, Series B, Series C and Series D preferred stock are
considered participating securities. In accordance with the two-class method, earnings allocated to participating
securities, which include contractual participation rights in undistributed earnings, have been excluded from the
computation of basic and diluted net income per share available (loss attributable) to common stockholders. Holders
of participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to share in our losses. As such, for the periods we incur
net losses, there is no impact on our calculated net loss per share attributable to common stockholders in applying the
two-class method. Accretion of our redeemable convertible preferred stock dividend is excluded from income
attributable to common stockholders.

Under the two-class method, net income available (loss attributable) to common stockholders is determined by
allocating undistributed earnings, calculated as net income per share available (loss attributable) to common
stockholders less current period Series A, Series B, Series C and Series D preferred stock non-cumulative dividends,
among our common stock and participating securities. In computing diluted net income per share available (loss
attributable) to common stockholders, undistributed earnings are re-allocated to reflect the potential impact of dilutive
securities. Basic net income per share available (loss attributable) to common stockholders is computed by dividing
the net income per share available (loss attributable) to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share available (loss attributable) to common
stockholders is computed by dividing the net income per share available (loss attributable) to common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, including potential dilutive common shares assuming
the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options using the treasury stock method. For purposes of this calculation,
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participating securities, stock options to purchase common stock and warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock
are considered to be common stock equivalents and are excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per share
available (loss attributable) to common stockholders if their effect is antidilutive.

Basic net income (loss) per share of common stock is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted net income per share of common stock is
computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus the effect of common stock
equivalents, unless the common stock equivalents are anti-dilutive. Potential dilutive common stock includes stock
options and restricted stock

84
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units. Since we had net losses in the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, none of the stock options and
restricted stock units were included in the computation of diluted shares for these periods, as inclusion of such shares

would have been anti-dilutive.

The following table summarizes the incremental shares of common stock from potentially dilutive securities,
calculated using the treasury stock method (in thousands, except for per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(35,870 ) $(29,078 ) $(90,150
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic 48,682 9,262 8,344
Effect of dilutive potential common shares — — —
Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted 48,682 9,262 8,344
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic and diluted $(0.74 ) $(3.14 ) $(10.80

The following weighted average outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the
computation of diluted net loss per share for the periods presented because including them would have been
antidilutive (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Redeemal?le convertible preferred stock and convertible preferred stock 34,462 30.112
(on an as if converted basis)
Stock options, restricted stock units and employee stock purchase plan 6,415 8,498 6,932
Common stock subject to repurchase 196 341 474
Convertible preferred stock warrants — 44 461

6,611 43,345 37,979
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9. Income Taxes

The geographical breakdown of income (loss) before provision for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

Domestic loss
Foreign income
Loss before provisions for income taxes

Years Ended December 31,

2014

$(35,593 ) $(28,313

2,380

$(33,213 ) $(26,456

2013

1,857

)
)

2012
$(90,694
1,302
$(89,392

)
)

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 consists of the following (in

thousands):

Current provision for income taxes:
State
Foreign

Total current

Deferred tax benefits:
Foreign

Total deferred

Provision for income taxes

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013

$24 $33

1,054 599

1,078 632

429 8

429 8

$1,507 $640

2012

$37
736
773

(15
(15
$758

The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax and our effective income tax is as follows (in thousands):

Tax at statutory rate

State tax - Net of federal benefits
Foreign rate differential

Changes in valuation allowance
Stock compensation

Other permanent items

Expenses for uncertain tax positions
Other

Provision for income taxes

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013
$(11,292 ) $(8,995
16 22

231 (115
10,547 8,051
1,041 1,230
513 346
330 90

121 11
$1,507 $640

)
)

2012
$(30,393
24

199
29,649
751

448

86
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as
follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $41,941 $35,898
Research and development credits, net of uncertain tax positions 7,064 5,445
Accruals, reserves, and other 12,526 10,047
Stock-based compensation 1,585 222
Depreciation and amortization 2,379 1,099
Gross deferred tax assets 65,495 52,711
Valuation allowance (63,620 ) (52,413 )
Total deferred tax assets 1,875 298
Deferred tax liabilities:
Others (1,167 ) (19 )
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,167 ) (19 )
Net deferred tax assets $708 $279

Recognition of deferred tax assets is appropriate when realization of these assets is more likely than not. Based upon
the weight of available evidence, which includes our historical operating performance and the recorded cumulative net
losses in prior fiscal periods, we recorded a full valuation allowance of $63.6 million and $52.4 million against the net
U.S. deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013. The net valuation allowance increased by $32.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012, increased by $10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, and
increased by $11.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $117.1 million and $96.3
million and state net operating loss carryforwards of $62.6 million and $56.8 million. We track the portion of our net
operating loss attributable to stock option benefits in accordance with ASC 718, therefore, these amounts are no
longer included in our gross or net deferred tax assets. The gross tax benefit of stock options total $4.8 million at
December 31, 2014, and will only be recorded to additional paid in capital when they reduce cash taxes payable. The
federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in the year ending December 31, 2026,
if not utilized. The state net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in the year ending
December 31, 2016, if not utilized.

Additionally, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had U.S. federal research and development credit carryforwards
of $4.9 million and $3.9 million and state research and development credit carryforwards of $4.6 million and $3.4
million. The federal credit carryforwards will begin to expire at various dates beginning in 2026 while the state credit
carryforwards can be carried over indefinitely.

Utilization of the net operating losses and credit carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation provided for in
the Internal Revenue Code and similar state codes. Any annual limitation could result in the expiration of net
operating loss and credit carryforwards before utilization.

Our policy with respect to our undistributed foreign subsidiaries' earnings is to consider those earnings to be
indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no related provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes has been
provided. Upon distribution of those earnings' in the form of dividends or otherwise, we may be subject to both U.S.
income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits and withholding taxes in the various countries. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the undistributed earnings approximated $1.8 million and $1.3 million. The
determination of the future tax consequence of the remittance of these earnings is not practicable.
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Uncertain Tax Positions

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $2.2 million and $1.8 million, none of
which would materially impact the effective tax rate if realized during the year due to our full valuation allowance
position. We have accrued interest of $7,500 related to unrecognized tax benefits reflected in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014. Our policy for classifying interest and penalties associated
with unrecognized income tax benefits is to include such items in income tax expense.

The activity related to the unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Gross unrecognized tax benefits—beginning balance $1,846 $1,463 $1,348
Increases related to tax positions from prior years 340 — —
Increases related to tax positions taken during current year 278 383 115
Decreases related to tax positions taken during the current year (269 ) — —
Gross unrecognized tax benefits—ending balance $2,195 $1,846 $1,463

These amounts are related to certain deferred tax assets with a corresponding valuation allowance. If recognized, the
impact on our effective tax rate would not be material due to the full valuation allowance.

We believe that there will not be any significant changes in our unrecognized tax benefits in the next 12 months.

We are subject to taxation in the United States, various states, and several foreign jurisdictions. All tax years remain
open and are subject to examinations by the appropriate governmental agencies in all of the jurisdictions where we file
tax returns. We are not currently under examination in any major jurisdiction.

10. Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available
that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer
who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by disaggregated information
about revenue by geographic region for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance.
Accordingly, we have a single reportable segment and operating segment structure.

The following table represents revenue by geographic areas based on customers' location, as determined by their ship
to addresses (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $85,325 $68,127 $43,389
Japan 45,787 39,581 58,653
Asia Pacific, excluding Japan 20,434 15,052 10,315
EMEA 19,254 12,087 6,469
Other 8,707 6,891 1,240
Total revenue $179,507 $141,738 $120,066

No other country outside of the United States and Japan comprised 10% or greater of our revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
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Geographical information relating to our long-lived assets which include property and equipment, net and intangible
assets, net as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 was as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2014 2013
United States $9,702 $8,599
Japan 247 572
Asia Pacific, excluding Japan 1,724 1,657
EMEA 104 34
Total property and equipment, net and intangible assets, net $11,777 $10,862

11. Related-Party Transactions
An affiliate of one of our significant stockholders is also acting as a reseller of our products. During the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, we recognized $2.8 million, $4.4 million and $5.4 million total revenue from this

reseller.

We had gross accounts receivable of $0.4 million and $0.1 million from this reseller as of December 31, 2014 and
2013.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 as of December 31, 2014. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that due to the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as described below
in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting; our disclosure controls and procedures were not
effective as of December 31, 2014 solely as a result of the computation of share based compensation associated with
our Employee Stock Purchase Plan as described below.

Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The material weakness identified in internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2014 related to the
incorrect methodology used to compute share-based compensation associated with our Employee Stock Purchase Plan
for the fourth quarter of 2014, which resulted in a material adjustment to decrease share-based compensation in our
fourth quarter ended December 31, 2014. The adjustment did not result in a restatement as the error was identified
before financial information was published.

Management's Remediation Activities

With the oversight of management and our audit committee, we intend to address the underlying causes of the
material weakness in the immediate future, primarily through the implementation of new processes and procedures
that will enhance internal controls around computation of shared based compensation related to our Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.

We plan to remediate all of the control deficiencies underlying this material weakness during 2015. As we continue to
evaluate and work to improve internal control over financial reporting, we may determine to take additional measures
to address the material weakness.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

This annual report does not include a report of management's assessment regarding internal control over financial
reporting or an attestation report of the company's registered public accounting firm due to a transition period
established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation
required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that occurred

during the quarter ended December 31, 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART III.
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers And Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be included under the captions ““‘Executive Officers,” Executive
Compensation,” “Election of Directors,” “Report of the Audit Committee” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” for the 2015 Annual Meeting in our Proxy Statement with the SEC within 120 days of the
year-end December 31, 2014 (2015 Proxy Statement) and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be set forth in our 2015 Proxy Statement under the captions “Executive
Compensation” and “Report of the Compensation Committee on Executive Compensation” and is incorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Information related to the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management will be set forth in our
2015 Proxy Statement under the caption “Security Ownership of Management and Principal Stockholders,” and is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be set forth in our 2015 Proxy Statement under the caption “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this item will be set forth in our 2015 Proxy Statement under the captions “Audit and

Related Fees” and “Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of
Independent Auditors” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV.
ITEM 15. Exhibits And Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part 11,
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
All other schedules have been omitted as they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is
otherwise included.

2. Exhibits:
The documents listed in the Exhibit Index of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are incorporated by reference or
are filed with this report, in each case as indicated therein (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation
S-K).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

A10 NETWORKS, INC.
Date: March 10, 2015
By: /s/ Lee Chen
Lee Chen

Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this annual report on Form 10-K has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Lee Chen Chlef Executive Officer, President and March 10, 2015
Director

Lee Chen (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Greg Straughn Chief Financial Officer March 10, 2015
(Principal Accounting and Financial

Greg Straughn Officer)

/s/ Robert Cochran Vice Pres@ent, Legal and Corporate March 10, 2015
Collaboration

Robert Cochran and Secretary and Director

/s/ Peter Y. Chung Director March 10, 2015

Peter Y. Chung

/s/ Alan S. Henricks Director March 10, 2015

Alan S. Henricks

/s/ Phillip J. Salsbury Director March 10, 2015

Phillip J. Salsbury
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of
3.1 . .
Incorporation of the Registrant
32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant
41 Form of common stock certificate of the
' Registrant.
Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights
49 Agreement among the Registrant and certain
’ holders of its capital stock, amended as of
October 4, 2013.
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the
10.1%* Registrant and each of its directors and executive
officers
2004 Stock Plan and forms of agreements
10.2%*
thereunder
2008 Stock Plan and forms of agreements
10.3%*
thereunder
10.4% 2014 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of
' agreements thereunder
10.5% 2014 Equity Stock Purchase Plan and forms of
' agreements thereunder
10.6* Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the
' 2008 Stock Plan
10.7% Form of Stock Option Agreement- Early Exercise
' pursuant to the 2008 Stock Plan
10.8% Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the
' 2014 Equity Incentive Plan
10.9% Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
’ pursuant to the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan
10.10% Offer Letter, dated July 30, 2004, by and between
' the Registrant and Lee Chen.
10.11% Offer Letter, dated November 3, 2008, by and
' between the Registrant and Rajkumar Jalan.
10.12% Offer Letter, dated May 31, 2011, by and between
’ the Registrant and Greg Straughn.
10.13% Offer Letter, dated January 4, 2012, by and
' between the Registrant and Robert Cochran.
10.14% Offer Letter, dated July 18, 2013, by and between
' the Registrant and Ray Smets.
10.15% Offer Letter, dated August 28, 2013, by and
' between the Registrant and Jason Matlof.
10.16 Reseller Agreement, dated April 2, 2009, by and
’ between the Registrant and NEC Corporation.
First Amendment to Reseller Agreement, dated
10.17 May 19, 2011, by and between the Registrant and
NEC Corporation.
10.18

Incorporated By Reference
Exhibit File Date

Form
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1/A

10-Q
10-Q
10-Q
S-1/A
10-Q
10-Q
10-Q
10-Q
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1/A

File No,

333-194015
333-194015
333-194015

333-194015

333-194015

001-36343
001-36343
001-36343
333-194015
001-36343
001-36343
001-36343
001-36343
333-194015
333-194015
333-194015
333-194015
333-194015
333-194015

333-194015

333-194015

333-194015

3.1
32
4.1

4.2

10.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.5

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

March 10, 2014
March 10, 2014
March 10, 2014

March 10, 2014

March 10, 2014

May 13, 2014

May 13, 2014

May 13,2014

March 10, 2014
August 4, 2014
August 4, 2014
August 4, 2014
August 4, 2014
March 10, 2014
March 10, 2014
March 10, 2014
March 10, 2014
March 10, 2014
March 10, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014
February 18, 2014
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Second Amendment to Reseller Agreement, dated

April 1, 2011, by and between the Registrant and

NEC Corporation.

Third Amendment to Reseller Agreement, dated

April 1, 2011, by and between the Registrant and  S-1/A
NEC Corporation.

Fourth Amendment to Reseller Agreement, dated
October 3, 2011, by and between the Registrant ~ S-1/A
and NEC Corporation.

Fifth Amendment to Reseller Agreement, dated

April 2, 2012, by and between the Registrant and  S-1/A
NEC Corporation.

333-194015 10.15

333-194015 10.16

333-194015 10.17

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014
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Description

Sixth Amendment to Reseller Agreement, dated
November 29, 2012, by and between the
Registrant and NEC Corporation.

Seventh Amendment to Reseller Agreement,
dated April 9, 2013, by and between the
Registrant and NEC Corporation.

Eighth Amendment to Reseller Agreement, dated
October 22, 2013, by and between the Registrant
and NEC Corporation.

Ninth Amendment to Reseller Agreement,
executed on April 22, 2014, by and between the
Registrant and NEC Corporation

Manufacturing Services Agreement, dated
December 8, 2006, by and between the Registrant
and Lanner Electronics (USA).

Amendment No. 1 to Manufacturing Services
Agreement, dated June 27, 2013, by and between
the Registrant and Lanner Electronics (USA).
Contract Manufacturer Agreement, dated July 1,
2008, by and between the Registrant and AEWIN
Technologies, Inc.

Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30,
2013, among the Registrant, Royal Bank of
Canada, as lender and administrative agent, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and Bank of
America, N.A., as lenders.

Form of Change in Control and Severance
Agreement.

Amendment No. 1 to Contract Manufacturer

Agreement, dated July 1. 2008. by and between
the Registrant and AEWIN Technologies. Inc.
List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP. independent
registered public accounting firm.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
XBRL Instance Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Linkbase Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document.

Incorporated By Reference

Form

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1/A

10-Q

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1/A

File No,

333-194015

333-194015

333-194015

001-36343

333-194015

333-194015

333-194015

333-194015

333-194015

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.1

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

Exhibit File Date

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

August 4, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

February 18, 2014

March 10, 2014

March 10, 2014
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XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document.

101.LAB

101.PRE

*Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.

The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10 K are not
deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any
**filing of A10 Networks, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10 K, irrespective of any general

incorporation language contained in such filing.
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